Resistance Marxist Library

Socialism on Trial

James P. Cannon

Resistance Books 1999 ISBN 0909196 93 1 Published by Resistance Books, <u>resistancebooks.com</u>

Contents

Introduction by Dave Holmes	5
Socialism on Trial The courtroom testimony of James P. Cannon.	13
Break with Stalinism, formation of SWP	
What socialism means	
Capitalism's internal contradictions	
The SWP's Declaration of Princples	
Conditions for a socialist revolution	
The class struggle under capitalism	
Capitalists responsible for violence	31
Attitude to the state	33
Internationalist to the very core	
The party & the trade unions	39
Imperialist war	41
War & revolution	
Party's proletarian military policy	
Attitude to the Russian Revolution	54
Violence & the Russian Revolution	
Differences between Stalin & Trotsky	60
Marxism a guide to action	63
Party's attitude to Lenin	66
SWP & Trotsky	
Party advocates workers defence guards	
Expropriation of capitalist class	
America's 'Sixty Families'	
Capitalists will restrict democratic rights	
'The same way Lincoln did'	
Workers army after revolution	
'Will not give political support to war'	
Rights of rank & file soldiers	
Legality of the Russian Revolution	102

Defence Policy in the Minneapolis Trial: A Criticism by Grandizo Munis	105
Defence Policy in the Minneapolis Trial: Political Principles & Propaganda	
	44 E
Methods by James P. Cannon	
1. Our strategy in the trial	
2. The setting of the trial	
3. Violence & the transition to socialism	
4. Is it correct to say we prefer a peaceful transition?	
5. 'Submitting to the majority' 6. Marxism & war	
6. Marxism & war 7. Marxism & sabotage	
8. Defensive formulations & the organisation of action	
Speech on the Way to Prison by James P. Cannon	159
Traditions & Guiding Ideas of the SWP	
in Defence Activities by George Novack	165
Appendix: The Capitalist Witch-Hunt — & How to Figh	nt lt
Appendix: The Capitalist Witch-Hunt — & How to Figh Resolution of the SWP NC, February 1950	
Resolution of the SWP NC, February 1950	180
Resolution of the SWP NC, February 1950 Totalitarian methods used	<mark>180</mark> 181
Resolution of the SWP NC, February 1950 Totalitarian methods used The aim — war & fascism	
Resolution of the SWP NC, February 1950 Totalitarian methods used The aim — war & fascism Role of the union bureaucracy	
Resolution of the SWP NC, February 1950 Totalitarian methods used The aim — war & fascism Role of the union bureaucracy Treachery of the Stalinist leaders	
Resolution of the SWP NC, February 1950 Totalitarian methods used The aim — war & fascism Role of the union bureaucracy Treachery of the Stalinist leaders Growing resistance to the witch-hunt	
Resolution of the SWP NC, February 1950 Totalitarian methods used The aim — war & fascism Role of the union bureaucracy Treachery of the Stalinist leaders Growing resistance to the witch-hunt 'Critical' supporters & opponents	
Resolution of the SWP NC, February 1950 Totalitarian methods used The aim — war & fascism Role of the union bureaucracy Treachery of the Stalinist leaders Growing resistance to the witch-hunt	
Resolution of the SWP NC, February 1950 Totalitarian methods used The aim — war & fascism Role of the union bureaucracy Treachery of the Stalinist leaders Growing resistance to the witch-hunt 'Critical' supporters & opponents Capitalism, Stalinism & democracy	
Resolution of the SWP NC, February 1950 Totalitarian methods used The aim — war & fascism Role of the union bureaucracy Treachery of the Stalinist leaders Growing resistance to the witch-hunt 'Critical' supporters & opponents Capitalism, Stalinism & democracy Unconditional defence of all victims SWP champions solidarity policy	
Resolution of the SWP NC, February 1950 Totalitarian methods used The aim — war & fascism Role of the union bureaucracy Treachery of the Stalinist leaders Growing resistance to the witch-hunt 'Critical' supporters & opponents Capitalism, Stalinism & democracy Unconditional defence of all victims	
Resolution of the SWP NC, February 1950 Totalitarian methods used The aim — war & fascism Role of the union bureaucracy Treachery of the Stalinist leaders Growing resistance to the witch-hunt 'Critical' supporters & opponents Capitalism, Stalinism & democracy Unconditional defence of all victims SWP champions solidarity policy No dependence on capitalist state	
Resolution of the SWP NC, February 1950 Totalitarian methods used The aim — war & fascism Role of the union bureaucracy Treachery of the Stalinist leaders Growing resistance to the witch-hunt 'Critical' supporters & opponents Capitalism, Stalinism & democracy Unconditional defence of all victims SWP champions solidarity policy No dependence on capitalist state Government shields fascist elements	
Resolution of the SWP NC, February 1950 Totalitarian methods used The aim — war & fascism Role of the union bureaucracy Treachery of the Stalinist leaders Growing resistance to the witch-hunt 'Critical' supporters & opponents Capitalism, Stalinism & democracy Unconditional defence of all victims SWP champions solidarity policy No dependence on capitalist state Government shields fascist elements How to fight fascism	

Introduction

By Dave Holmes

Almost 60 years ago in the United States, in 1941, there took place in Minneapolis, in the mid-western state of Minnesota, the most famous political trial of the wartime period. Twenty-eight socialist and union activists were charged with plotting the violent overthrow of the US government.

Most of those indicted were members of the US Trotskyist organisation, the Socialist Workers Party, including its national secretary, James P. Cannon. The party had a long history of militant and effective work in the Minneapolis labor movement. It used its positions there to conduct a forceful campaign against the war drive of US imperialism. Through the trial, the government aimed to silence the most radical and determined antiwar voice.

The Minneapolis "sedition" trial and the SWP's heroic struggle against it contain some enduring lessons for socialists, which speak to us across the decades. This book brings together a number of materials relating to this episode and the general question of defending civil liberties against government and rightist attacks.

"Socialism on Trial", Cannon's verbatim courtroom testimony, is a clear and inspiring exposition of the Marxist view of capitalism, war and revolution — all the more remarkable for the circumstances in which it was given. "Defence Policy in the Minneapolis Trial" contains Cannon's subsequent defence of the party's line during the trial against the ultraleft criticisms of exiled Spanish Trotskyist Grandizo Munis. It is a masterful explanation of how socialists struggle to win mass support for radical social change. The third contemporary document here is Cannon's powerful 1943 farewell "Speech on the Way to Prison".

George Novack's 1968 article explains the key principles followed by the SWP in defending its rights against capitalist attacks. Novack, a longtime SWP leader with an extensive involvement in defence work, recounts how the party built a broad and effective campaign against the Minneapolis frame-up trial. He also discusses the cold

Dave Holmes is a member of the Socialist Alliance.

war McCarthyite witch-hunt of the later forties and fifties and the SWP's fight against it. A 1950 party resolution appended here amplifies these points.

Today, the capitalist class is relentlessly pushing forward with an ever-harsher austerity drive. All along the line, the gains won by working people in over a century of struggle are under attack. Whatever the conjunctural situation, this is not a period of broad expansion of civil liberties and workers' rights; on the contrary, we can expect them to come under increasing pressure. In such a context, this volume contains invaluable lessons for socialists and all those fighting for a better world.

Against imperialist war

The war question was at the heart of the government's attack on the SWP.

While the Allied involvement in World War II has always been presented in propaganda and popular culture as a struggle for democracy against fascism, the truth is radically different.

In the modern era, militarism and war is an outgrowth of imperialist capitalism. The imperialist powers and the giant corporations whose interests they defend struggle for control of markets and sources of raw materials and spheres of domination and influence.

Thus World War I was essentially a contest between dynamic but late-developing German imperialism, which had largely been left behind in the scramble for colonies, and the old imperialist powers, Britain and France, with their vast empires of colonial slaves. The US entered the conflict late in the day, as the main antagonists were severely weakened, and established its preeminent position in world economics and politics.

But the "war to end all wars" could do no such thing. The underlying causes of the conflict remained. US imperialism was driving, then as now, for world domination (what would later be called by its ideologists the "American century"). This drive ran up against the similar ambitions of German imperialism (Hitler's "thousand-year Reich"). In the Far East, US and Japanese interests collided. A second global conflict was inevitable.

The SWP opposed the war drive being conducted by US imperialism under the leadership of Franklin D. Roosevelt, Democratic president since 1933. The party explained that the coming war had nothing to do with democracy but everything to do with increasing the wealth and power of the "Sixty Families" — the Duponts, Morgans, Rockefellers and so on — who controlled the country. It would be marked by attacks on wages and working conditions and trade union and democratic rights. The labor movement should not fall in behind the patriotic bandwagon but should defend itself

Introduction

as energetically as possible.

Of course, along with the clash of rival imperialist blocs, what has become known as World War II contained other wars and the SWP's attitude to these was different.

In 1937, semicolonial China was attacked by Japanese imperialism. China's struggle against foreign enslavement was a just and progressive one and the SWP fully supported it. The party also gave unqualified support to the liberation struggles of other colonial peoples, whether against Japanese occupying forces or against their European colonial masters.

Nazi ideology had always argued that Germany should seek an empire to the east, principally by attacking the Soviet Union. The onslaught came on June 22, 1941. The involvement of the USSR and the heroic resistance of the Soviet people introduced a new element into the global picture. Despite its irreconcilable opposition to Stalinism, the SWP had always made it clear that it would unconditionally support the USSR in a conflict with imperialism and it never wavered from this stand. In fact, in 1939-40, a struggle in the SWP to defend this position resulted in a deep split with some 40 per cent of the membership following Max Schachtman and James Burnham out of the party.

A major question facing the SWP in relation to the coming war was what attitude it should take toward conscription. In a situation where most workers accepted the government's propaganda about a war for democracy against Hitler, conscription was widely accepted and the party rejected pacifist and ultraleft calls for young men to refuse to be drafted. Such individual moral stands were futile and would simply cut the party off from any chance of influencing the millions of workers in uniform. The party sought to wage the fight, not around the issue of the draft, but around democratic rights inside the army — the right of the soldiers to have an opinion about the war and be able to discuss it, the right to elect their officers and so on.

Struggle in Minneapolis

The SWP was a small force in the labor and radical movement but it was very well led and had some impressive accomplishments to its credit. Certainly, the ruling class and its government in Washington were far from ignoring it.

With scores of thousands of members and supporters, the Stalinist Communist Party was much bigger. During the period of the Stalin-Hitler pact — from September 1939 to the June 1941 attack on the USSR — the CP was antiwar but with the Nazi invasion it swung 100 per cent behind Roosevelt's war drive.

That left the SWP as the most intransigent antiwar force. An important part of the government's war preparations was to intimidate and cripple any serious opposition

at home.

In the course of the 1930s, the party had built up strong positions in the labor movement in Minneapolis. Its influence was centred in the Teamsters union which organised workers in the trucking industry.

Two great strikes in 1934 first established the SWP as a force in the local union movement and gave it national prominence and recognition. The story of these great class battles and the subsequent struggle to defend and extend the gains made is chronicled and analysed in Farrell Dobbs' excellent four books — *Teamster Rebellion*, *Teamster Power, Teamster Politics* and *Teamster Bureaucracy* (Monad Press: New York, 1972, 1973, 1975 and 1977). James P. Cannon's *History of American Trotskyism* (Pathfinder Press: New York, 1972) also has a fine account of the great strikes and the party's role in them.

As the capitalist war drive intensified in the later 1930s, the party stepped up its antiwar efforts, especially through its editorship of the weekly newspaper of the Minneapolis Teamsters, the *Northwest Organizer*.

The Minneapolis Teamsters Local 544 belonged to the International Brotherhood of Teamsters headed by Daniel J. Tobin, a notorious case-hardened bureaucrat who was also head of the Democratic Party Labor Committee. In turn, the IBT belonged to the conservative American Federation of Labor. This began as an organisation of craft unions but under the pressure of the 1930s crisis it also incorporated some industrial formations like Local 544. The AFL was also under some pressure from the rising Committee of Industrial Organizations, a much more dynamic, progressive, industrially-based body.

Ever since it came under the leadership of SWP cadres, Local 544 had had a conflictridden relationship with IBT boss Tobin. In 1941, for his own reasons and as a service to Roosevelt, Tobin sought to eliminate the militant, antiwar leadership of the Minneapolis Teamsters. On June 9, just as Tobin was moving to place the local under receivership, it voted to leave the IBT and the AFL and affiliate to the CIO. In turn, this precipitated a full-scale government witch-hunt against the union and the SWP as Roosevelt rushed to help Tobin and at the same time crush a militant antiwar voice.

Government frame-up

On June 27 — five days after Hitler invaded the USSR — FBI agents raided the offices of the SWP in Minneapolis and the twin-city of St. Paul, carting off large quantities of (perfectly legal) socialist literature.

On July 15, a Federal grand jury indicted 29 union and SWP members. There were two counts to the indictment. The first, based on the 1861 Sedition Act, a Civil War

Introduction

measure aimed against the Southern slaveholders and their agents — and never before used! — charged that the defendants conspired "to overthrow, put down and to destroy by force the Government of the United States of America, and to oppose by force the authority thereof ... The defendants would seek to bring about, whenever the time seemed propitious, an armed revolution ..."

The second count, based on the 1940 Smith Act, a reactionary and controversial law which criminalised the mere espousal of ideas, charged the defendants with advocating the overthrow of the government by force and violence and urging insubordination in the armed forces.

The trial began in the Federal District Court in Minneapolis on October 27, 1941. The state side was unable to produce any proof of conspiracy, its "evidence" consisting mainly of public statements by the party and its leaders.

Although the government gained the result it sought, it was a somewhat dubious victory. After 56 hours of deliberation, the jury found the 23 defendants then remaining not guilty on the first count and five were found not guilty on the second count also. It found 18 defendants guilty on the second but added a recommendation for leniency. They were sentenced on December 8, 1941 — the day the US declared war on Japan. Twelve of the defendants received 16-month sentences and the rest 12-month terms.

The 18 convicted Trotskyists included Cannon, the SWP's national secretary; Farrell Dobbs; Albert Goldman, the party's lawyer who conducted the courtroom defence in Minneapolis; and one woman, Grace Carlson.

The 18 remained free on bail for another year while various appeals were made. They began their sentences on December 31, 1943. While 14 of the men served their time as a group in the federal penitentiary at Sandstone in Minnesota, Grace Carlson was isolated in the federal women's prison in Alderson in West Virginia; another group of three was confined in Danbury in Connecticut. The last prisoners were released in February 1945.

Political defence

As is clear from the record of Cannon's courtroom cross-examination by both Goldman and the government prosecutors, the party's defence against the charges was guided above all by its political objectives, to which purely legal considerations took second place. The party sought to use the trial as a platform to get a sympathetic hearing for its ideas from broader circles of workers and the radical public. Cannon's testimony and Goldman's concluding address, for instance, were issued as pamphlets and widely circulated and the SWP's weekly newspaper, *The Militant*, extensively reported the government attack and the party's real record as a vanguard fighter for the rights of

working people.

The SWP's trial strategy and conduct were criticised by Grandizo Munis. Cannon's exhaustive rebuttal, "Political Principles and Propaganda Methods" (also published as *What Policy for Revolutionists — Marxism or Ultraleftism*) is a classic of Marxism, in the same spirit as Lenin's '*Left-Wing' Communism — An Infantile Disorder*. Cannon explains the concrete political setting of the trial — above all, the state of working class consciousness in the US on the eve of the war — and the party's objectives flowing from that, the Marxist view of violence and sabotage in the class struggle, how the party strives to win majority support for the program of socialism and the crucial role of defensive formulations in winning that support.

As George Novack outlines in the 1968 talk included in this volume, the SWP went all out to defend itself, especially through the broad Civil Rights Defence Committee. From the time of the original grand jury indictments in mid-1941 until the last prisoner was released in early 1945, party activity revolved around defence work. The CRDC won wide support in the labor and radical movement, with many labor unions and officials expressing their opposition to the conviction of the 18 Trotskyists.

Despite this growing support, a widespread recognition of the significance of the case and extensive disquiet about the constitutionality of the Smith Act, the Supreme Court three times refused to review the conviction of the 18. In his farewell speech, included in this volume, Cannon powerfully denounces capitalist justice and lashes the hypocrisy of the Supreme Court judges and their subservience to the ruling class.

The Stalinist Communist Party applauded the government assault on the Trotskyists. With their fanatically pro-war, pro-Roosevelt position, the Stalinists were blind to any considerations of working-class solidarity, let alone any thought that one day they might be the object of capitalist persecution.

Of course, the alliance of the capitalist West and the USSR hardly survived the end of the war. The Cold War against the Soviet Union was launched in earnest in 1947 and in the US a deep and pervasive witch-hunt was instituted. It fell especially heavily on the Stalinists — but it was far from being restricted to them. As scores of its leaders were indicted and jailed, the CP was virtually friendless, due in no small measure to its shameful conduct during the war.

* * *

A full account of the witch-hunt against Local 544 and the SWP and the Minneapolis "sedition trial" and its aftermath can be found in *Teamster Bureaucracy*, the fourth volume of Farrell Dobbs' quartet. The selection of Cannon's wartime writings, *The*

Introduction

Socialist Workers Party in World War II (Pathfinder Press: New York, 1975), includes material dealing with the Minneapolis struggle as well as the party's efforts to defend itself against government harassment on other fronts. And, finally, there is Cannon's extremely instructive and inspiring Letters From Prison (Pathfinder Press: New York, 1994), proof that he did not waste his period of incarceration.

Those wanting an overview of Cannon's life and work, as well as an analysis of the more recent evolution of the SWP, can consult Dave Holmes et al, *Building the Revolutionary Party: An Introduction to James P. Cannon* (Resistance Books: Chippendale, 1997).

* * *

Minor stylistic and spelling changes have been made to the texts for ease of reading. Similarly, the subheads in Cannon's courtroom testimony have been inserted by the editors. All quotations have been checked and the sources indicated in the endnotes.



James P. Cannon and Farrell Dobbs (1941)

The courtroom testimony of James. Cannon

District Court of the United States District of Minnesota, Fourth Division Tuesday, November 18, 1941 Afternoon Session

James P. Cannon

was called as a witness on behalf of the defendants, having been first duly sworn, testified as follows:

DIRECT EXAMINATION

By Mr. Goldman:

- Q: Will you please state your name for the reporter?
- A: James P. Cannon.
- Q: Where do you live, Mr. Cannon?

A: New York.

- Q: And your present occupation?
- A: National secretary of the Socialist Workers Party.
- Q: How old are you, Mr. Cannon?
- A: Fifty-one.
- **Q:** Where were you born?
- A: Rosedale, Kansas.
- **Q:** How long a period is it since you began your career in the Marxist movement, Mr. Cannon?
- A: Thirty years.
- Q: What organisation did you first join that was part of the working-class movement?
- A: The IWW, Industrial Workers of the World.
- Q: And did you join any other organisation subsequent to that one?
- A: The Socialist Party.
- Q: And after that?

- **A:** In 1919, at the foundation of the Communist Party, I was one of the original members, and a member of the National Committee since 1920.
- Q: How long a period did you remain in the Communist Party?
- A: Until October 1928.
- **Q:** Now, will you tell the court and jury the extent of your knowledge of Marxian theory?
- **A:** I am familiar with the most important writings of the Marxist teachers Marx, Engels, Lenin, Trotsky, and the commentators on their works.
- Q: Have you ever read any books against the Marxian theory?
- **A:** Yes. In general I am familiar with the literature against Marxism, particularly the most important book.
- Q: Which one is the most important book?
- A: Hitler's Mein Kampf.
- Q: Have you ever edited any labor papers, Mr. Cannon?
- **A:** Yes, a number of them. In fact, I have been more or less a working journalist in the movement for about twenty-five years.
- Q: Do you recollect the names of any of the papers that you edited?
- A: The *Workers' World* in Kansas City. The *Toiler*, published in Cleveland, Ohio. I was at one time editor of the *Militant*. I was editor of the paper called *Labor Action* published in San Francisco, and I have been on the editorial board of numerous other papers and magazines published In the movement.
- **Q:** Have you ever delivered lectures on the theory of socialism and other aspects of the Marxist movement?
- A: Yes, I have done that continuously for about thirty years.

Break with Stalinism, formation of SWP

- **Q:** Tell us the reasons why you severed your connection with the Communist Party, Mr. Cannon.
- A: Well, at the time of the controversy that developed in the Russian party between Trotsky on the one side, and Stalin and his group on the other, a controversy that touched many of the most fundamental principles of socialism, this controversy gradually became extended in the Communist International, and became the subject of concern in the other parties of the Communist International. I and some others here took a position in support of Trotsky and that led to our expulsion from the Communist Party of the United States.
- Q: Can you give us in brief an idea of the nature of the controversy?
- A: It began over the question of bureaucracy in the governmental apparatus of the

14

Soviet Union and in the staffs of the party in Russia. Trotsky began a struggle for more democracy in the party, in the government and unions, and the country generally. This struggle against what Trotsky — and I agree with him — characterised as an increasing bureaucratisation of the whole regime, this controversy originating over this point, gradually developed in the course of years into fundamental conflicts over virtually all the basic principles of socialist theory and practice.

- Q: And as a result of this controversy, the expulsion took place?
- **A:** As a result of that, the expulsion of our group took place here in the United States, as was the case also in Russia.
- Q: In what year was that?
- A: 1928.
- Q: Tell us what happened to the group that was expelled.
- A: We organised ourselves as a group and began to publish a paper called *The Militant*.
- Q: And give us some idea of the size of that group, Mr. Cannon.
- A: Well, there were only three of us to start with. Eventually we got supporters in other cities. Six months later, when we had our first conference, we had about one hundred members in the country.
- Q: And subsequent to that was there any party organised by this group?
- A: Yes, this group called itself originally the Communist League of America, and considered itself still a faction of the Communist Party, attempting to get reinstated into the party, with the provision that we would have a right to hold our views and discuss them in the party. This proposal of ours was rejected by the party, so we developed as an independent organisation.

In 1934 we came to an agreement with another organisation, which had never been connected with the Communist movement which had grown out of the trade unions. This organisation, originally known as the Conference for Progressive Labor Action, took the name of the American Workers Party. In 1934, in the fall of that year, we had a joint convention with them and formed a common organisation which we called the Workers Party of the United States.

- Q: And how long did this Workers Party exist?
- A: From the fall of 1934 until the spring of 1936.
- **Q:** And what happened then?
- A: At that time our party joined the Socialist Party as a body. The Socialist Party had had an internal discussion and controversy, which culminated in the last month of 1935 in a split; in the withdrawal of the more conservative elements. The Socialist Party had then issued an invitation for unaffiliated radical individuals and groups to join the Socialist Party.

- We accepted the invitation and joined the party in 1936, again with the express provision which we had originally contended for in the Communist Party, that we should have the right to maintain our particular views and to discuss them in the party that is, when discussion was in order, and we on our part obligated ourselves to observe discipline in the daily work and common action of the party.
- Q: How long did your group remain in the Socialist Party?
- A: Just about a year.
- **Q:** And what happened then?
- A: Well, the Socialist Party began to impose upon us the same kind of bureaucratism that we had suffered from in the Communist Party. There were great questions disturbing the minds of socialists in that period, particularly the problems of the Spanish Civil War.
- Q: And that was in what year?
- A: That was in the year 1936, but it became very acute in the spring of 1937. We had a definite position on the Spanish question. We studied it attentively and we wanted to make our views known to the other party members.
- This was permitted for some time, and then the National Executive Committee issued an order prohibiting any further discussion, prohibiting even the adoption of resolutions by branches on the subject, and we revolted against that provision and insisted on our rights.

At the same time, a big dispute arose in New York over the election campaign — this was the second campaign of La Guardia, and the Socialist Party officially decided to support the candidacy of La Guardia. We opposed it on the ground that it was a violation of socialist principles to support the candidate of a capitalist party. La Guardia was a candidate of the Republican and Fusion parties, as well as of the Labor Party.

We also insisted on making our views on this question known and this led to the wholesale expulsion of our people.

- Q: When was the Socialist Workers Party organised?
- A: The last days of December 1937 and the first day or two of January 1938.
- Q: Who participated in its organisation?
- A: The branches of the Socialist Party which had been expelled these were banded together under a committee of the expelled branches and this committee was instructed by a conference to arrange a convention, prepare it, and the expelled branches of the Socialist Party sent delegates to the foundation convention of the Socialist Workers Party.
- Q: Did this committee of the expelled branches publish any paper?

- A: Yes, it published a paper following the expulsions, which began in May or June 1937. We published the *Socialist Appeal*, and that became the official organ of the party after the convention. Later, about a year ago, we changed the name back to our original name, *The Militant*.
- **Q:** To the best of your recollection, how many delegates were present at the founding convention of the Socialist Workers Party?
- A: I think about a hundred.
- **Q:** And they came from all over the country, did they?
- A: Yes, from about thirty cities, I think twenty-five or thirty cities.
- **Q:** Now, what did that convention do?
- **A:** The most important decisions of the convention were to set up its organisation, adopt a Declaration of Principles, and some collateral resolutions on current questions, and elect a National Committee to direct the work of the party on the basis of the Declaration of Principles.¹
- **Q:** Did it elect some committee to take charge of the party during the interval between conventions?
- A: Yes, that is the National Committee.
- **Q:** Now, you say that it adopted a Declaration of Principles. I show you Prosecution's Exhibit 1, being the Declaration of Principles and Constitution of the Socialist Workers Party, and I ask you whether that is the same that was adopted at the Socialist Workers Party convention?

(Document handed to witness.)

- A: Yes, that is it.
- Q: Who presented the Declaration of Principles to the convention, do you remember?
- **A:** Yes, it was presented by the Committee, the National Committee of the expelled branches, which had been selected at a previous conference of the group.
- **Q:** What did the convention, the founding convention of the Socialist Workers Party, adopt as the fundamental aim of the party?

Mr. Schweinhaut (Prosecutor): When?

- **Q** (By Mr. Goldman): At that time, and subsequent to that time, up until the present, when you are sitting in the stand here.
- **A:** I would say that the fundamental aim of the party then and now is to popularise the doctrines of Marxian socialism and to aid and lead in the work of transforming society from a capitalist to a communist basis.
- Q: Give us the meaning of the term socialism.
- A: Socialism can have two meanings, and usually does among us. That is, socialism is a name applied to a projected new form of society, and it is a name also applied to

the movement working in that direction.

- **Q:** What is the nature of that projected society?
- A: We visualise a social order that would be based on the common ownership of the means of production, the elimination of private profit in the means of production, the abolition of the wage system, the abolition of the division of society into classes.
- **Q:** With reference to any government for the purpose of instituting such a society, what would you say is the purpose of the Socialist Workers Party?
- A: We have set as our aim the establishment of a workers' and farmers' government, in place of the existing government which we term a capitalist government. The task of this government would be to arrange and control the transition of society from the basis of capitalism to the basis of socialism.
- Q: When you say "capitalist government" what do you mean?
- A: We mean a government that arises from a society that is based on the private ownership of the wealth of the country and the means of production by the capitalists, and which in general represents the interests of that class.
- **Q:** And in contradistinction to this government you propose to establish a workers' and farmers' government?
- A: Yes, we propose in place of the capitalists' a workers' and farmers' government, which will frankly represent the economic and social interests of the workers and the producing farmers.

What socialism means

- Q: Well, what would happen to the capitalists?
- A: Under the workers' and farmers' government, the main task of the government will be to carry out the transfer of the most important means of production from private ownership to the common ownership of the people.
- Q: Well, what would happen to the individual capitalists who would lose their wealth?
- A: What do you mean, "happen to them", in what way?
- Q: Would you kill them or put them to work or what?
- A: Well, under our theory, citizenship participation in the benefits of society would be open to everybody on a basis of equality. This would apply to former capitalists as well as to workers and farmers.
- **Q:** When you use the term "productive wealth", do you mean any property that an individual owns?
- A: No when we speak of the means of production, the wealth of the country, we mean that wealth which is necessary for the production of the necessities of the people. The industries, the railroads, mines, and so on. We don't propose at

18

least, Marxist socialists have never proposed anywhere that I know — the elimination of private property in personal effects. We speak of those things which are necessary for the production of the people's needs.

They shall be owned in common by all the people.

- **Q:** What would happen to small businesses, the owners of which do not have labor to hire?
- A: Well, the best Marxist authority since Engels is that small proprietors, who are not exploiters, should be in no way interfered with by the workers' and farmers' government. They should be allowed to have their farms, their small possessions, their small handicraft shops, and only insofar as they become convinced, by the example of socialised collective farming and voluntarily would agree to pool their land and their resources in a collective effort, only to that extent can collectivisation of small farming enterprises take place.

In the meantime, it is a part of our program that the workers' and farmers' government should assist such enterprise by assuring them reasonable prices for their implements, for fertilisers, arrange credits for them, and in general conduct the government as a government which is concerned for them and wants to represent their interests.

I am speaking now of small producing farmers, not of big landowners and bankers, who exploit a lot of people, or who rent land out to sharecroppers. We certainly intend to socialise *their* land in the very first stages of the workers' and farmers' government, turn it over to the administration of the people who actually till the soil. That also, I may say, is the standard Marxist doctrine since the earliest days, and the doctrine of Lenin and Trotsky in the Russian Revolution.

- Q: How will this socialist society be controlled and directed?
- A: Well, socialism naturally would have to grow out of the new situation. After the social revolution has been effected in the political arena, and the capitalist government has been replaced by a workers' and farmers' government, which proceeds to the socialisation of the industries, the abolition of inequalities, the raising of the level of the income of the masses of the people, and the suppression of any attempts at counterrevolution by the dispossessed exploiters, the importance and weight of the government as a repressive force would gradually diminish.

Then as classes are abolished, as exploitation is eliminated, as the conflict of class against class is eliminated, the very reason for the existence of a government in the strict sense of the term begins to diminish. Governments are primarily instruments of repression of one class against another. According to the doctrine of Marx and Engels and all of the great Marxists who followed them, and based

themselves on their doctrine, we visualise, as Engels expressed it, a gradual withering away of the government as a repressive force, as an armed force, and its replacement by purely administrative councils, whose duties will be to plan production, to supervise public works, and education, and things of this sort. As you merge into socialist society, the government, as Engels expressed it, tends to wither away and the government of men will be replaced by the administration of things.

The government of a socialist society in reality will be an administrative body, because we don't anticipate the need for armies and navies, jails, repressions, and consequently that aspect of government dies out for want of function.

Capitalism's internal contradictions

Q: What is the Marxian theory as to the social forces making socialism inevitable?

- A: Capitalism is a state of society that did not always exist. Like preceding social systems, it went through a period of gestation in the womb of the old feudal society. It grew and developed as against feudal society, eventually overthrew it by revolutionary means, raised the productivity of mankind to undreamed of heights
- **Mr. Schweinhaut:** Well, now, just a moment Mr. Cannon. It seems to me this question could be answered much more simply than this. I suspect the gentleman is going to make a speech now, and I don't see that the question calls for it at all.
- Q (By Mr. Goldman): Well, as briefly as you can, describe the social forces —
- **A:** I did not want to make a speech. I wanted to say in a few words what are the social forces that are pushing capitalism to bankruptcy. The laws by which —
- **Mr. Schweinhaut:** That was not the question that was asked you, Mr. Witness. You were asked what were the social forces that would make socialism inevitable, or some such thing. Well, I give up. Go ahead.
- **The Witness:** I assure you that I am anxious to compress the explanation as much as possible.

Capitalism operates by certain internal laws which were analysed and laid bare for the first time by Karl Marx in his great works, first in the *Communist Manifesto* and then in *Capital*.

Now, the two internal laws of capitalism which are making inevitable its decline and its replacement by socialism are these:

One, the private ownership of the means of production and the employment of wage labor at wages less than the value of the product produced by the wage laborer. This creates a surplus which the capitalist proprietor has to sell in the market. It is obvious that the wage worker, who receives for his labor less than the

total value of his product, can be a customer only for that amount of the value that he receives in the form of wages. The balance is surplus value, as Marx explained it, for which the capitalist must find a market.

The more capitalism expands within a given country, the more productive becomes the labor of the worker, the greater is this surplus, which cannot find a market because the great mass of the people who produce the wealth do not receive enough wages to buy it. And that leads capitalism into periodic crises of what they call overproduction, or as some popular agitators call it underconsumption, but the scientific term is overproduction.

Capitalism from its very inception, for more than a hundred years, pretty nearly two hundred years, has gone through such crises. Now, in the past, capitalism could solve these crises eventually by finding new markets, new fields of investment, new fields of exploitation, and as long as capitalism could find new areas for the investment of capital and the sale of goods, the capitalist system could extricate itself from this cyclical crisis which occurred about every ten years, and go on to new heights of production. But every time capitalism experienced a new boom, and began to develop some new territory, it narrowed down the world. Because every place that capitalism penetrated, its laws followed it like a shadow, and the new field of exploitation began to become also surfeited with a surplus.

For example, the United States, which was a great reservoir for the assimilation of surplus products of Europe and gave European capitalism a breathing spell, has itself developed in the course of one hundred and fifty years to the point where it produces an enormous surplus and has to fight Europe for a market in which to sell it. So this tremendous contradiction between the private ownership of industry and wage labor presents capitalism more and more with an insoluble crisis. This is one law of capitalism.

The second law is the conflict between the development of the productive forces and the national barriers in which they are confined under capitalism. Every country operating on a capitalist basis produces a surplus which it is unable to sell in its domestic market for the reasons I have given you before.

What, then, is the next step? The capitalists must find a foreign market They must find a foreign market in which to sell their surplus and a foreign field in which to invest their surplus capital. The difficulty confronting capitalism is that the world doesn't get any bigger. It retained the same size, while every modern capitalist nation was developing its productive forces far beyond its own domestic capacity to consume. Or to sell at a profit. This led to the tremendous explosion of the World War in 1914. The World War of 1914 was, in our theory and our doctrine,

the signal that the capitalist world had come to a bankrupt crisis.

- **Q:** What would you say about the law of competition working within the capitalist system?
- A: The law of competition between capitalists results inevitably in the bigger capitalists, the ones with the more modern, more efficient, and productive enterprises, crushing out the small ones, either by destroying them or absorbing them until the number of independent proprietors grows continually less and the number of pauperised people increases by leaps and bounds, until the wealth becomes concentrated in the hands of a very few people, and the great mass of the people, especially of the workers, are confronted with ever-increasing difficulties of an economic and social nature.

I mentioned the World War of 1914 as the signal that capitalism on the world scale wasn't able to solve any of its problems peacefully before. They had to kill eleven million men, and then make a peace and prepare to do it all over again the second time. That, in the view of the Marxian socialists, is the sign that capitalism has outlived its possibility to solve its own problems.

- **Q:** What would you say, then, with reference to the relative importance of the economic factor moving toward socialism, and the agitation for socialism of the various parties, including the Socialist Workers Party?
- A: Well, now, if I could just explain here, Marxian socialism is distinct from what is known in our terminology as utopian socialism that is, the socialism of people who visualise a better form of society, and think that it is only necessary to see that a better society could exist, and to persuade the people to adopt it and solve the problem. Marxian socialism proceeds from the theory that the very internal laws by which capitalism operates drive society to a socialist solution.

I mentioned the war — I mentioned the conflict between the various capitalist nations which are always now in either a state of war, or of an armed truce preparing for war. I should mention also the experience of the 1929 depression, as it is called, with its fifteen million able-bodied American workers who were willing to work unable to find employment. That was another sign of a terrible unhealthiness in the social organism called capitalism; and the unemployment scourge operated on a world scale.

Now, these are the forces that are driving society to a rational solution, in our opinion, by the nationalisation of industry, the elimination of competition, and the abolition of private ownership. Our agitation could never effect the transformation of one social order to another unless these powerful internal economic laws were pushing it.

22

The real revolutionary factors, the real powers that are driving for socialism, are the contradictions within the capitalist system itself. All that our agitation can do is to try to foresee theoretically what is possible and what is probable in the line of social revolution, to prepare people's minds for it, to convince them of the desirability of it, to try to organise them to accelerate it and to bring it about in the most economical and effective way. That is all agitation can do.

- **Q:** What role does the factor of fascism play?
- A: Fascism is another sign that unfailingly appears in every capitalist society when it reaches that period of decay and crisis and isn't any longer able to keep an equilibrium of society on the basis of democratic parliamentarism, which has been the governmental form of rule of capitalism in its heyday. Fascism grows, becomes a terrible menace to mankind, and a terrible warning to the workers that if they don't bestir themselves and take things in their own hands, they will suffer the fate for years that has befallen the people of Germany and Italy and other countries now in Europe.

The SWP's Declaration of Princples

- Q: Now, what was the purpose for the adoption of the Declaration of Principles?
- A: The general purpose was to put down in written form a clear statement of our principles, to inform the world what our party stood for, and to guide the party in its actions following the convention, to lay down a body of doctrines and ideas which could govern the work of the party and guide its National Committee, in editing its paper, and so forth.
- **Q:** Were there any secret agreements entered into by this committee that formulated the Declaration of Principles, agreements which were not revealed to the convention or to anybody else?
- **A:** No, everything we stand for we put in the Declaration of Principles. We couldn't do it otherwise.

It is impossible to build a political movement on the basis of one program, and expect that it will serve another program. That, I could tell you, is a political law that is known to every serious politician; a political party or a political man is bound by his own slogans. If a party puts forward a slogan or a program —

Mr. Schweinhaut: Well, now please, Mr. Cannon. You have answered -

The Court: Don't you think this is argumentative?

Mr. Goldman: All right!

- Q: Now, how long was the Declaration of Principles in effect?
- A: From the first week in January 1938, until the last month in 1940.

- Q: And what happened in December 1940?
- **A:** A specially called convention of the party adopted a resolution to suspend the Declaration of Principles and to instruct the National Committee to prepare a new draft for the consideration of the party at a subsequent convention or conference.
- **Q:** What were the reasons for this action of the convention?
- A: The principal reason, I may say, was the passage by Congress of a law known as the Voorhis Act which penalised parties belonging to international organisations. That was the principal reason.

Subsidiary reasons were that in the meantime the party had changed its position on the question of the labor party. Some questions had become outdated by the passage of events, and in general we felt the necessity of a new draft.

- Q: Can you tell us in brief the nature of the change on the labor party?
- A: It was a change in the opposite direction. At the time of the adoption of the Declaration, we refused to support these proposals for the organisation of a labor party that is, a party based on the trade unions. By the summer of 1938, we changed our mind about that and came to the conclusion that this movement would have more progressive potentialities than otherwise.
- Q: And tell us what the method used was in adopting that change.
- A: The National Committee adopted a resolution setting forth its changed position. This resolution then was sent to the party members in the internal bulletin, and a discussion period, I think of sixty days, was opened up in which anybody could express his opinion for or against the change. It was discussed very thoroughly in the party. In fact, not all members of the National Committee agreed with the change. At the end of the discussion period a referendum vote was taken of the membership, and a majority voted in favor of the amended resolution.
- **Q:** What, if anything, was done subsequent to the suspension of this Declaration of Principles with reference to the adoption of a new set of principles?
- A: We appointed a committee to make a new draft of a Declaration.
- **Q:** And was that draft made?
- A: The draft was made. We held a conference in Chicago just on the eve of this trial — I think October 10, 11 and 12 — we held a conference of the party in connection with a meeting of the National Committee, where the new draft was submitted and accepted by the conference, for submission to the party for discussion and possible amendment.
- Q (By Mr. Goldman): Does the Declaration of Principles that was originally adopted, and subsequently suspended, teach the necessity of social revolution, Mr. Cannon?
- A: Yes.

24

- Q: What is meant by "social revolution"?
- **A:** By social revolution is meant a transformation, a political and economic transformation of society.
- Q: And the nature of the transformation is what?
- A: Is fundamental and affects the property system, affects the method of production.
- Q: Is there a distinction between political and social revolution?

A: Yes.

- **Q:** What is the distinction?
- A: Well, a *political* revolution can occur without any radical transformation of the underlying economic structure of society, the property basis of society.

A *social* revolution, on the other hand, affects not only the government, but affects the economic system.

- Q: Can you give us any examples of both the social and political revolutions?
- A: Yes. The great French Revolution of 1789 —
- Mr. Schweinhaut: Was that a political or social revolution?
- **The Witness:** That was a social revolution, because it transformed the property basis of society from feudal property to capitalist property.
- Q (By Mr. Goldman): What do you mean by "feudal property"?
- A: That was the whole economic system of society that was based on rights and privileges and restrictions, and serfdom, and so forth. Capitalist private property, which transformed the farms into privately owned enterprises of individual farmers, eliminated entirely all vestiges of serfdom and substituted wage labor, made a fundamental change in the economy of France.
- Q: And can you give us an example of a political revolution?
- A: Two of them occurred in France subsequent to the great social revolution, they occurred in 1830 and 1848 that is, revolutions which were designed merely to change the ruling bureaucracy of the country and without touching the property system.

A revolution such as occurred in Panama the other day, a simple replacement of one regime by another in a palace coup d'état, that is a political revolution that doesn't affect the economic character of society at all.

We consider the American Civil War was a social revolution because it destroyed the system of slave labor and property in slaves, and replaced it by the complete domination of capitalist enterprise and wage labor.

Conditions for a socialist revolution

Q: Enumerate the conditions under which, according to Marxist theory, the social

revolution against capitalism will occur.

A: I can give you quite a number.

The first one is that the existing society must have exhausted its possibilities of further development. Marx laid down as a law that no social system can be replaced by another until it has exhausted all its possibilities for development and advancement. That is, you may say, the fundamental prerequisite for a social revolution.

Then I can give a number of collateral prerequisites which have been accepted by our movement.

The ruling class must be unable any longer to solve its problems, must have to a large degree lost confidence in itself.

The misery and desperation of the masses must have increased to the point where they desire at all costs a radical change. Unemployment, fascism and war become problems of increasing magnitude which are patently insoluble by the existing ruling class. There must be a tremendous sentiment among the masses of the producers for socialist ideas and for a socialist revolution.

And, in addition to these prerequisites I have mentioned, it is necessary to have a workers' party that is capable of leading and organising the movement of the workers in a resolute fashion for a revolutionary solution of the crisis.

- **Q:** Now, what would you say as to the actual existence at the present time of the factor of the decline of capitalism and the fact that it has exhausted the possibilities of further growth at the present moment, as far as the United States is concerned?
- A: Taken on a world scale, capitalism had exhausted its possibilities of further development by 1914. On a world scale, capitalism has never since that time attained the level of productivity of 1914. On the other hand, America, which is the strongest section of world capitalism, experienced an enormous boom in the same period when capitalism as a world system was declining. But American capitalism, as was shown by the 1929 crisis, and now by the war preparations, has also definitely entered into the stage of decay.
- Q: And what are the symptoms of that decay?
- A: The symptoms were the army of fifteen million unemployed, the decline of production from 1929; the fact that the higher productive index of the present day is based almost entirely on armament production, which is no possible basis of permanent stability.
- **Q:** What would you say as to the existence at the present time of the second factor that you enumerated as a prerequisite to a revolutionary situation, namely, the inability of the ruling class to solve their problems?

26

- A: I do not think it has by any means yet reached the acute stage in this country that it must necessarily reach on the eve of a revolution. They can't solve their problems here, but they don't know it yet
- Mr. Anderson (Prosecutor): What was the last of that answer, Mr. Reporter?
- The Witness: I say, the American ruling class cannot solve its problems, but is not yet aware of it.

Mr. Anderson: I see.

- **The Witness:** I didn't mean that as a wisecrack, because as I stated previously, the ruling class must lose confidence in itself, as was the case in every country where a revolution occurred.
- **Q** (**By Mr. Goldman**): What is the position of the party on the attempt of Roosevelt to improve the social system in this country?
- A: How do you mean, "improve the social system"?
- Q: To set capitalism into motion again, after the depression of 1929.
- A: Well, all these measures of the New Deal were made possible in this country, and not possible for the poorer countries of Europe, because of the enormous accumulation of wealth in this country. But the net result of the whole New Deal experiment was simply the expenditure of billions and billions of dollars to create a fictitious stability, which in the end evaporated.

Now the Roosevelt administration is trying to accomplish the same thing by the artificial means of a war boom; that is, of an armament boom, but again, in our view, this has no possibility of permanent stability at all.

- **Q:** With reference to the misery and suffering of the masses, what would you say as to the existence of that factor in the United States?
- A: In our view, the living standards of the masses have progressively deteriorated in this country since 1929. They haven't yet reached that stage which I mentioned as a prerequisite of an enormous upsurge of revolutionary feeling, but millions of American workers were pauperised following 1929; and that, in our opinion, is a definite sign of the development of this prerequisite for the revolution.
- **Q:** Has the party, or any responsible member of the party, made any prediction as to the length of time that it will take before the masses reach a stage of misery and suffering where they will look for a way out by accepting socialism?
- Mr. Schweinhaut: Just answer that yes or no.
- Mr. Goldman: You can answer that yes or no and then I can proceed further.
- **Mr. Schweinhaut:** Here is what I want to know, whether it was in writing, or verbally, and under what circumstances?
- The Witness: I don't recall any prediction in terms of years, but the question has been

raised and debated, and different opinions prevail. I can tell you very briefly about that, if you wish.

Mr. Schweinhaut: I object to that.

Mr. Goldman: The evidence is full, Your Honour, on the side of the government, as to what the defendants said about when the revolution will come, and under what conditions, and I want an authoritative statement from the head of the party.

Mr. Schweinhaut: I will withdraw the objection.

- **The Witness:** I don't recall any prediction as to the number of years. We are trained in the historical method, and we think in terms of history.
- **Mr. Schweinhaut:** Please answer the question. You said that you don't remember anybody's prediction in terms of years, but it has been debated. Tell us who debated it, and where, instead of what you think about it.
- **The Witness:** All right. Trotsky advanced the thesis in the early days of our movement that America will be the last country to become socialist, and that the whole of Europe, socialist Europe, would have to defend itself against the intervention of American capitalism.

At a later stage, in the time of our 1929 crisis, Trotsky modified his prediction and said it is not by any means assured that America cannot be the first to enter the path of revolution.

Different opinions of that kind have been expressed in our ranks, but there is no settled opinion that I know of — no settled decision.

- **Q** (**By Mr. Goldman**): Calling your attention to that factor that you enumerated as a prerequisite for the social revolution here in the United States, namely, the one of acceptance by the majority of the people of the socialist idea, what would you say with reference to that factor at the present time within the United States?
- A: Somewhat lacking, I would say.
- **Q:** Well, explain that.
- A: The great mass of American people are still unfamiliar with socialist ideas. That is shown in various ways by our election results, by attendance at our meetings, circulation of our press, and so on. It is shown that a very small percentage of the American people are interested in socialist ideas at the present time.
- Q: How many votes did you receive as candidate for mayor in New York?
- A: I don't know whether they counted them all or not —

The Court: We will have our recess.

(Afternoon Recess)

The Court: Proceed.

Q (By Mr. Goldman): I call your attention to the condition which you mentioned as a

prerequisite for a social revolution in the United States — that is, the one dealing with a party, and ask you whether that exists at the present time in the United States?

- A: No, a party sufficiently influential, no, by no means.
- Q: What function does the party play prior to the transformation of the social order?
- A: Well, the only thing it can do, when it is a minority party, is to try to popularise its ideas, its programs, by publishing papers, magazines, books, pamphlets, holding meetings, working in trade unions by propaganda and agitation.

The class struggle under capitalism

- Q: Will you tell the court and jury what is meant by "class struggle" as used by Marx?
- A: I can't do it in two sentences, of course. Do you refer to the class struggle in present society?
- Q: Yes, confine yourself to the class struggle in present society.
- **A:** Marx contended that present day society is divided into two main classes. One is the capitalists, or the bourgeoisie.

The bourgeoisie is a French designation which is used by Marx interchangeably with the expression "the modern capitalist".

The other main class is the working class, the proletariat. These are the two main classes in society. The workers are exploited by the capitalists. There is a constant conflict of interests between them, an unceasing struggle between these classes, which can only culminate in the eventual victory of the proletariat and the establishment of socialism.

- Q: Whom would you include under the term "working class"?
- A: We use the term working class, or proletariat, to designate the modern wage workers. Frequently it is broadened in its application to include working farmers, sharecroppers, tenant farmers, real dirt farmers, and so on, but that is not a precise, scientific use of the word as Marx defines it.
- **Q:** What other classes, if any, are there outside the working class and the capitalist class, according to Marxian theory?
- A: Between these two main powerful classes in society is the class which Marx describes as the petty bourgeoisie that is, the small proprietors, the small operators, people who have their own little shops, small stores, the farmer who owns a small farm they constitute a class which Marx called the petty bourgeoisie.
- **Q:** What would you say with reference to the professional classes?
- **A:** Yes, roughly they are included also in this petty-bourgeois category in Marxian terminology.

- Q: And what is the attitude of the party towards this middle class?
- **A:** It is the opinion of the party that the wage working class alone cannot successfully achieve the social revolution.

The workers must have the support of the decisive majority of the petty bourgeoisie and, in particular, of the small farmers. That, reiterated time and time again by Trotsky on the basis of the Russian and German experiences, is an absolute prerequisite for success in a revolution — that the workers must have the support of the petty bourgeoisie.

Otherwise, the fascists will get them, as was the case in Germany, and instead of a progressive social revolution, you get a reactionary counterrevolution of fascism.

- Q: Define the term "dictatorship of the proletariat".
- A: "Dictatorship of the proletariat" is Marx's definition of the state that will be in operation in the transition period between the overthrow of capitalism and the institution of the socialist society. That is, the workers' and farmers' government will, in the opinion of the Marxists, be a class dictatorship in that it will frankly represent the workers and farmers, and will not even pretend to represent the economic interests of the capitalists.
- Q: What form will that dictatorship take with reference to the capitalist class?
- A: Well, you mean, what would be the attitude toward the dispossessed capitalists?
- Q: Yes, how will it exercise its dictatorship over the capitalist class?
- A: That depends on a number of conditions. There is no fixed rule. It depends on a number of conditions, the most important of which is the wealth and resources of the given country where the revolution takes place; and the second is the attitude of the capitalist class, whether the capitalists reconcile themselves to the new regime or take up an armed struggle against it.
- **Q:** What is the difference between the scientific definition of dictatorship of the proletariat and the ordinary use of the word dictatorship?
- A: Well, the popular impression of dictatorship is a one-man rule, an absolutism. I think that is the popular understanding of the word dictatorship. This is not contemplated at all in the Marxian term dictatorship of the proletariat. This means the dictatorship of a class.
- **Q:** And how will the dictatorship of the proletariat operate insofar as democratic rights are concerned?
- A: We think it will be the most democratic government from the point of view of the great masses of the people that has ever existed, far more democratic, in the real essence of the matter, than the present bourgeois democracy in the United States.

- **Q:** What about freedom of speech and all the freedoms that we generally associate with democratic government?
- **A:** I think in the United States you can say with absolute certainty that the freedoms of speech, press, assemblage, religion, will be written in the program of the victorious revolution.

Capitalists responsible for violence

- **Q:** Now, what is the opinion of Marxists with reference to the change in the social order, as far as its being accompanied or not accompanied by violence?
- A: It is the opinion of all Marxists that it will be accompanied by violence.
- Q: Why?
- A: That is based, like all Marxist doctrine, on a study of history, the historical experiences of mankind in the numerous changes of society from one form to another, the revolutions which accompanied it, and the resistance which the outlived classes invariably put up against the new order. Their attempt to defend themselves against the new order, or to suppress by violence the movement for the new order, has resulted in every important social transformation up to now being accompanied by violence.
- Q: Who, in the opinion of Marxists, initiated that violence?
- A: Always the ruling class; always the outlived class that doesn't want to leave the stage when the time has come. They want to hang on to their privileges, to reinforce them by violent measures, against the rising majority and they run up against the mass violence of the new class, which history has ordained shall come to power.
- **Q:** What is the opinion of Marxists, as far as winning a majority of the people to socialist ideas?
- **A:** Yes, that certainly is the aim of the party. That is the aim of the Marxist movement, has been from its inception.

Marx said the social revolution of the proletariat — I think I can quote his exact words from memory — "is a movement of the immense majority in the interests of the immense majority".² He said this in distinguishing it from previous revolutions which had been made in the interest of minorities, as was the case in France in 1789.

- **Q:** What would you say is the opinion of Marxists as far as the desirability of a peaceful transition is concerned?
- A: The position of the Marxists is that the most economical and preferable, the most desirable method of social transformation, by all means, is to have it done peacefully.

- Q: And in the opinion of the Marxists, is that absolutely excluded?
- **A:** Well, I wouldn't say absolutely excluded. We say that the lessons of history don't show any important examples in favor of the idea so that you can count upon it.
- **Q:** Can you give us examples in American history of a minority refusing to submit to a majority?
- A: I can give you a very important one. The conception of the Marxists is that even if the transfer of political power from the capitalists to the proletariat is accomplished peacefully then the minority, the exploiting capitalist class, will revolt against the new regime, no matter how legally it is established.

I can give you an example in American history. The American Civil War resulted from the fact that the Southern slaveholders couldn't reconcile themselves to the legal parliamentary victory of Northern capitalism, the election of President Lincoln.

- **Q:** Can you give us an example outside of America where a reactionary minority revolted against a majority in office?
- A: Yes, in Spain the coalition of workers' and liberal parties in Spain got an absolute majority in the elections and established the People's Front government. This government was no sooner installed than it was confronted with an armed rebellion, led by the reactionary capitalists of Spain.
- **Q:** Then the theory of Marxists and the theory of the Socialist Workers Party, as far as violence is concerned, is a prediction based upon a study of history, is that right?
- A: Well, that is part of it. It is a prediction that the outlived class, which is put in a minority by the revolutionary growth in the country, will try by violent means to hold on to its privileges against the will of the majority. That is what we predict. Of course, we don't limit ourselves simply to that prediction. We go further,

and advise the workers to bear this in mind and prepare themselves not to permit the reactionary outlived minority to frustrate the will of the majority.

- **Q:** What role does the rise and existence of fascism play with reference to the possibility of violence?
- A: That is really the nub of the whole question, because the reactionary violence of the capitalist class, expressed through fascism, is invoked against the workers. Long before the revolutionary movement of the workers gains the majority, fascist gangs are organised and subsidised by millions in funds from the biggest industrialists and financiers, as the example of Germany showed and these fascist gangs undertake to break up the labor movement by force. They raid the halls, assassinate the leaders, break up the meetings, burn the printing plants, and destroy the possibility of functioning long before the labor movement has taken the road of revolution.

32

I say that is the nub of the whole question of violence. If the workers don't recognise that, and do not begin to defend themselves against the fascists, they will never be given the possibility of voting on the question of revolution. They will face the fate of the German and Italian proletariat and they will be in the chains of fascist slavery before they have a chance of any kind of a fair vote on whether they want socialism or not.

It is a life and death question for the workers that they organise themselves to prevent fascism, the fascist gangs, from breaking up the workers' organisations, and not to wait until it is too late. That is in the program of our party.

- **Q:** What difference is there, Mr. Cannon, between advocating violence and predicting violent revolution?
- Mr. Schweinhaut: I object to that.
- **The Court:** Is this man qualified to answer that question? Is that a question for him to answer?
- Mr. Schweinhaut: It is for the jury to determine.

Mr. Goldman: I will rephrase the question.

- **Q** (**By Mr. Goldman**): What is the attitude of the Socialist Workers Party as far as advocating violent revolution is concerned?
- A: No, so far as I know, there is no authority among the most representative teachers of Marxism for advocating violent revolution. If we can have the possibility of peaceful revolution by the registration of the will of the majority of the people, it seems to me it would be utterly absurd to reject that, because if we don't have the support of the majority of the people, we can't make a successful revolution anyhow.
- **Q:** Explain the sentence that I read from page 6 of the Declaration of Principles, Government's Exhibit 1:

"The belief that in such a country as the United States we live in a free democratic society in which fundamental economic change can be effected by persuasion, by education, by legal and purely parliamentary method, is an illusion."

A: That goes back to what I said before, that we consider it an illusion for the workers to think that the ruling-class violence will not be invoked against them in the course of their efforts to organise the majority of the people.

Attitude to the state

- Q: What is meant by the expression "overthrow of the capitalist state"?
- **A:** That means to replace it by a workers' and farmers' government; that is what we mean.
- Q: What is meant by the expression "destroy the machinery of the capitalist state"?

- A: By that we mean that when we set up the workers' and farmers' government in this country, the functioning of this government, its tasks, its whole nature, will be so profoundly and radically different from the functions, tasks, and nature of the bourgeois state, that we will have to replace it all along the line. From the very beginning the workers' state has a different foundation, and it is different in all respects. It has to create an entirely new apparatus, a new state apparatus from top to bottom. That is what we mean.
- **Q:** Do you mean that there will be no Congress or House of Representatives and Senate?
- A: It will be a different kind of a Congress. It will be a Congress of representatives of workers and soldiers and farmers, based on their occupational units, rather than the present form based on territorial representation.
- **Q:** And what is the meaning of "soviet"?
- A: Soviet is a Russian word which means "council". It is the Russian equivalent for council in our language. It means a body of representatives of various groups. That is what the term meant in the Russian Revolution. That is, the representatives they called them deputies I guess we would call them delegates. The delegates from various shops in a given city come together in a central body. The Russians called it the Soviet of Workers' and Soldiers' Deputies.
- Q: Now, what is meant by "expropriation"?
- A: Expropriation we apply to big industry, which is in the hands of private capitalists, the Sixty Families take it out of their hands and put it in the hands of the people through their representatives, that's expropriation.
- **Q:** Is it a question of principle that there should be no compensation for property expropriated from the Sixty Families?
- A: No, it is not a question of principle. That question has been debated interminably in the Marxist movement. No place has any authoritative Marxist declared it a question of principle not to compensate. It is a question of possibility, of adequate finances, of an agreement of the private owners to submit, and so forth.
- Q: Would the party gladly pay these owners if they could avoid violence?
- A: I can only give you my opinion.
- **Q:** What is your opinion?
- A: My personal opinion is that if the workers reached the point of the majority, and confronted the capitalist private owners of industry with the fact of their majority and their power, and then we were able to make a deal with the capitalists to compensate them for their holdings, and let them enjoy this for the rest of their lives, I think it would be a cheaper, a cheaper and more satisfactory way of effecting

the necessary social transformation than a civil war. I personally would vote for it — if you could get the capitalists to agree on that, which you couldn't.

- Q: What attitude does the party take toward the ballot?
- A: Our party runs candidates wherever it is able to get on the ballot. We conduct very energetic campaigns during the elections, and in general, to the best of our ability, and to the limit of our resources, we participate in election campaigns.
- **Q:** What campaigns do you remember the party having participated in in the last few years?
- A: Well, I remember the candidacy of Comrade Grace Carlson for the United States Senate last year. I have been a candidate of the party several times for various offices. In Newark, where we have a good organisation, we have had candidates in every election for some time. I cite those three examples. In general, it is the policy of the party to have candidates everywhere possible.
- **Q:** Does the party at times support other candidates?
- A: Yes. In cases where we don't have a candidate, it is our policy, as a rule, to support the candidates of another workers' party, or of a labor or a farmer-labor party. We support them critically. That is, we do not endorse their program, but we vote for them and solicit votes for them, with the explanation that we don't agree with their program. We support them as against the candidates of the Republican and Democratic parties.

For example, we have always supported the Farmer-Labor candidates in Minnesota in all cases where we didn't have a candidate of our own party. We supported the candidates of the American Labor Party in New York in similar circumstances.

- **Q:** What is the purpose of the party in participating in these electoral campaigns?
- A: The first purpose, I would say, is to make full use of the democratic possibility afforded to popularise our ideas, to try to get elected wherever possible; and, from a long range view, to test out the uttermost possibility of advancing the socialist cause by democratic means.
- **Q:** What purpose did you and associates of yours have in creating the Socialist Workers Party?
- A: The purpose was to organise our forces for the more effective propagation of our ideas, with the ultimate object that I have mentioned before, of building up a party that would be able to lead the working masses of the country to socialism by means of the social revolution.
- **Q:** What is the attitude of the party, and the opinion of the party, with reference to the government, as it exists now, being capitalist?

- A: Yes, we consider it a capitalist government. That is stated in our Declaration of Principles; that is, a government which represents the economic interests of the class of capitalists in this country, and not the interests of the workers and the poor farmers; not the interests of all the people, as it pretends, but a class government.
- **Q:** What opinion has the party as to differences within the ruling class from the point of view of more liberal or more reactionary?
- A: We don't picture the capitalist class as one solid, homogeneous unit. There are all kinds of different trends, different interests among them, which reflect themselves in different capitalist parties and different factions in the parties, and very heated struggles. An example is the present struggle between the interventionists and the isolationists.
- **Q:** Does the party take an attitude as to whether or not the Roosevelt administration is more or less liberal than previous administrations?

Mr. Schweinhaut: I object to that as irrelevant.

The Court: Sustained.

- **Q:** Is it possible for a difference of opinion to exist in the party on the question as to whether the transformation will be peaceful or violent?
- A: I think it is possible, yes.
- **Q:** So that there is no compulsion on a member to have an opinion as to what the future will have in store for the party or for the workers?
- **A:** No, I don't think that is compulsory, because that is an opinion about the future that can't be determined with scientific precision.
- **Q:** What steps, if any, does the party take to secure a correct interpretation of party policy by individual members?
- A: Well, we have, in addition to our public lectures, and press, forums, and so forth we have internal meetings, educational meetings. In the larger cities we usually conduct a school, where we teach the doctrines of the party. Individual comrades, unschooled workers who don't understand our program, or who misinterpret it all kinds of provisions are made to try to explain things to them, to convince them of the party's point of view. That is a frequent occurrence, because, after all, the program of the party is a document that represents pretty nearly one hundred years of socialist thought, and we don't expect an unschooled worker who joins the party to understand all those doctrines as precisely as the professional party leaders.
- **Q:** What can you tell us about the differences and degree of knowledge of various members of the party?
- A: Well, there is a big difference of various members and of various leaders.
- Q: Is it always possible to correct every mistake that every member of the party
makes?

Mr. Schweinhaut: I object to that.

The Court: It seems to me the answer to that is obvious.

Mr. Schweinhaut: I will stipulate that it isn't always possible.

Mr. Goldman: 0That is fine.

Internationalist to the very core

- **Q** (**By Mr. Goldman**): What is the position taken by the party on the question of internationalism?
- A: The party is internationalist to the very core.
- **Q:** And what do you mean by that?
- A: We believe that the modern world is an economic unit. No country is self-sufficient. It is impossible to solve the accumulated problems of the present day, except on a world scale; no nation is self-sufficient, and no nation can stand alone.

The economy of the world now is all tied together in one unit, and because we think that the solution of the problem of the day — the establishment of socialism — is a world problem, we believe that the advanced workers in every country must collaborate in working toward that goal. We have, from the very beginning of our movement, collaborated with like-minded people in all other countries in trying to promote the socialist movement on a world scale. We have advocated the international organisation of the workers, and their cooperation in all respects, and mutual assistance in all respects possible.

- **Q:** Does the party have any attitude on the question of racial or national differences?
- A: Yes, the party is opposed to all forms of national chauvinism, race prejudice, discrimination, denigration of races I mean by that, this hateful theory of the fascists about inferior races. We believe in and we stand for the full equality of all races, nationalities, creeds. It is written in our program that we fight against anti-Semitism and that we demand full and unconditional equality for the Negro in all avenues of life. We are friends of the colonial people, the Chinese, of all those that are victimised and treated as inferiors.
- **Q:** What is the position of the party on socialism as a world system?
- A: We not only stand for an international socialist movement but we believe that the socialist order will be a world order, not a national autarchy which is carried to its absurd extreme by the fascists, who have tried to set up a theory that Germany could be a completely self-sufficient nation in an economic sense, that Italy can be, and so forth. We believe that the wealth of the world, the raw materials of the world, and the natural resources of the world are so distributed over the earth that

every country contributes something and lacks something for a rounded and harmonious development of the productive forces of mankind.

We visualise the future society of mankind as a socialist world order which will have a division of labor between the various countries according to their resources, a comradely collaboration between them, and production eventually of the necessities and luxuries of mankind according to a single universal world plan.

- **Q:** Did the party ever belong to an international organisation?
- A: The party belonged to the Fourth International. It was designated that way to distinguish it from the three other international organisations which had been known in the history of socialism. The first one, the International Working Men's Association was founded under the leadership of Marx in the 1860s and lasted until about 1871.

The Second International was organised on the initiative of the German, French, and other socialist parties of Europe about 1890, and continues today. It includes those reformist socialist parties and trade unions of Europe, or at least did until they were destroyed by the Hitler scourge.

The Third International was founded under the leadership of Lenin and Trotsky after the Russian Revolution. It was founded in 1919, as a rival of the Second International, the main motive being that the Second International had supported the imperialist war of 1914 and, in the view of the Bolsheviks, had thereby betrayed the interests of the workers.

The Fourth International was organised on the initiative of Trotsky as a rival of the Stalinist Third International. We took part in the initiation of that movement, and we participated in its work up until last December.

- Q: And what caused you to cease belonging to it?
- A: The passage by Congress of the Voorhis Act, which placed penalties upon organisations that have international affiliation, made that necessary. We called a special convention of the party, and formally severed our relation with the Fourth International in compliance with the Voorhis Act
- Q: What role do Fourth International resolutions play in the party?
- A: Well, they have a tremendous moral authority in our party. All the sections of the Fourth International have been autonomous in their national decisions, but the programmatic documents of the Fourth International, wherever they are applicable to American conditions, have a decisive influence with us.
- Q: So you accept them, insofar as they are applicable to American conditions?
- A: Yes it is not the letter of the law for us in the sense that our Declaration of Principles is, but it is a general ideological guiding line for us.

The party & the trade unions

- Q: Now, does the party interest itself in the trade-union movement?
- A: Oh, yes, immensely.
- **Q:** And why?
- A: Well, we view the trade-union movement as the basic organisation of the workers that should include the great mass of the workers, and must include them, in the struggle to defend their interests from day to day. We are in favor of trade unions, and participate in organising them wherever we can.
- **Q:** And what is the fundamental purpose of the party in trying to strengthen the trade unions and organising them wherever they are not organised?
- A: Well, we have a double purpose. One is that we are seriously interested in anything that benefits the workers. The trade unions help the workers to resist oppression, possibly to gain improvement of conditions; that is for us a decisive reason to support them, because we are in favor of anything that benefits the workers.

A second reason is that the trade unions, which are big mass organisations, offer the most productive fields for us to work in to popularise the ideas of the party, and the influence of the party.

- **Q:** What instructions, if any, are given to party members with reference to their activity in trade unions?
- A: Yes, our party members are instructed to be the best trade unionists, to do the most work for the unions be most attentive, most active in the union work to be the best mechanics at their trade, to become influential by virtue of their superiority in their abilities and their actions in behalf of the workers in the union.
- Q: Does the party take a position with reference to the CIO and the AFL?

Mr. Schweinhaut: I object to that as immaterial, if Your Honor please.

The Court: What is the materiality of that, Mr. Goldman?

Mr. Goldman: Well, it would explain the fight here in Local 544-CIO, about which the witnesses for the government testified.

The Court: He may answer.

The Witness: Yes, we take a position.

- Q (By Mr. Goldman): And what is that position, Mr. Cannon?
- A: In general we are in favor of industrial unionism. That is, that form of unionism which organises all the workers in a given shop or given industry into one union. We consider that a more progressive and effective form of organisation than craft unionism, so we support the industrial-union principle.

The CIO has found its greatest field of work in the big mass production industries, such as automobile and steel, which hitherto were unorganised, where

the workers were without the protection of any organisation, and where experience proved it was impossible for the craft unions, a dozen or more in a single shop, to organise them. We consider that a tremendously progressive development, the organisation of several million mass-production workers, so that, in general, we sympathise with the trend represented by the CIO.

But we don't condemn the AFL. We are opposed to craft unionism, but many of our members belong to AFL unions and we have, in general, the same attitude towards them as to CIO unions, to build them up, to strengthen them, improve the conditions of the workers. And we are sponsors of the idea of unity of the AFL and the CIO; it was written in our Declaration of Principles; so that while we are somewhat partial to the CIO as a national movement, we are in favor of unity on the provision that it should not sacrifice the industrial union form of organisation.

- **Q:** What is the party policy with reference to the existence of democracy in trade unions?
- A: The Declaration of Principles, and all of our editorials and speeches, are continually demanding a democratic regime inside the unions, demanding the rights of the members to speak up, to have free elections, and frequent elections, and in general to have the unions under the control of the rank and rile through the system of democracy.
- **Q:** And what is the policy of the party with reference to racketeering and gangsterism in the unions?
- A: Similarly, the Declaration of Principles denounces racketeers, gangsters, all criminal elements summons our members and sympathisers to fight relentlessly to clean them out of the unions, and forbids under penalty of expulsion any member of the party to give any direct or indirect support to any gangster or racketeering element in the unions.
- Q: Is there such a policy of the party as controlling the unions?
- A: No, a union is an independent, autonomous organisation and —
- **Mr. Schweinhaut:** Well, now, you have answered the question. He asked you if there was a policy with respect to controlling the unions, and you said, "No".
- Mr. Goldman: Let him explain.
- Mr. Schweinhaut: Why does it need explanation?
- **Mr. Goldman:** Well, there are at least, I should say, twenty-five or fifty pages of evidence about the party controlling unions.
- Mr. Schweinhaut: And the witness has said that there is no such policy. That disposes of it.
- The Court: Well, he has answered this question, certainly.

 \mathbf{Q} (**By Mr. Goldman**): In what way does the party try to win influence in the unions?

- **A:** We try to get our members in the unions to strive for the leading influence in the unions.
- Q: How?
- A: First of all by our instructions to our members in the unions that they must be the best trade unionists in the union, and they must be the best workers on the job. That is first, in order that they may gain the respect of their fellow workers and their confidence.

Second, they have got to be active in the propagation of our ideas to their fellow workers. They have got to be busy and active in all union affairs — try to get subscriptions to our paper, try to influence union members to come to our lectures and classes and, in general, work to gain sympathy and support for the party and its program. We do say that, surely.

- **Q:** What policy does the party have with reference to placing party members in official positions in the unions?
- A: Yes, whenever they can be fairly elected, we certainly encourage them to try.
- **Q:** But through elections?
- A: Through elections, yes. Also if they can be appointed by some higher body and the work is not inconsistent with our principles, we advise them to accept the appointment as in the case, for example, of Comrade Dobbs.
- Q: Appointment for what?
- A: Dobbs was appointed international organiser of the Teamsters Union at one time.
- **The Court:** Ladies and gentlemen of the jury, you will please keep in mind the admonitions of the court. We will recess until ten o'clock tomorrow morning.

District Court of the United States, District of Minnesota, Fourth Division. Wednesday, November 19, 1941 Morning Session

James P. Cannon

DIRECT EXAMINATION (continued)

Imperialist war

- **Q** (**By Mr. Goldman**):Mr. Cannon, will you tell us the position of the Socialist Workers Party on the causes of modern war?
- A: Modern wars, in the opinion of our party, are caused by the conflict of imperialist

nations for markets, colonies, sources of raw material, fields for investment, and spheres of influence.

- Q: What do you mean by "imperialist", Mr. Cannon?
- A: Those capitalist nations which directly or indirectly exploit other countries.
- Q: What is the party's position on the inevitability of wars under the capitalist system?
- A: As long as the capitalist system remains, and with it those conditions which I have mentioned, which flow automatically from the operation of the capitalist and imperialist system, wars, recurring wars, are inevitable.
- **Q:** And can anybody's opposition, including the opposition of the Socialist Workers Party to war, prevent wars under the capitalist system?
- A: No. Our party has always stated that it is impossible to prevent wars without abolishing the capitalist system which breeds war. It may be possible to delay a war for a while, but eventually it is impossible to prevent wars while this system, and its conflicts of imperialist nations, remains.
- **Q:** Then is it true that the party is of the opinion that wars are caused by international economic conflicts, and not by the good will or bad will of some people?
- A: Yes. That does not eliminate the possibility of incidental attacks being caused by the acts of this or that ruling group of one country or another; but fundamentally wars are caused by the efforts of all the capitalist powers to expand into other fields. The only way they can get them is by taking them away from some other power, because the whole world has been divided up among a small group of imperialist powers. That is what leads to war, regardless of the will of the people.

We do not maintain that the ruling groups of any of the imperialist powers now at war really desired the war. We have stated many times that they would have been glad to have avoided it; but they could not avoid it and maintain the capitalist system in their country.

- **Q:** What is the attitude of the party towards a war which it designates as an imperialist war?
- A: Our party is unalterably opposed to all imperialist wars.
- Q: And what is meant by opposition to imperialist wars?
- **A:** By that we mean that we do not give any support to any imperialist war. We do not vote for it; we do not vote for any person that promotes it; we do not speak for it; we do not write for it. We are in opposition to it.
- **Q:** How does the Socialist Workers Party oppose the idea of the United States entering into the war?
- A: We do it as every other political party promotes its ideas on any foreign policy. We write against it in the paper; we speak against it; we try to create sentiment in any

organisation we can approach, to adopt resolutions against the war. If we had members in Congress, they would speak in Congress, in the Senate, against it. In general we carry on public political agitation against the entry of the United States into war, and against all measures taken either by the Executive or by Congress which in our opinion lead towards active participation in the war.

- Q: What do you mean by "active"?
- **A:** For example, all those measures which have been taken, which put the United States into the war, in effect, without a formal declaration to that effect.
- **Q:** What was the party's position with reference to amending the Constitution to give the people the power to declare war?
- A: For quite a while now we have supported the proposal that was introduced into Congress, I think by Representative Ludlow, and is known as the Ludlow Amendment, for an amendment to the Constitution requiring a referendum vote of the people for the declaration of a war. Our party supported this proposal and at times has carried on a very energetic agitation in favor of such an amendment to require a referendum vote of the people before war could be declared.
- **Q:** And that is still the position of the party, Mr. Cannon?
- A: Yes, that is incorporated as one of the points of practical daily policy, in the editorial masthead of our paper. If I am not mistaken, it appears on the editorial page as one of our current principles, and every once in a while there appears an editorial or an article in the paper attempting to revive interest in this idea.
- **Q:** If the United States should enter into the European conflict, what form would the opposition of the party take to the war?
- A: We would maintain our position.
- Q: And that is what?
- A: That is, we would not become supporters of the war, even after the war was declared. That is, we would remain an opposition political party on the war question, as on others.
- **Q:** You would not support the war?
- A: That is what I mean, we would not support the war, in a political sense.

The Court: May I ask you to develop the significance of that last statement?

Mr. Goldman: Yes.

- **Q:** When you say, "nonsupport of the war", just exactly what would the party do during a war, which would indicate its nonsupport of the war?
- A: Insofar as we are permitted our rights, we would speak against the war as a false policy that should be changed, in the same sense from our point of view, that other parties might oppose the foreign policy of the government in time of war, just as

Lloyd George, for example, opposed the Boer War in public addresses and speeches. Ramsay MacDonald, who later became prime minister of England, opposed the war policy of England during the World War of 1914-1918. We hold our own point of view, which is different from the point of view of the two political figures I have just mentioned, and so far as we are permitted to exercise our right we would continue to write and speak for a different foreign policy for America.

- **Q:** Would the party take any practical steps, so-called, to show its opposition to war, or nonsupport of the war?
- A: Practical steps in what sense?
- **Q:** Would the party try to sabotage the conduct of the war in any way?
- A: No. The party has specifically declared against sabotage. We are opposed to sabotage.
- **Q:** What is that what do you mean by "sabotage?
- A: That is, obstruction of the operation of the industries, of transportation, or the military forces. Our party has never at any time taken a position in favor of obstruction or sabotage of the military forces in time of war.
- Q: And will you explain the reasons why?
- A: Well, as long as we are a minority, we have no choice but to submit to the decision that has been made. A decision has been made, and is accepted by a majority of the people, to go to war. Our comrades have to comply with that. Insofar as they are eligible for the draft, they must accept that, along with the rest of their generation, and go and perform the duty imposed on them, until such time as they convince the majority for a different policy.
- **Q:** So, essentially your opposition during a war would be of the same type as your opposition prior to the war?
- A: A political opposition. That is what we speak of.
- **Q:** Did the party ever, or does the party now, advise its members or any of its sympathisers, or any workers that it comes in contact with, to create insubordination in the United States armed forces or naval forces?
- A: No.
- Q: Will you explain the reason why?
- A: Fundamentally the reason is the one I just gave. A serious political party, which aims at a social transformation of society, which is possible only by the consent and support of the great mass of the population such a party cannot attempt while it is a minority to obstruct the carrying out of the decisions of the majority. By sabotage and insubordination, breaking discipline and so on, a party would absolutely discredit itself and destroy its possibilities of convincing people, besides

being utterly ineffective so far as accomplishing anything would be concerned.

- **Q:** Will you state the reasons why the party would not support a war conducted by the present government of the United States?
- A: In general, we do not put any confidence in the ruling capitalist group in this country. We do not give them any support because we do not think they can or will solve the fundamental social problems which must be solved in order to save civilisation from shipwreck.

We believe that the necessary social transition from the present system of capitalism to the far more efficient order of socialism can only be brought about under a leadership of the workers. The workers must organise themselves independently of the capitalist political parties. They must organise a great party of their own, develop an independent working-class party of their own, and oppose the policy of the capitalist parties, regardless of whether they are called the Democratic or Republican, or anything else.

- **Q:** What kind of a war would you consider a war waged by the present government of the United States?
- A: I would consider it a capitalist war.
- Q: Why?
- A: Because America is today a capitalist nation. It is different from the others only in that it is stronger than the others and bigger. We do not believe in capitalist policy. We do not want to gain any colonies. We do not want bloodshed to make profits for American capital.
- **Q:** What is the party's position on the claim that the war against Hitler is a war of democracy against fascism?
- A: We say that is a subterfuge, that the conflict between American imperialism and German imperialism is for the domination of the world. It is absolutely true that Hitler wants to dominate the world, but we think it is equally true that the ruling group of American capitalists has the same idea, and we are not in favor of either of them.

We do not think that the Sixty Families who own America want to wage this war for some sacred principle of democracy. We think they are the greatest enemies of democracy here at home. We think they would only use the opportunity of a war to eliminate all civil liberties at home, to get the best imitation of fascism they can possibly get.

- **Q:** What is the position of the party with reference to any imperialist or capitalist enemy of the United States, like Germany or Italy?
- A: We are not pro-German. We absolutely are not interested in the success of any of

the imperialist enemies of the United States.

- **Q:** In case of a conflict between the United States and Germany, Italy, or Japan, what would the party's position be so far as the victory or defeat of the United States, as against its imperialist enemies?
- **A:** Well, we are certainly not in favor of a victory for Japan or Germany or any other imperialist power over the United States.
- **Q:** Is it true then that the party is as equally opposed to Hitler as it is to the capitalist claims of the United States?
- A: That is uncontestable. We consider Hitler and Hitlerism the greatest enemy of mankind. We want to wipe it off the face of the earth. The reason we do not support a declaration of war by American arms is because we do not believe the American capitalists can defeat Hitler and fascism. We think Hitlerism can be destroyed only by way of conducting a war under the leadership of the workers.
- Q: What method does the party propose for the defeat of Hitler?
- **A:** If the workers formed the government I spoke of, if the workers' form of government were in power, we would propose two things:

One, that we issue a declaration to the German people, a solemn promise, that we are not going to impose another Versailles peace on them; that we are not going to cripple the German people, or take away their shipping facilities, or take away their milk cows, as was done in the horrible Treaty of Versailles, starving German babies at their mothers' breasts, and filling the German people with such hatred and such demand for revenge that it made it possible for a monster like Hitler to rally them with the slogan of revenge against this terrible Treaty of Versailles. We would say to them:

"We promise you that we will not impose any of those things upon the German people. On the contrary, we propose to you a reorganisation of the world on a fair socialist basis, where the German people, with all their recognised ability and their genius and labor, can participate equally with us." That would be our party's first proposal to them.

Second, we would also say to them, "On the other hand, we are going to build the biggest army and navy and air force in the world, to put at your disposal, to help smash Hitler by force of arms on one front, while you revolt against him on the home front"

I think that would be the program, in essence, of our party, which the workers' and farmers' government of America would advance so far as Hitler is concerned, and we believe that is the only way Hitlerism will be destroyed. Only when the Great Powers on the other side can successfully prevail upon the German people

to rise against Hitler, because we must not forget —

Mr. Schweinhaut: You have answered the question, Mr. Cannon.

- **Q:** Now, until such time as the workers and farmers in the United States establish their own government and use their own methods to defeat Hitler, the Socialist Workers Party must submit to the majority of the people is that right?
- A: That is all we can do. That is all we propose to do.
- **Q:** And the party's position is that there will be no obstruction of ways and means taken by the government for the effective prosecution of its war?
- **A:** No obstruction in a military way, or by minority revolution; on the contrary, the party has declared positively against any such procedure.

War & revolution

- **Q:** What is the opinion of the party as to the relationship between war and a possible revolutionary situation?
- A: Wars frequently have been followed by revolution; wars themselves are the expression of a terrible social crisis, which they are unable to solve. Misery and suffering grow at such a tremendous pace in war, that it often leads to revolution.

The Russo-Japanese war of 1904 produced the Russian revolution of 1905. The World War of 1914 produced the Russian Revolution of 1917, the Hungarian revolution, near-revolution in Italy, and the revolution in Germany and Austria; and in general, a revolutionary situation developed over the whole continent of Europe, as the result of the First World War.

I think it is highly probable that if the war in Europe continues, then the mass of the people, especially in Europe, will undertake to put a stop to the slaughter by revolutionary means.

- **Q:** So that it would be correct to say that a revolutionary situation is created by a war, and not by the Socialist Workers Party, if a revolutionary situation will arise?
- **A:** I would say it is created by the privations of the capitalist system, which are tremendously accelerated by a war.
- **Q:** What is the policy of the party with reference to permitting various opinions and interpretations of current events in the party's publications?
- A: Well, it is not prohibited. Usually, individual members of the party write articles with a certain slant on current events that is not necessarily shared by the majority of the Committee.
- **Q:** With reference to predictions or opinions about future occurrences, would you say the party is more liberal in granting that freedom?
- A: Yes, it must necessarily be, because predictions are not verifiable, completely, until

after the event, and different opinions arise. We have had in the party, especially since the outbreak of the World War, conflicting opinions as to when the United States would make formal entry into the war, or whether or not the United States would enter the war. There were not very many who doubted that it would, but I heard some people in the party express such opinions.

- **Q:** And would you say that the opinions of party members with reference to a possible future revolutionary situation is in that category of opinion, concerning which there are many differences of opinion?
- A: Yes, there must necessarily be.
- **Q:** Do you include in that category also predictions as to whether the revolution would not be accompanied by force or not?
- A: Well, within limits, within limits. There is more agreement among the educated leaders of the party who have studied history and Marxism there is more agreement on that question, than on such a question as the prospect of entry into the present World War.
- **Q:** But there can be, and there are differences of opinion as to the exact time of the revolutionary situation and the approximate development of it?
- **A:** As to the time of a revolution, that is absolutely speculative. There isn't anybody in the party who has anything more than a tentative opinion on that question.
- **Q:** Would you make any distinction between official resolutions of the party and editorials?
- A: Yes. A resolution is a formal document, approved by the National Committee itself, or by a convention. It is thought out, and becomes an official statement of the party. In my opinion that carries and should carry a greater weight than an editorial which might be knocked out by an editor while he is rushing the paper to press, and is not written with the same care and preciseness of expression which obtains when a resolution is formally signed by the National Committee.
- **Q:** Does the party accept officially all opinions expressed in signed articles, or even editorials?
- A: No, I would say not officially, no. Signed articles by prominent leaders of the party, in the minds of the party members, have at least a semiofficial status, I think, but they do not have the weight of a formal resolution of the Committee or of a convention.

Party's proletarian military policy

- **Q:** Now will you please explain what is called the military policy of the party?
- A: The military policy of the party is incorporated in the decisions of the conference

a year ago, in September 1940. At that time we called a special conference of the party, in connection with a plenary meeting of the National Committee, to consider this particular question, our attitude towards conscription and the further progress of the war situation, and there we adopted a resolution substantially as follows:

Point 1: As long as conscription has been adopted as the law, and once it was the law, referring to the Selective Service Act, all party members must comply with this law, must register and must not oppose the registration of others. On the contrary, the party specifically opposes the position of such groups as conscientious objectors. While we admire the courage and integrity of a rather high order that it takes to do what the conscientious objectors have done, we have written against their policy and said it is wrong for individuals to refuse to register when the great mass of their generation going to war. So far as we are concerned, if the young generation of American workers goes to war, our party members go with them, and share in all their dangers and hardships and experience.

Point 2: Our resolution says that our comrades have got to be good soldiers, the same way that we tell a comrade in a factory that he must be the best trade unionist and the best mechanic in order to gain the confidence and respect of his fellow workers. We say, in the military service, he must be the best soldier; he must be the most efficient in the use of whatever weapons and arms he is assigned to, and submit to discipline, and be concerned about the welfare of fellow soldiers in order to establish his position in their respect and confidence.

- **The Court:** May I inquire whether or not this is an oral or a written policy that Mr. Cannon has just given?
- **The Witness:** I think my speeches at the conference in Chicago last September were introduced as exhibits here, some extracts from them at least.
- Mr. Goldman: Yes, I am sure they were.
- **The Court:** Mr. Myer, you should be able to put your finger on those particular exhibits, I believe.
- Mr. Myer: I think they are exhibits 116 and 186.
- **Q:** Now, were there any other points discussed and adopted at that conference with reference to the military policy of the party?
- A: Yes. We came out in favor of the idea of conscription, universal military training. That is predicated on the idea that at the present time the whole world is in arms, that all decisions nowadays are being made by arms, or with the threat of arms. In such a situation we must recognise that the workers must also become trained in the military arts.

We are in favor of universal military training, according to our official decision;

but we are not in favor, that is, we do not give political support to the method that is used by the present capitalist government.

We propose that the workers should get military training in special camps under the direction of the trade unions; that the government should furnish a part of its military funds in appropriations to equip those camps with the necessary arms and materials and instructors, but the camps should be under the auspices of the trade unions.

There should be also special camps set up under the auspices of the unions, for the training of workers to become officers. Government funds should be appropriated for this purpose, so that a condition can be created to remove one of the greatest defects and sources of dissatisfaction in the present military apparatus, that is, the social gulf between the worker or farmer-soldier, and the officer from another class, who does not have an understanding of the soldier's problem and does not have the proper attitude towards him.

We believe the workers are entitled to have as officers men out of their own ranks whom they have learned to respect in the course of their work and common struggle with them, such as picket captains, leaders of unions, men who have distinguished themselves in the affairs of workers' organisations, and who come from the rank and rile of the workers. Such men as officers would be much more concerned about the welfare of the rank and file of soldiers than a college boy from Harvard or Yale, who never saw a factory, and never rubbed elbows with the worker, and considers him an inferior being. That is, I would say, the heart of our military proposal, of our military policy.

- Q: What is the position of the party with reference to civil rights in the army?
- A: We stand also for soldier citizens' rights. We do not agree with the idea that when you take a million and a half young men out of civil life, that they cease to have the rights of citizens. We think they should have all the rights of citizens. They should have the right to petition Congress; they should have the right to vote; they should have the right to elect committees to present their grievances; they should have the right to elect their own officers, at least the minor officers; and in general they should have the democratic rights of citizens, and we advocate that. We advocate legislation to confer upon the soldiers those rights, and doing away with the present inefficient military setup.
- **Q:** Did the party officially, or to your knowledge, did any party member now in the service, ever attempt to create insubordination in the ranks of the armed forces?
- **A:** Not to my knowledge.
- Q: In your opinion, if there have been such incidents, what is the cause of them?

- A: I think there are a number of causes of discontent and dissatisfaction in the conscript army. That is a matter of public comment in all the newspapers and magazines, and various opinions and theories have been expressed as to the reasons for it
- **Q:** How does the party propose to realise the demands for compulsory training under trade-union control?
- A: Our program is a legislative program. Everything that we propose we would have incorporated into law. If we had a delegation in Congress they would introduce a bill, or a series of bills, providing for the incorporation in the law of the country of these proposals, these military proposals of ours.
- Q: Did any authoritative leader of the party ever refer to Plattsburg as an example?
- **A:** Yes. In fact, that was part of the origin of the idea. As I said before, the chief sore point in the military setup is the class distinction between the officers and the ranks. We know that in the period prior to the First World War, special camps were set up for the training of business and professional men to be officers in the army. Plattsburg was one of these. This was a part of the so-called preparedness campaign, before the United States finally got into the war. The government appropriated some funds, and some businessmen donated funds. The government provided instructors and furnished the necessary equipment for the training of a large number of business and professional men who were ultimately to be officers in the army.

We cannot see why the workers should not have the same rights. We think it is perfectly fair and reasonable, certainly it is compatible with the existing laws. As I said before, it is a legislative proposal on our part. We would, if we could, incorporate that into the law of the country.

The Court: We will take our morning recess at this time.

(Morning Recess)

- **Q:** I call your attention, Mr. Cannon, to the testimony of some witnesses for the prosecution to the effect that certain party members told them to join the army, and then to start to kick about the food and create dissatisfaction. What can you say with reference to the party policy about that?
- **A:** In the military forces, as far as our information goes from members who have been drafted and from others whom —
- **Mr. Schweinhaut:** Now, just a moment. You are not answering the question at all. He asked you whether the party had a policy, whether it does or does not If so, tell us what that policy is, not what you heard from people in the service.
- The Witness: I want to explain why our policy is what it is.

The Court: We have not heard that there is a policy yet.

- Q: Is there a policy?
- **A:** Yes, we have a policy.
- **Q:** What is that policy?
- A: The policy is not to support or to initiate any agitation about food. I want to tell you the reason. So far as our knowledge goes, from members of the party who have been drafted and whom we have seen on furlough, and from other investigation, there is not much dissatisfaction with the food in the present setup.
- Q: And if there is any dissatisfaction with food, what would you say it was caused by?
- A: So far as our information goes, there are only isolated cases now. We do not propose to kick about the food if the food is satisfactory. If the food is bad, the soldiers will kick about it themselves, and they should kick about it.
- Q: What would you say about the testimony of these witnesses —

Mr. Schweinhaut: I object to that.

Mr. Goldman: Strike it out.

- **Q:** Then will you state definitely, what is the policy of the party with reference to creating dissatisfaction in the army when causes for dissatisfaction do not exist?
- A: I do not know of anything in the party program or party literature that proposes to incite grievances without foundation. Where causes for dissatisfaction exist, they create the dissatisfaction, not the party.

Mr. Schweinhaut: Just a moment, please.

- **Q:** If there have been grievances, and if there has been dissatisfaction, is the party in any way responsible for that?
- A: No, I don't think so, in any way at all. That is the present situation.
- **Q:** And the people who have charge of feeding the army are the ones responsible for that, or for the grievances?
- Mr. Schweinhaut: Well, that is leading.
- Mr. Goldman: Well, he has not objected, so you may proceed and answer it.

Mr. Schweinhaut: Then I will object to it now.

The Court: I will sustain the objection.

- **Q:** Now, on the question of military training under trade union control you were speaking about Plattsburg at the time of the recess. Will you continue and explain further the policy on that?
- A: I used that as an illustration of how special camps were instituted and government instructors provided to train business and professional men in the period shortly prior to our entry into the last World War. In the Spanish Civil War all the parties and unions not only had their own training camps authorised by the government,

but even supplied their own regiments in the fight against the fascist army of Franco.

- Q: Now, the present trade unions are not under the control of the party, are they?
- **A:** No, they are under the control, essentially or practically completely, of leaders who are in harmony with the present Roosevelt administration.
- Q: As I understand, the party favors military training under trade-union control?
- **A:** Yes. The idea is to give to the unions, as they are, a wider authority and supervision over their people.
- Q: And that policy is not dependent upon the party controlling the trade unions?
- **A:** No. We can only take our chances that we will be in the minority in those training camps, as we are in the unions.
- **Q:** What measures do you propose in order to effectuate the policy of military training under trade-union control?
- **A:** As I think I said before, it is a proposal for a legislative program. We would have such a bill introduced into Congress and passed, if we had the power, or if we could gain the support of congressmen who are opposed to us on other grounds, but who would agree to this. This is a program that is not necessarily socialist
- **Q:** If any member of the party would either attempt to obstruct the Selective Service Act, or advise the obstruction of it, what would the party do about that?
- **Mr. Schweinhaut:** That is objected to on the ground that there has been no evidence offered by the government that the party attempted to obstruct the Selective Service Act.
- **Mr. Goldman:** Then the government admits that the party has not attempted to obstruct the Selective Service Act?
- **Mr. Schweinhaut:** We have not attempted to show that there was any attempt to interfere with the Selective Service Act.
- **Mr. Goldman:** I gathered that questions were asked a number of witnesses, as to their age, and the necessity of their going into service, with an intention on the part of the prosecution to prove that we, somehow or other, tried to interfere. If the government says "No", I will drop that.
- **Mr. Schweinhaut:** We will clear the atmosphere on that right now. We do not contend that the party attempted to keep anybody from registering for the draft, or in that respect to impede the progress of the Selective Service Act. What our evidence tended to show was what the party members were supposed to do after they got into the army.
- Mr. Goldman: Well, that is cleared up then.
- Q: Did you hear a witness for the government testify that he was told by some party

member to go to Fort Snelling and create dissatisfaction? I think that was the gist of the testimony. Did you hear that?

- A: Something to that effect.
- **Q:** What is the party's policy with reference to any creating of dissatisfaction in Fort Snelling or any other military camp?

Mr. Schweinhaut I object to that, because he has answered what it was at least twice. **The Court:** Objection sustained.

Attitude to the Russian Revolution

Q: Does the party have an official position on the Russian Revolution, Mr. Cannon? **A:** Yes.

- Q: What is that position? Has it ever been adopted in the form of an official resolution?
- A: It is incorporated in the Declaration of Principles.
- **Q:** What is that position?
- A: That the party supports —
- **Mr. Schweinhaut:** Just a moment. I will object to that on the ground that, the witness having stated that it is incorporated in the Declaration of Principles, therefore, it speaks for itself.
- Mr. Goldman: An explanation of the Declaration of Principles is in order.

The Court: He may answer.

- **A (Continuing):** We support the Russian Revolution of 1917. We consider that it embodies the doctrines and the theories of Marxism which we uphold.
- Q: How many revolutions were there in Russia in 1917?
- A: There was a revolution in February according to the Russian calendar, in March according to the modern calendar, which developed into the proletarian revolution of November 7 according to the modern calendar.
- **Q:** What is the general position taken by Marxists with reference to the Russian Revolution?
- A: The one that I have given here, in support of the revolution.
- Q: And what does "support" mean?
- A: Well, that is a rather mild it would be a mild description of our attitude. We consider it the greatest and most progressive event in the entire history of mankind.
- **Q:** And I think you said in your reply to a previous question, that you consider the doctrines embodied in that revolution as Marxist doctrines? Explain that.
- A: The theory of Marxism in our opinion was completely vindicated in the Russian Revolution, and the theory of Marxism, which is the establishment of a government of workers and peasants, which undertakes to bring about a social transformation

from capitalism towards socialism — all this was undertaken in the Russian Revolution.

- Q: Now, can you tell us anything about the legality of that revolution?
- A: Yes.

The Court: Judged by what standards?

- **Mr. Goldman:** What I mean by that is to have him explain exactly how the revolution occurred, because counsel for the government tries to present it as a violent upheaval of the minority against the majority, and the facts are the very contrary. I want the witness to explain the nature of that revolution.
- **A:** The czar and czarism were overthrown in March by an uprising of the masses, of the people in the big cities, and the peasants.
- Q: Was the Bolshevik Party responsible for that uprising in any way?
- **A:** No. The Bolshevik Party was a very infinitesimal group at the time of the March revolution.
- Q: What is the meaning of "Bolshevism"?
- A: The world *Bolshevik* is a Russian word meaning *majority*. It acquired a political meaning in the Russian Social-Democratic Labor Party. In the Congress of 1903 a controversy developed which divided the party into groups, the majority and the minority, the majority called the Bolsheviks and the minority called Mensheviks.
- Q: Those are Russian words meaning minority and majority?
- A: Yes. They split up and divided into parties. Each called itself the Russian Social-Democratic Labor Party and in parentheses on the end "Bolsheviks" or "Mensheviks", as the case might be.
- **Q:** Now, will you proceed and tell the jury what happened during the October Revolution, or in our calendar in November 1917.
- A: Well, to show the chronology: . When czarism was overthrown by the masses of the people, the whole structure of that tyranny was destroyed. A new government was constituted, but the new government machinery was based on the Soviets, which sprang up spontaneously in the revolutionary upheaval. Soviets of workers and soldiers were established everywhere. In Petrograd, the workers and soldiers sent delegates deputies to the central council or, as they called it, the Soviet; similarly in Moscow and other places. This body was recognised as authoritative.
- The government that was constituted after the overthrow of the czar was headed by Prince Lvov, with Miliukov as foreign minister; it derived its authority from the Soviets of Workers' and Soldiers' Deputies and the Soviets of Peasants' Deputies. In April they had a National All-Russian Conference of the Workers' and Soldiers' Soviets, and there they elected an All-Russian Central Executive Committee of the

Workers' and Soldiers' Soviets. In May, the peasant Soviets had an All-Russian Congress and elected an All-Russian Central Executive Committee of the peasants.

- **Q:** What proportion of the population did those Soviets represent?
- A: They represented the people, the great mass of the people. I think it was impossible even to speak in terms of majorities or minorities. They were the masses themselves. The peasants and the soldiers and the workers were the people; those two bodies, the All-Russian Central Executive Committee of the Workers' and Soldiers' Soviets and the All-Russian Central Executive Committee of the Peasant Soviets, formed a joint body which was recognised as the most authoritative and representative body in Russia. It was by their consent that the government cabinet ruled.

The All-Russian Executive Committee of the Soviets repudiated Miliukov, who was the leader of the bourgeoisie. The Soviet body opposed him because of his foreign policy, involving secret treaties that had been exposed. He therefore had to resign, because without the support of the Soviets, authority was lacking; and I think that could be likened, as an analogy, to the French system of the resignation of the prime minister when there is a no-confidence vote in the Chamber.

- Q: So that the Soviets constituted the authority of the people of Russia?
- A: That is right.
- Q: In what way did the Bolsheviks progress to power?
- A: I wish to go on with the chronology, if you will permit me. Following the fall of Miliukov, Kerensky rose there is a popular impression in this country that he became premier with the fall of the czar. That is not so. Kerensky became premier in July. He was made a minister and eventually premier because he was a member of the Social Revolutionary Party. That was the peasant party, which then lead the Soviets. He was also supported by the worker element, because he had been a labor lawyer. That was the basis of Kerensky's office; that is, his authority was derived directly from the Soviets.

Now in this period the Bolsheviks were a small minority. They did not create the Soviets. The Soviets were created by the masses; they were initiated by the masses. Neither the Bolshevik Party nor any other party could do anything without the support of the Soviets. In the midst of the revolution of 1905 and again in the overthrow of the czar in 1917, the Soviets sprang up simultaneously.

The most influential one naturally was in Petrograd, which was the seat of government. The Bolsheviks were a small minority in this Soviet at the time of the overthrow of the czar. When Kerensky became premier, the combination of his Social Revolutionary Party and the Menshevik Socialist Party — those two parties

together had an overwhelming majority in the Soviets, and ruled by virtue of that. The Bolsheviks were an opposing faction.

During that time Lenin, as the spokesman for the Bolsheviks, said over and over again, "As long as we are in the minority in the Soviets, all we can do is patiently explain." The Bolshevik Party opposed any attempt to seize power by a putsch.

Q: What is a "putsch"?

A: An armed action of a small group. The Bolshevik Party demanded, with Lenin as their spokesman, that the Social Revolutionary Party and the Menshevik Party take complete control of the government by removing the bourgeois ministers and make it a completely labor and peasant government, and they issued the promise that, "If you do that we promise that as long as we are in the minority, we will not try to overthrow you. We will not support you politically, we will criticise you, but we will not undertake to overthrow the government as long as we are in the minority." That was the policy of the Bolsheviks in the March days of the revolution against the czar, and into July.

In July the workers in Petrograd staged a demonstration with arms, against the advice of the Bolsheviks. The Bolsheviks advised against it on the ground that it might unduly provoke the situation, and tried to persuade the workers in Petrograd not to go into that action. It was not a rebellion; it was simply a parade with arms. This action, carried out by the Petrograd workers against the advice of the Bolsheviks, brought repressions against the workers on the part of the Kerensky government.

Then the Kerensky government undertook to discredit and frame up the Bolshevik Party. They accused Lenin and Trotsky of being German spies. This was the predecessor of Stalin's Moscow trials. They accused Lenin and Trotsky and the Bolsheviks of being German spies. Trotsky was thrown into jail, Lenin was forced into hiding, and repressions continued against the Bolsheviks, but it did not do any good, because the policy and slogans of the Bolsheviks were growing in popularity. One by one the great factories and soldiers' regiments began to vote in favor of the Bolshevik program.

In September an attempt at counterrevolution was made under the leadership of General Kornilov, who could be properly described as a Russian monarchistfascist. He organised an army and undertook to overthrow the Kerensky government in Petrograd, with the idea of restoring the old regime.

The Kerensky government, that had put Trotsky in jail, had to release him from prison to get the support of his party to fight down the counterrevolutionary army of Kornilov.

Trotsky was brought from prison and went directly to the Military Revolutionary Committee, in which government men also sat, and there drew up with them plans for a joint fight against Kornilov. Kornilov was crushed; the counterrevolution was crushed primarily by the workers under the inspiration of the Bolshevik Party. They tied up his railroad trains, he could not move his troops; his best troops were induced to fight against him, and his counterrevolution was crushed.

As this was going on, the Bolsheviks became more popular all the time, as the genuine representatives of the revolution. They gained the majority in the Petrograd Soviet, the most influential Soviet in the country, and in Moscow and others. The Kerensky government was losing ground because it was not solving any of the problems of the people. The Bolsheviks' slogans of "Bread", "Peace", "Land", and other slogans — those were the slogans that the masses wanted.

On November 7 was held the Congress of the All-Russian Soviets of Workers and Soldiers. The Bolsheviks had a majority there, and simultaneously with the meeting of the Soviets, where the Bolsheviks had a majority, they took the governmental power.

Violence & the Russian Revolution

- **Q:** And was there any violence connected with the gaining of the majority by the Bolsheviks?
- A: Very little just a little scuffling, that's all.
- Mr. Schweinhaut: That was in Petrograd?

The Witness: In Petrograd, yes. That was also where the czar was overthrown.

- **Q:** And subsequent to the gaining of the majority by the Bolsheviks what violence, if any, occurred?
- A: One point more first. A month or so later, a special All Russian Congress of the Peasant Soviets met, and there also the Bolsheviks had a majority. Then the minority withdrew from those authoritative bodies of government, and began an opposition struggle against the Bolshevik government.
- Q: What violence, if any, occurred, and who initiated the violence?
- A: That began following the armed struggle against the government.
- Q: Who began it?
- A: The czarists, the white guard Russian element, the bourgeoisie generally, the deposed capitalists and others. They undertook a counterrevolution, and the civil war that ensued lasted until almost 1921. The civil war lasted so long because the white guard and bourgeois elements received the support, first of the Germans,

and then of England and France, and even the United States sent an expedition.

- The Soviet government had to fight against the whole capitalist world, on top of fighting against their own opposition at home; and the fact that the Bolsheviks represented the great majority of the people was best evidenced by the fact that they were victorious in this civil war, not only against their opponents at home, but also against the outside powers who supplied the opposition with arms, soldiers and funds.
- Q: How were the Soviets in those days elected?
- A: They were elected in the factory-workers' meetings; that is, the factory workers would gather to elect their delegate. Each Soviet constituted a unit of government and the combination of Soviets constituted the government.

In the Soviet system, the factories select delegates, according to their number, one for each thousand or whatever the proportion may be. The soldiers' regiments do the same; the peasants or dirt farmers do the same, so that the government established in that way, by those Soviets, represents the whole mass of the people who are involved in productive activity.

- **Q:** What was the number of members of the Bolshevik Party at the time of the Russian Revolution in November 1917?
- **A:** The most authoritative figure I have seen given is 260,000, or a quarter of a million. That seems to be the figure that has the best authority.
- **A:** And what proportion of the population supported the Bolshevik Party at that time?
- **A:** In my opinion, the great majority of the workers, peasants and soldiers supported them at the time they took power and afterwards.
- **Q:** From which group or class of society did the Bolshevik Party get most of its members?
- A: From the workers. It was a workers' party, a party of industrial workers and agricultural laborers. There were some peasants in the party, but the party was primarily constituted of industrial workers in the cities, agricultural laborers, and some intellectuals, some educated people who had put themselves at the service of the workers in the party.
- **Q:** What is the best authority as to the number of workers in Russia at the time of the revolution by "workers" meaning industrial workers?
- A: Five million.
- Q: And the majority of the population consisted of peasants?
- A: Peasants, yes.
- Q: What is your opinion as to the number of members that the Socialist Workers

Party will probably have when the majority of people in this country adopt the program of the party?

Mr. Schweinhaut: I object to that, Your Honor.

The Court: What is the basis of your objection?

Mr. Schweinhaut: He is asking this witness to guess today as to the number of members that the Socialist Workers Party will have when a majority of the people in the United States adopt its policy.

The Court: There are too many elements of speculation in that. Objection sustained.

- **Q:** Will you tell the court and jury what differences arose between Stalin and Trotsky subsequent to the revolution?
- Mr. Schweinhaut: I object to that, because I do not see any materiality or relevancy in it.
- Mr. Goldman: The prosecution has contended, and I think Mr. Anderson has made many statements to the effect, that Trotsky, being the archconspirator in this case, had certain ideas and certain doctrines. I think the jury is entitled to know in a general way — it is impossible to go into great detail — but the government has opened up its case in such a way that it is essential for the jury to know at least some of the basic principles of Trotsky, who it is alleged was one of the archconspirators.

The Court: Well, if you will agree to limit it to a reasonable amount of testimony.

Mr. Goldman: I certainly will - otherwise, we might be here two years.

- **Mr. Anderson:** All we ever brought out, on Trotsky, was some literature and speeches and pamphlets, in the party press.
- **Mr. Goldman:** I should think that after the prosecution takes three weeks, that they should give me a week at least to try the case.
- The Court: I don't think it is necessary to try it that way.

Differences between Stalin & Trotsky

- **Q:** Will you describe briefly the fundamental differences that arose between Stalin and Trotsky subsequent to the revolution?
- A: I mentioned the other day that the fight originated in the struggle over democracy. That was the origin of the fight, really inspired by Lenin during his last illness, in collaboration with Trotsky. Lenin did not survive to take part in the fight, and Trotsky had to lead it. This soon developed further.

It soon became apparent to critical observers, this tendency of Stalin to crush democracy in the party and in the life of the country generally. It was based on Stalin's desire to change the program and the course of direction of the revolution, which could only be done by this means. Trotsky struggled for free discussion of

the problem, with the confidence that the majority of the workers in the party would support his program. Stalin and his group represented, in our opinion, the conservative tendency, based upon a certain stratum of the party and the government that had acquired official positions and privileges and wanted to stop there.

- Q: Stalin then represented in your opinion the party of the bureaucratic?
- **A:** The bureaucratic and conservative. As a matter of fact, Trotsky designated it as the bureaucratic-conservative faction, at one stage in the struggle.
- Q: Interested in what?
- **A:** It was interested in preserving its privileges, and not extending and developing the benefits for the great mass of the people.
- Q: What form did this dictatorship of Stalin assume?
- **A:** It assumed the form of crushing democracy inside of the Communist Party and establishing a dictatorial regime there. For example —
- **Mr. Schweinhaut:** Well, while Mr. Cannon is pausing, may I object now to this line of testimony because it is immaterial and irrelevant to the issues here? It is immaterial what form of government Stalin set up in Russia. What do we care?
- **The Court:** I do not see any reason why he should go into all the details. I think you should recognise that, Mr. Goldman. I want to give you every opportunity, every reasonable opportunity, to present your theory of the case before the jury, but I do think that there is much here that is immaterial and unnecessary.
- Q: What is the position of the party on the Soviet Union at present?
- Mr. Schweinhaut: I object to that, Your Honour.

The Court: He may answer that.

- A: The characterisation we make of the Soviet Union, as it is today, is of a workers' state, created by the revolution of November 1917, distorted by the bad present regime, and even degenerated, but nevertheless retaining its basic character as a workers' state, because it is based on nationalised industry and not on private property.
- **Q:** Now, what is the position of the party towards the defence of the Soviet Union, and why?
- A: We are in favor of defending the Soviet Union against imperialist powers for the reason I just gave, because we consider it a progressive development, as a workers' state, that has nationalised industry and has eliminated private capitalism and landlordism. That is the reason we defend it.
- **Q:** That is, you consider the Russian or the Soviet state, a state based on the expropriation of private industry from the capitalists?

- A: Yes, the operation of industry as a nationalised industry.
- Q: And you are defending that kind of a state?
- A: Yes.
- Q: Isn't it a fact that Stalin has killed most all of the so-called Trotskyists in Russia?
- A: Yes. We are against Stalin, but not against the Soviet form of industrial production.
- **The Court:** The jury will keep in mind the admonition heretofore given them, and we will now recess until two o'clock this afternoon.

District Court of the United States, District of Minnesota, Fourth Division. Wednesday, November 19, 1941 Afternoon Session

The Court: Proceed, gentlemen.

James P. Cannon

resumed the stand, having been previously duly sworn, and testified further as

follows:

DIRECT EXAMINATION (continued)

By Mr. Goldman:

- **Q:** And the party would exhaust all the possibilities for a peaceful transformation if the democratic rights are given to the working masses?
- A: In my opinion, to the very end, yes.
- **Q:** Even to the end of trying to amend the Constitution of the United States, as provided for by the Constitution of the United States?
- A: If the democratic processes are maintained here, if they are not disrupted by the introduction of fascist methods by the government, and the majority of the people supporting the ideas of socialism can secure a victory by the democratic processes, I don't see any reason why they cannot proceed, continue to proceed, by the democratic method of amending the Constitution to fit the new regime.

Naturally, the amendments would have to be of a very drastic character, but parts of the Constitution I would be willing to write into the program of the party at any time — that is the Bill of Rights, which we believe in. That section of the Constitution which protects private property rights, we think, would absolutely have to be changed in the society which we envisage, which eliminates private property in industrial enterprises of a large-scale nature.

Q: But it is your belief, is it not, that in all probability the minority will not allow such a peaceful transformation?

- A: That is our opinion. That is based on all the historical precedents of the unwillingness of any privileged class, no matter how it is outlived, to leave the scene without trying to impose its will on the majority by force. I cited examples yesterday.
- **Q:** What is the —
- **A:** I might give you another example on the same point. For example, the Bolshevik revolution in Hungary was accomplished without the shedding of one drop of blood, in a completely peaceful manner.
- Q: When was that?
- A: That was in 1919. The government that was established following the war, of which Count Karolyi was premier, came to what is considered the end of its resources it could not control the country, did not have the support of the masses, and Count Karolyi as head of the government, on his own motion, went to the head of the Bolshevik Party, or the Communist Party, rather, of Hungary, who was in prison, and summoned him to take charge of the government in a peaceful, legal manner, like the change of a cabinet in the French Parliament — of course, prior to the Petain regime. Then, this Soviet government, having been established in this way, peacefully, was confronted by an uprising of the privileged class, of the landlords and the big owners, who organised an armed fight against the government and eventually overthrew it. The violence on a mass scale followed the change of the government did not precede it.

Marxism a guide to action

- Q: What is the position that the party gives to Karl Marx and his doctrines?
- A: Karl Marx was the originator of the theories and doctrines and social analyses, which we know as scientific socialism, or Marxism, upon which the entire movement of scientific socialism has been based since his day.

In the *Communist Manifesto* of 1848 his ideas were sketched and then in other big volumes, notably in *Capital*, he made a most exhaustive scientific analysis of the laws governing the operation of capitalist society, showed how the contradictions within it would lead to its downfall as a social system, showed how the conflict of interests between the employers and the workers would represent an uninterrupted class struggle until the workers gained the upper hand and instituted the society of socialism.

So Karl Marx can be viewed not only as the founder of our movement, but as the most authoritative representative of its ideology.

Q: Does the party accept all of the statements found in all of the books written by Karl Marx?

- A: No, the party has never obligated itself to do that. We do not consider even Marx as infallible. The party accepts his basic ideas and theories as its own basic ideas and theories. That does not prohibit the party or members of the party from disagreeing with things said or written by Marx which do not strike at the fundamental basis of the movement, of the doctrine.
- **Q:** And you interpret Marx, or you apply the Marxian theories, under conditions that prevail at the present time, is that right?
- A: Yes. You see, we don't understand Marxian theory as a revelation, as a dogma. Engels expressed it by saying our theory is not a dogma but a guide to action, which means that it is a method which the students of Marxism must understand and learn how to apply. One can read every letter and every line written by Marx and still not be a useful Marxist, if one does not know how to apply it to the conditions of his own time. There have been such people, whom we call pedants.
- Q: You are acquainted with the Communist Manifesto, are you not?
- A: Yes.
- **Q:** And you remember I think it is the last clause of the *Manifesto*, where Marx and Engels, co-authors, say:"We disdain to conceal our aims", and mention something to the effect about violent revolution. Do you remember that?
- **A:** Well, it says, "We disdain to conceal our aims. We openly say that they can be achieved only by the forcible overthrow of all existing social institutions."³
- Q: When was the Communist Manifesto written?
- A: 1848.
- **Q:** Subsequent to the writing of the *Communist Manifesto*, did Marx ever write anything with reference to the possibility of a peaceful revolution in democratic countries?
- A: Yes.
- Q: Where was that written, and explain to the jury what was said.
- A: Well, the most authoritative place where it is stated and explained is in the introduction to the first volume of Marx's masterwork, called *Capital*, the introduction by Frederick Engels, who was his co-worker, who was the co-author of the *Communist Manifesto*, and is recognised universally in the movement as completely identified with all of Marx's ideas and theories. Engels as a matter of fact edited and compiled the second two volumes of *Capital*, after the death of Marx.
- Q: What did he say in that introduction?
- A: This was the English translation of *Capital* and the introduction was presenting the volume to the English public. Engels stated I think I can quote almost literally that he thinks the work of a man who during his entire life was of the opinion that

the social transformation in England, at least, could be effected by purely peaceful and legal means — he thought such a book should have a hearing from the English

public. That is very close to a literal report of what he stated in this introduction.⁴

- Q: And why did Marx have that opinion with reference to England?
- A: Well, he had that opinion with reference to England as distinct from the autocratic countries, because of its parliamentary system, its democratic processes, and civil libertarian method of political procedure.
- **Q:** So at the time that Marx and Engels wrote the *Communist Manifesto* in 1848, there was no democracy in existence on the European continent, is that right?
- A: The whole of Europe was seething with revolutions at that time.
- Q: And no democratic processes were available?
- A: At least not in the stable system that had been established in England. I think I should add, to get the whole picture of this introduction which I am speaking of, that Engels said, after he had made this remark which I have reported, he said: "To be sure, Marx did not exclude the possibility of a proslavery rebellion on the part of the outmoded and dispossessed ruling class." That is, after the transfer of power.
- **The Court:** Pardon me, Mr. Cannon. Would you be good enough to elaborate a bit upon the significance of that proslavery phrase?
- **The Witness:** Yes. I think he had in mind the American Civil War. Marx and Engels attentively followed the American Civil War, wrote extensively about it in the *New York Tribune*. A collection of those writings, both political and military, has been published as a book, which is a classic in our movement. And what Marx undoubtedly had in mind when he spoke of a "proslavery rebellion", was an analogy with the American Civil War, which he had characterised as a proslavery rebellion on the part of the Southern slave owners. Of course, he did not maintain that the English bourgeoisie are slaveholders in the same sense, but that they exploit the workers.
- **Q:** Now what, in your opinion, is the relationship between the Declaration of Principles of the Socialist Workers Party and the theories of Karl Marx?
- A: I would say that insofar as we understand Marxism and are able to apply it, it is an application of the Marxian theories and doctrines, his whole system of ideas, to the social problem in America.
- **Q:** That is, the Declaration of Principles is based then upon the fundamental theories of Karl Marx?

A: Yes, we consider it a Marxist document.

Party's attitude to Lenin

- Q: What is the position that the party gives to Lenin?
- A: Lenin, in our judgment, was the greatest practical leader of the labor movement and the Russian Revolution, but not on the plane of Marx in the theoretical field. Lenin was a disciple of Marx, not an innovator in theory. To be sure he contributed very important ideas, but to the end of his life he based himself on Marx, as a disciple in the Marxist movement of the world. He holds a position of esteem on a level with Marx, with this distinction between the merits of the two.
- **Q:** Does the party, or do party members agree with everything that Lenin ever wrote and published?
- A: No. The same attitude applies to Lenin as to Marx. That is, the basic ideas and doctrines practiced, promulgated, and carried out by Lenin, are supported by our movement, which does not exclude the possibility of differing with him about this or that particular writing, or of individual members of the party differing with Lenin in important respects, as has been the case more than once in our party.
- **Q:** By the way, is it true that there is a communist government in the Soviet Union?
- A: No, not in our view.
- Q: Is it true that there is communism in the Soviet Union?
- A: No there isn't any communism in the Soviet Union.
- Q: Is there socialism in the Soviet Union?
- A: No well, I would like to clarify that now. Socialism and communism are more or less interchangeable terms in the Marxist movement. Some make a distinction between them in this respect; for example, Lenin used the expression socialism as the first stage of communism, but I haven't found any other authority for that use. I think that is Lenin's own particular idea. I, for example, consider the terms socialism and communism interchangeable, and they relate to the classless society based on planned production for use as distinct from a system of capitalism based on private property and production for profit.
- **Q:** Could there be a socialist society and a dictatorship like Stalin has at the present time?
- A: No. According to Marx and Engels, as you approach the classless socialist or communist society, the government, instead of becoming more of a factor in human affairs, becomes less and less and eventually withers away and disappears, and is replaced or evolves into an administrative body that does not employ repression against the people.

So the very term government implies, in our terminology, a class society — that is, a class that is dominant and a class that is being suppressed. That holds true whether it is a capitalist government, which in our views oppresses or suppresses the workers and the farmers and represents the interests of the big capital, or a workers' and farmers' government immediately following a revolution which represents the interests of the workers and farmers and farmers and farmers and suppresses any attempt of the displaced capitalist class to resist its authority or to reestablish its rule.

But once the resistance of the old outlived exploiting class is broken and its members become reconciled to the new society and become assimilated in it, find their place in it, and the struggle between classes which is the dominating factor in all class societies is done away with, because of the disappearance of class distinctions, then the primary function of government as a repressive instrument disappears and the government withers away with it. This is the profound conception of Marx and Engels that is adhered to by all their disciples.

Q: Did Lenin ever use the term "Blanquism" to designate a certain type of movement? **The Court:** What is that?

Mr. Goldman: Blanquism.

- **The Witness:** Yes, he wrote more than one article in the course of the Russian Revolution, more than once he wrote, "We are not Blanquists."
- Q: Now, what is meant by "Blanquism"?
- A: Blanqui was a figure in the French revolutionary movement who had followers in the Paris Commune of 1871. Blanqui had his own conception of party and of revolution, and his ideas are known among the students of the history of the labor movement as Blanquism.
- Q: What are his ideas?
- A: Blanqui's idea was that a small group of determined men, tightly disciplined, could effect the revolution with a coup d'état.
- **Q:** What is a "coup d'état"?
- A: That is a seizure of power, a seizure of state power by armed action of a small, determined, disciplined group; they would, so to speak, make the revolution for the masses.
- **Q:** And what did Lenin say about that?
- A: Lenin opposed this view and his articles were written in answer to opponents who had accused the Bolsheviks of aiming to seize power without a majority. He said, "We are not Blanquists. We base ourselves on mass parties and mass movements, and as long as we are in the minority our task is to patiently explain the problems and issues until we gain the majority, and as long as we are in the minority we will

not try to overthrow you. You let us have our freedom of speech and press, give us the opportunity to expound our ideas, and you don't need to fear any Blanquist putsch on our part." Putsch, as I explained before, is an attempt of a small group to seize power by surprise tactics.

- **Q:** So Lenin depended upon mass parties and upon gaining a majority for those mass parties, did he?
- A: Yes, in the early days of the Communist International it is a period that I am familiar with through close study and personal participation in the movement he hammered at this idea all the time, not only against his critics in Russia, but against various individuals and groups who came toward support of the Russian Revolution, and had some distorted ideas.

In Germany, for example in March 1921, the German party, which had been organised, attempted an insurrection without having the support of the masses; this became famous in the literature of our international movement, as "the March Action". The tactics embodied in it, the conception of some of the German leaders that they could force the revolution by their own determination and sacrifices — this whole idea, the March Action, and all the ideas embodied in it were condemned by the Third Congress of the Communist International at the insistence of Lenin and Trotsky. They refuted this theory, and they counterposed to it mass parties, mass movements, gaining the majority.

They put out the slogan to the German party that it should aim to have a million members. Zinoviev, who was chairman of the Comintern, made that one of his leading ideas on the German question, that the task of the German party was not to get impatient or to try to force history but to be busy with agitation and propaganda and have the goal of a million in the party.

- **Q:** These million members would not by themselves make any revolution, would they?
- A: Naturally not Lenin did not expect to have a majority of the population become members of the party, but to support the party. But the very fact that he proposed or rather Zinoviev, who was the lieutenant of Lenin, acting as chairman of the Communist International proposed as a slogan, "A million members in the German Party", certainly was a powerful indication that they did not expect to get a majority of the people until they had a numerically powerful party.

SWP & Trotsky

Q: Now, what relationship, if any, did Leon Trotsky have to the Socialist Workers Party?

A: Our movement in 1928 — when our faction was expelled from the Communist Party — we had adopted the program of Trotsky.

We supported his program from the very beginning — and this was long before we had any personal contact with him. He had been expelled from the Russian party and was exiled in the Asiatic wilderness at a place called Alma Ata. We had no communication with him. We did not know where he was, whether he was dead or alive, but we had one of his important programmatic documents which was called, "The Criticism of the Draft Program of the Comintern".⁵ This book elaborated his theories as against those of Stalin at great length and in fundamental respects. This was adopted by us as our own program and from the very beginning we proclaimed our faction as Trotsky's faction.

We worked for about six months here without any communication with him until he was deported to Turkey — Constantinople — and then we established communication with him by mail. Later, various leading members of the party visited him. We had very extensive correspondence with him, and in this correspondence and in visits by individual members, we had an extremely close relation to him and regarded him all the time as the theoretical inspirer and teacher of our movement.

- **Q:** When did you first visit Trotsky?
- **A:** I visited him in France in 1934 that is, for the first time after our expulsion from the Communist Party.
- **Q:** And what role, if any, did Trotsky play in formulating the doctrines of the Socialist Workers Party?
- A: He played a very important role. Although he did not write our party documents, his ideas interpreting Marxism in our time were the source from which we got our main concepts and rewrote them in American terms, tried to apply them to American conditions.
- **Q:** Did he write any articles about conditions and developments in the United States in those days?
- A: I don't recall that he wrote much in those days about America.
- **Q:** Did he at any time in those days tell you as to what practical action should be taken in the United States by your group?
- A: Yes. One of the subjects of controversy in our early days was what kind of activity we should occupy ourselves with.

He supported the idea of a purely propagandistic activity in our early days that is, as distinguished from what we call mass work. We were so few in numbers, we could not hope to do anything except to try to publish a paper and convert some people to our basic ideas; a very, very modest task of routine propaganda was assigned by the necessity of the situation to our group at that time, and he supported that.

- Q: When did you first make frequent contact with Trotsky?
- **A:** He was driven out of France and then out of Norway and finally received asylum in Mexico by the action of President Cardenas. If I am correct as to the exact month, I think it was January 1937.

Thereafter he lived in Mexico until August 21, 1940, when he was assassinated. In the period that he was there we made frequent visits to him. I personally was there to see him twice, once in the spring of 1938 and again in the summer of 1940. Other party leaders and party members visited him frequently. I personally maintained a very active correspondence with him, and so did other members of the party, and I would say we were in very, very intimate contact with him after he came to Mexico.

- **Q:** What did the Socialist Workers Party do with reference to helping Trotsky guard himself, and also with reference to aiding him in his expenses?
- A: We knew that Trotsky was marked for assassination by Stalin, who had killed off practically all the important leaders of the revolution through his mass trials and his purges and frame-ups and so forth. We knew that Trotsky, as the greatest of all the opponents of Stalin, was marked for assassination, and we undertook to protect him. We set up a special committee which had the sole purpose of collecting funds to support this endeavor.

We supplied guards, we supplied money regularly and systematically for transforming his house into as close to a fortress as possible. We collected and supplied the funds to buy the house for him. We supplied the expenses of the guards who were sent there, and in general, in every way possible extended ourselves to protect his life and facilitate his work.

- **Q:** What was the nature of the discussions that you held with Trotsky while you were there?
- A: All the important problems of the world movement.
- Q: Any problems of the American labor movement?
- A: Yes.
- Q: Did you ever discuss the question of union defence guards and Local 544 with him?
- A: No, I personally had no discussion with him about 544 defence guards. We discussed with him the question of defence guards in general. This, I think, was in our visit in 1938.
- Q: Do you know of your own knowledge whether Trotsky had many visitors?

- A: Yes, I know that he did. I know that he had many visitors, because in my capacity as secretary of the party I frequently was called upon to give letters of introduction to people who wanted to visit him. He was visited, not only by our members, but by journalists, by school teachers, a history class which used to tour Mexico, and he was visited by public people of many kinds and opinions while he was there.
- **Q:** Then the discussions that you had with Trotsky referred and related to general political questions, did they not?
- A: Yes questions of the war, of fascism, trade unionism —
- **Q:** But they had nothing to do with party activities, branches or of particular sections of the party?
- A: No, I don't recall that Trotsky ever interested himself in the detailed local work of the party; I don't recall that.
- Q: How busy a man was he?
- A: He was the busiest man I ever knew. Trotsky, in addition to all his political work and his enormous correspondence, and his journalistic work — and he wrote innumerable articles and pamphlets for us — he wrote for magazines and newspapers, such as *The New York Times*, *Saturday Evening Post, Liberty* and other magazines — and in addition to that, he produced, in the eleven years since his exile to Turkey in 1929 to his death in 1940, a literary output greater by volume than that of the average writer who does nothing else but write.

He wrote the three huge volumes on the history of the Russian Revolution which, from the point of view of literary labor, could be considered a life task by any writer. He wrote a full-sized book called *The Revolution Betrayed*, and he wrote his autobiography and innumerable smaller books and pamphlets and articles in that period.

- Q: The party, then, never bothered him with minor questions of policy and activities?
- A: Not to my knowledge; I know I never did.

Party advocates workers defence guards

- **Q:** Will you tell the court and jury the position of the Socialist Workers Party on workers' defence guards?
- A: Well the party is in favor of the workers organising defence guards wherever their organisations or their meetings are threatened by hoodlum violence. The workers should not permit their meetings to be broken up or their halls to be wrecked, or their work to be interfered with, by Ku Klux Klanners or Silver Shirts or fascists of any type, or hoodlums, or reactionary thugs, but should organise a guard and protect themselves where it is necessary.

- **Q:** How long ago was the idea of a workers' defence guard first put forth by the group of which you are a member?
- A: I may say that I have known about this idea, which we didn't invent at all, all my thirty years in the labor movement I have known about the idea of workers' defence guards and seen them organised and helped to organise them more than once long before I ever heard of the Russian Revolution.
- **Q:** And did the Trotskyist group ever start organising these guards before it became the Socialist Workers Party?
- A: Yes, in the first year of our existence, in 1929. The Communist Party, the Stalinists, tried to break up our meetings by hoodlum violence. They did break up a number of meetings and we reacted to that by organising a workers' defence guard to protect our meetings, and invited to participate in this guard not only Trotskyists, but other workers' organisations which were also being attacked by the Stalinist hoodlums.

Let me explain this. The Stalinists had a system in those days of trying to break up meetings of the Socialist Party, of the IWW, of a group called the Proletarians, of anybody who didn't agree with the Stalinists. They tried the Stalin game of breaking them up, so in self-defence, without any theory from anybody, we reacted by organising workers' defence guards to protect our meetings. And I may add, parenthetically, we protected them so well that we put a stop to that monkey business at the cost of a few cracked heads, which I personally greatly appreciated in those days.

- **Q:** I show you a volume of *The Militant* marked 1928 and 1930, and ask that you refresh your recollection from that volume, and tell the jury on what occasions workers' defence guards were organised by the Trotskyist group. Just read the item, and then tell the jury, without reading the item to the jury.
- A: The first one is dated January 1, 1929. It refers to a meeting addressed by me in New Haven, Connecticut, under the title, "The Truth About Trotsky and the Platform of the Opposition". It is a news account of the meeting.
- **Q:** Well, Mr. Cannon, just read that and then tell the jury what you remember about that incident.
- A: I remember it very well, because they sent a gang of hoodlums to the meeting and they broke it up and didn't permit me to continue my speech, and created a fight, and in the midst of the fight the police came to the hall and declared the meeting dissolved. That is a report of a meeting in the Labor Lyceum at New Haven, Connecticut, December 21, 1929.
- Q: And did you subsequently organise any defence guards to protect your meetings?
- A: Yes, in the same account is the report of a second meeting held in Philadelphia on December 27, with Max Shachtman as the speaker and it states there that, profiting by the experience in New Haven, they organised a workers' defence guard which came and protected the meeting, and the speaker was allowed to continue without disruption.
- **Q:** Did you ever hold a meeting where you spoke where workers' defence guards protected the meeting?
- A: Yes. Here is *The Militant* (indicating) under date of January 15, 1929, which reports a meeting addressed by me in Cleveland, Ohio, on the same subject about which I was speaking then, "The Truth About Trotsky and the Russian Opposition", and the account in the paper tells about a gang of Stalinists who came there and tried to disrupt the meeting, and heckled the speaker, and they began to try violence.
- **Q:** You were the speaker, were you?
- A: I was the speaker, and I recall very well that I was protected by a guard which we had organised, and the report says that the workers' guard finally formed a flying wedge and put the disrupters out of the meeting, and the speaker was allowed to continue to the end.
- **Q:** And subsequent to that, did you ever speak at meetings where workers' defence guards were organised to protect those meetings?
- **A:** Yes, here is a report in *The Militant* of February 1929, and it tells about two meetings addressed by me in the city of Minneapolis.
- Q: And do you remember what happened at those meetings?
- A: Yes, the first meeting we attempted to hold in some lodge hall here I forget the name, AOUW Hall, it is reported here I recall at this meeting, before the meeting started, a gang of Stalinist hoodlums invaded the meeting and attacked Oscar Coover with blackjacks, where he was standing at the door taking tickets, I think, and forced their way into the hall before the crowd had come, got front seats, and then as the crowd came in and I went to the front and tried to speak, they got up and interfered and heckled and disturbed and disrupted the meeting until it finally ended in a free-for-all scuffle, and I didn't get a chance to make my speech. Then this account here tells —
- Q: Well, what do you remember?
- A: Yes, it is reported here in this issue of the paper that we then went to the IWW Hall here that is another radical organisation which we are not affiliated with, but who had also suffered from these Stalinist tactics, and asked them if they would cooperate with us in organising a guard to protect the meeting, so that I could speak on the subject that I was touring the country then on, "The Truth About

Trotsky and Our Platform". They agreed.

We formed a workers' defence guard in Minneapolis in January 1929, and the IWW gave us the use of their hall. They had a hall of their own somewhere down here on Washington Street. We advertised the meeting widely and announced that this meeting was going to be held under the protection of the workers' guard. And I personally know that there was such a guard, that they equipped themselves with hatchet handles, and stood along the side of the hall, and stood out in front and announced that nobody should interfere with this meeting. I spoke for about two hours there without any interference, under the protection of that workers' guard.

- Q: So that you can say from your knowledge that the Workers' Defence Guard —
- A: There are more news accounts here, if you want them. That was a period until we finally established our right to be let alone, and then there was no more need for the guard, and we dissolved.
- **Q:** Now, with reference to the workers' defence guard advocated by the Socialist Workers Party, what formal action did the party take at any time?
- A: Well, in this later period of 1938 and '39, in some parts of the country we were confronted with an incipient fascist movement. Different organisations with different names began preaching Hitlerite doctrines in this country, and tried to practice Hitlerite methods of physical intimidation of workers' meetings, of Jews, Jewish stores, and suppressing free speech by violent methods.

In New York it became a rather acute problem. The various Bundists and associated groups in New York developed the practice of breaking up street meetings when either our party or some other workers' party would attempt to speak under a permit given by the city authorities. They had a habit of going around and molesting Jewish storekeepers, picketing them, and beating them, and challenging them to fight, and so on.

There was an organisation rampant at that time called the "Silver Shirts". I don't recall them in New York, but at various points in the West and Midwest.

- **Q:** Do you recall the Christian Front?
- A: Yes, in New York the Bundists and the Christian Front, and two or three other would-be fascist organisations, used to combine on this kind of business. At this time free speech was being very flagrantly denied in Jersey City under the authority of this man Hague who announced that he was the law, got the habit of chasing people out of town and permitting meetings to be broken up ostensibly not by the authorities, but by the "outraged citizens" whom he and his gang had organised for that purpose. In general there were signs then there was a lot of discontent and

unrest in the country — there were signs of a fascist movement growing up, and the question arose of how we could protect not only ourselves, but how could the unions protect themselves. For example, in Jersey City picketing was denied by these means and the right to strike infringed upon — very serious questions of the invasion of civil liberties by unofficial bodies.

Basing ourselves on the experiences of the German and Italian fascist movements, which began with gangs of hoodlums and ended by destroying completely the labor unions and all workers' organisations and all civil rights — we came to the conclusion that the fascists should be met on their own ground, and that we should raise the slogan of workers' defence guards to protect workers' meetings, halls and institutions against hoodlum violence by the incipient fascists.

We discussed that with Trotsky; his part in it was primarily an exposition of the development of the fascist movement in Europe. I don't recall now whether he originated the idea, but at any rate he heartily seconded it that our party should propose that the unions, wherever their peace was menaced by these hoodlums, should organise workers' defence guards and protect themselves.

- **Q:** And did the unions follow the advice of the party?
- A: I recall that we organised, in cooperation with some other radicals and some Jewish people even some Jewish nationalists who didn't agree with our socialist program, but agreed on defending their human rights to live we formed at that time a workers' defence guard in New York. To protect not only the meetings of our party but of any organisation menaced by these hoodlums. To protect citizens from molestation in the Bronx, where these hoodlums were intimidating and insulting Jewish people. This guard had several scuffles and fights with these gangs.

Then conditions in the country began to change. The economic situation in the country improved a bit. The question of the European war began to absorb attention, and take it away from these provincial American Hitlers. The fascist movement dropped into passivity and our workers' defence guard in New York didn't have anything to do and it just passed out of existence. In Los Angeles, if I recall correctly, there was a similar experience.

- Q: Did any international trade unions ever adopt that idea, as far as you know?
- A: I don't know. I know the question was raised in the Garment Workers Union, which had a double concern about the matter because, first, as a labor union they were menaced by the growth of fascism, and second, a large percentage of their members are Jews who are considered proper victims by these hoodlums. A resolution was passed in favor of the idea in one of the garment locals in New York, and was referred then to the International Executive Board for consideration,

and some correspondence and some interviews between our comrades who had sponsored the idea and the officers of the International Ladies' Garment Workers Union took place. I don't think it developed any further, either positively or negatively, because the fascist movement subsided and the issue got cold.

- **Q:** So that the issue of the workers' defence guard died down because a change of conditions occurred?
- **A:** Yes. We retained the proposal for workers' defence guards in our program. I believe it is on the editorial page of *The Militant* as one of the points we are proposing as a practical program.
- **Q:** And it becomes vital especially in view of a possible fascist movement in our country?
- A: Yes. At that time our paper was full of stories and articles about the Bundists and the Christian Fronters, and so on, but if you look over the files, they show a gradual recession of reports about fascist violence. And the question of the workers' defence guard left the pages of the paper and is only occasionally raised there now in a slogan.

(Defendants' Exhibit H was marked for identification.)

- The Witness (Continuing): I might add, Mr. Goldman, that so far as I know, there doesn't exist now any functioning workers' defence guard in any part of the country that our members are associated with, not to my knowledge. But we retain the idea for practical education in case the unions should again encounter the experience of those days.
- **Mr. Goldman:** I offer in evidence, Your Honour, Defendants' Exhibit H-1 to H-5, inclusive, being a copy of a resolution entitled "Convention Resolution on Workers' Defence Guard", published in the *Socialist Appeal* of July 7, 1939.

The Court: It will be received.

Mr. Goldman: I do not intend to read it, because the witness made an exposition of it. You can take the witness.

The Court: I think we might recess at this point.

(Afternoon Recess)

Expropriation of capitalist class

CROSS-EXAMINATION

By MR. SCHWEINHAUT (Prosecutor):

Q: Now you stated on direct examination that the expropriation of private property, without compensation, was not a principle of the Socialist Workers Party, but I

want to read to you from the Declaration of Principles this sentence, and ask you a question about it:

"The most important of the social economic measures to be taken by the workers' state in its initial period is the expropriation and socialisation, without compensation, of all monopolies in industry and land, or mines, factories, and shipping, all public utilities, railroads, airplane systems, and other organised means of communications, all banks, credit agencies, and gold stores, and all other supplies and services that the revolutionary government finds it necessary to take over in order to lay the foundations of a socialist society."

What have you to say about that, Mr. Cannon?

- **A:** If I remember correctly, I said it is not a principle of Marxism that property taken by the government cannot be compensated for.
- **Q:** Are you quite certain you were discussing Marxism as distinguished from the program of the party at the time?
- **A:** I think I referred to Marxist authorities. I had in mind particularly the authority of Trotsky.
- **Q:** Well, in any event it is a principle of the Socialist Workers Party that such property shall be taken without compensation?
- A: That is in the Declaration. But it is not a principle.
- **Q:** Would you mind explaining why the present owners of the property, who have acquired their ownership, at least by constitutional means, would be given nothing for it? Why is that principle embodied in the program of the party?
- **A:** The Sixty Families who own the bulk of the industries and banks of America are not rightfully entitled to so much ownership and power over the lives of the people who produced this property by their labor.
- **Q:** You would give them, then, no credit for their own industry and effort, education, intelligence —
- A: Yes, I would give them the same credit that every citizen will have who participates in the production of the wealth of the country that is, the opportunity to function in the new society on the basis of equality.
- **Q:** Yes. But I am talking about the time when you take the power and with it the property, as of that time you would take it over without any compensation, and I ask you therefore, why you do not at that time take into account the effort, the industry, the intelligence, and I might add, the risk of loss, that has been constantly present, of those people?
- **A:** What we are concerned with is the welfare of the great mass of the people. Their welfare categorically requires that the productive plants of this country be

transferred from private hands into the hands of the public. That is what we are concerned with first of all. Industry must be nationalised — private property must be eliminated in the industrial process. The question of the rights and the interests of the comparatively small number of the population who are affected by that drastic measure is naturally secondary to what we consider this public necessity, public interest.

I don't see any principled reason why such people, who are deprived of their ability or their power to exploit labor any more, cannot be given consideration on condition that they acquiesce in the will of the majority. They can be pensioned, they can be given consideration in view of their age, or their incapacity for labor, or their agreement not to resist by force the mandate of the majority.

As a matter of fact, I think we would be in favor of that.

- Q: You would give them a pension?
- A: Possibly, yes.
- **Q:** Well, now, is it your theory that no person who has acquired large property holdings could have done it in other ways than by the exploitation of the workers?
- A: That is the way property is created under capitalism.
- Q: Now, will you please tell us what you mean by "exploitation"?
- **A:** That means the employment of wage labor at a rate of pay less than the value of the product of the labor.
- **Q:** Well, then, it is an arbitrary dogma, shall we say, of the Socialist Workers Party that no person who labors is adequately paid under this present system of government?
- A: I wouldn't say "no person". Some people are very badly overpaid.
- **Q:** I am talking about the workers the same workers you are talking about.
- A: Yes, I can conceive of even a worker being overpaid that is, an unproductive, an unskilful or negligent worker.

But when we speak of wage labor we speak of the average, and the general rule. Marxism deals in the general and not in the analysis of each and every individual worker. The workers, taken collectively and an average struck, produce an enormous amount of wealth for which they do not receive the equivalent in wages. That is surplus value, according to Marxist terminology. That is profit that goes into the hands of the capitalists, not in return for labor but as profit on investment.

- Q: And you think they should have no profit on their investment?
- **A:** We want to eliminate the whole profit system. We want to have production for use, not for profit.
- **Q:** Well, now, you would expropriate the property, not only of the Sixty Families, but of anyone who owns property in a large measure, is that correct?

A: Our program specifically excludes the expropriation or interference with small proprietors. We speak of people who have big holdings and exploit labor. Their property shall be transferred to the ownership and control of the public as represented by the workers' and farmers' government.

America's 'Sixty Families'

- Q: Where did the term "Sixty Families" originate?
- **A:** To my knowledge, it first came to public attention through a book written by a brilliant journalist named Ferdinand Lundberg.

Four or five years ago Mr. Lundberg conducted researches into the ownership and control of American industry, banks, and so forth. Out of an exhaustive research he produced a remarkably documented book entitled *America's Sixty Families*, in which he set out facts and figures to prove that the decisive control of American industry, banks and other institutions which represent the real economic wealth and power of this country — that this is concentrated in the ownership and control of sixty families whom he listed.

Mr. Lundberg's work, as far as I know, has never been seriously controverted. I recall that even such a representative figure of the present administration as Secretary Ickes spoke on the radio and referred to this book as authority for some position he was taking in a current political dispute.

- **Q:** Now, then, you have used the term when you use it in the party literature literally then, have you not, having specific reference to sixty specific families?
- A: I wouldn't say it is an ironclad literal description. It is an approximation of the real situation. We don't propose to limit the thing exactly to that, but the expression "Sixty Families" graphically illustrates what has been happening in the country. While the workers were working and the farmers were farming, Sixty Families were getting control of the country, and it is a very graphic figure to use in our agitation. A lot of people don't realise what has been going on in the concentration of wealth in this country.
- **Q:** Let me ask you a question or two, if you please, about the concept of an imperialist capitalist government. You have said that the present government of the United States is both imperialist and capitalist.
- A: Yes.
- Q: You believe, then, that the government is the tool of the capitalists?
- A: It is the representative of the capitalists.
- **Q:** And then, in order to suppress the capitalists, should they resist you, it follows, of course that you must suppress the government?

- **A:** We are going to change the government.
- **Q:** So you are going to suppress the government as a natural concomitant of the transaction of suppressing the capitalists. That is correct, isn't it?
- A: After we get the majority and get the power if that power comes into our hands by peaceful, democratic processes, in that case we will radically change the whole structure of the government reorganising it on a basis of council representation, as I described this morning.
- **Q:** Well, now, suppose the government doesn't follow the example of Count Karolyi and turn it over to you. Then you are going to take it aren't you?
- A: You mean if they resist a majority in a democratic election?
- **Q:** Oh, you are going to do it by election?
- **A:** We are participating in elections all the time. All that we have said is that the ruling class of this country will resort to violence before there is a fair opportunity to test the majority or the minority in the democratic process.
- **Q:** Well, now, tell us how you think that is going to come about and work out here in this country. Don't for the purpose of that question, if you please, use the illustration of any other revolution. But how do you think it is going to work out here? Let me suggest your train of thought upon that: You say that if they resist an election, or something of that sort tell us what you mean by that; give us the program as you envision it.
- A: As things are going now, and as they conceivably can in the near future, we, as a minority party, will keep preaching our doctrines, recruiting members, doing our best to grow bigger, more popular, and get more support.

Naturally, if we have to rely solely on the effectiveness of our arguments, things remaining as they are, we will not grow very fast; but we, as Marxists, believe that historical development will come powerfully to the aid of our ideas. Continued bankruptcy of the present system, its inability to solve its problems, its worsening of the conditions of the people, will push them on the road in search of a solution of what seems to them an absolutely hopeless situation.

Under those conditions our program can appear to the people more and more plausible, more and more reasonable, and we can begin to become a stronger party. It has happened before with parties of similar ideas.

Capitalists will restrict democratic rights

- **Q:** I understand now; you are doing all right. But understand that I want you to tell us how you think it is going to work out in this country.
- A: As our party grows, it in itself will be a reflection of the growth and development

of the broad labor movement, the trade unions. The unions will be pushed more and more along the lines of aggressive action, because the capitalists of America don't think the workers are entitled to decent living and decent hours and will try to squeeze the workers down.

The capitalists will try to use the pretext of "national defence" and the war danger to deprive the workers of the right to strike. And once they have deprived the workers of the right to strike on so-called patriotic pretexts, then the capitalists will begin squeezing down wages and refusing concessions, and pushing the workers on the road to a more radical attitude toward the state of affairs, and our party will grow with that.

The next thing that will probably appear on the horizon is attempts of these Sixty Families and their supporters to stop the popularising of ideas inimical to the capitalists, and to check by legislation the organisation of the workers. You have the beginning of it here in Minnesota with the Stassen Anti-Strike Law.

They will begin arresting people for expressing their honest opinions, and putting them in jail, framing them up. They will begin organising bands of fascist hoodlums as, in Germany, Fritz Thyssen, the big steel magnate, confessed that he gave millions of marks to finance the organisation of Hitler's hoodlums. The task of Hitler's hoodlums was to go around breaking up workers' meetings, and by violent assaults depriving the workers of their civil liberties and democratic rights.

- **Q:** The capitalists will use legislation?
- **A:** Yes, legislation violating the First Amendment of the Constitution which prohibits this kind of legislation.

And in this situation they will go through the war. They won't stop with any army of a million and a half, they will organise an army of five million. They will send millions of American boys abroad for imperialist war adventures to protect their markets and their profits. Lives will be lost. Conditions at home will grow worse, because all this sixty to one hundred billions of dollars that they are appropriating for the wasteful expenses of war has got to be paid for by somebody and they will try to make the masses and the poor farmers pay it.

Misery will grow and increase, and demands will grow in this country, among people who want freedom and a right to live, for some way out of this madhouse of war and unemployment and growing fascism.

- Q: Will this be during the war now, this part in your story?
- A: Well, it can happen during the war, if the war is prolonged. Or it can happen in a catastrophically rapid manner at the end of the war, when millions of men return home from victories or defeats, as the case may be, to find no jobs waiting for

them, and the whole economic prosperity of the day is exploded because it is based on the production of armaments.

The moment they stop building battleships and bombers and guns and ammunition, and all the other implements of war, you will have an army of fifteen to twenty-five million unemployed in this country. The small businessmen will be ruined and the farmers who have been in a chronic crisis for twenty-five years will have still worsened conditions.

The people of this country are going to begin thinking seriously then about finding some kind of a political solution for this crisis that the present leaders got them into and can't get them out of. That is the way I visualise the development.

What do we want then? We want the simple right to advocate our ideas. We want the right to have free speech and free press and free assemblage.

- **Q:** I know, but I think you are getting a little bit off the track. You have gotten to the point now in your story of how it is going to come about in the United States where everybody is pretty unhappy about the situation, or maybe worse than unhappy angry. Go on from there and tell us what is the next step?
- A: That is what I intend to do. I said, what do we want in that situation?

We want the opportunity to continue explaining to the people of America what our plan is to solve this problem.

That is what we want, and granted that demand, we will put our program forward in elections. We will introduce resolutions in unions. We will introduce resolutions in farmers' organisations. We will try to bring about conferences between the workers in the cities and the farmers, to see if we can work out a joint program to propose a solution.

We will participate in elections, and if we are elected and are not deprived of our electoral rights, we will begin debating the question in Congress. Given this one small provision, that we retain our constitutional rights, we have every reason to be confident that we can win over the majority of the people to our program.

And the question of whether the will of this majority will be asserted in an orderly and democratic manner is not going to be determined by us; that is going to be determined by your Sixty Families, whether they want to begin the violence, or whether they want to accept a peaceful solution.

- **Q:** Wait a minute. You haven't gotten yourself elected to control of the government yet. You are just at a point where maybe you have won an election or two. You contemplate that you will be able to elect yourself into control of the government?
- **A:** I think it is conceivable, yes.
- Q: I mean, that is what you seek? That is your aim?

- A: That is the purpose in having candidates, to get them elected.
- **Q:** Do you believe you can accomplish the control or acquisition, shall we say, of governmental power by being elected to it?
- **A:** We can accomplish it if we are not interfered with by violence on the part of the capitalists.
- Q: You mean, the capitalists are not going to let you be elected?
- A: When we say that it is an illusion to expect that we can effect the social transformation by parliamentary action, that doesn't mean that we don't want to do it, or that we wouldn't gladly accept such a method. We don't believe, on the basis of our knowledge of history, and on the basis of our knowledge of the greed and rapacity of the American ruling class, that they will permit that kind of solution.
- **Q:** Then let's go back to the question that I asked you. You don't believe that the capitalists, the Sixty Families and what-not will permit you to be elected to power?
- **A:** No.
- **Q:** How are they going to stop you from doing that won't they let the people vote?
- **A:** They can stop it in various ways.
- **Q:** How are they going to do that?
- A: They can abrogate elections.
- **Q:** Tell us about that, please.
- A: That has been done, you know, so many times and in so many countries, that there is nothing novel about it.
- **Q:** How are they going to do that?
- **A:** By cancelling elections; and you know, we are not the only ones who anticipate such possibilities.
- Q: You mean, they are just not going to permit any elections to be held?
- A: Even such a public figure as Lindbergh has raised the question seriously whether there will be congressional elections permitted in 1942. I think he is ahead of time, but it is not necessarily a Trotskyist idea that they will stop elections.
- **Q:** Possibly I haven't made myself clear. I am trying to find out now, how the capitalists are going to prevent you from being elected into office? You said there were several ways they could do that One of them is to abrogate elections. Now, I ask you what you mean by that? Do you mean that the capitalists will not permit any elections at all to be held?
- **A:** That is possible, yes.
- **Q:** Is that one way you think you are going to be prevented from being elected into office?
- A: That is one way, yes; that has been done.

- Q: Here?
- A: Not here yet, no. In France, the Petain government wasn't elected and doesn't permit any elections to test it. They put an end to the democratic parliament. I personally think that —
- **The Court:** I think, Mr. Cannon, you ought to stick to the text suggested by the question. We are not interested in elections in France at this stage of the proceeding.
- **Q** (By Mr. Schweinhaut): Now, I don't want to prolong this, but I do want you to try to answer me. I want to know again how the capitalists in the United States of America are going to prevent you from being elected into office? Now, you have answered one of the several ways. They are going to stop elections from being held at all.
- A: Yes.
- **Q:** Tell us what other ways they are going to prevent you from being elected into office.
- A: Another way is to pass discriminatory legislation, penalising workers' parties.
- Q: Explain that please.
- **A:** Restricting the functioning of workers' parties, preventing their full freedom of action, which would be necessary to secure parliamentary victories.
- **Q:** And any other ways?
- A: Yes. Another way, the most likely way for the Sixty Families, is to organise and subsidise a fascist movement with the aim of destroying the labor movement by force before it has an opportunity to test its strength in elections.

That is the way it was done in Italy; and I would like to explain that I am only using these references to other countries because they throw light on the process that is possible here. It was not my intention to bring in these examples as an extraneous issue. We think capitalist society operates in one country or another according to similar laws under similar conditions.

- **Q:** Now, how are you going to prevent those things from happening? You want to stop them before they happen, I assume?
- A: Yes.
- **Q:** How are you going to do that?
- A: First of all, we are going to try to assert our rights. We are going to try our best to get the support of enough people, whether they agree with our political theory or not, to maintain the democratic processes and civil rights of all the population. We are going to try to do that.

When we see fascist bands organising with the aim of breaking up the labor movement, we are going to advise the workers, before it is too late, to organise

workers' defence guards and not permit the fascist hoodlums to break up workers' organisations and meetings. Those are two of the most important and immediate ideas we have about protecting the rights of the workers and their possibilities to develop their movement in a democratic process.

- **Q:** Now suppose there is no abrogation of elections. You are going to continue to propagandise only, is that correct?
- A: That is right.
- Q: To try to get yourselves elected into office?
- A: That is right.
- **Q:** No matter how long it takes?
- A: We can't determine the time at all.
- **Q:** Now how do you expect the capitalists to abrogate the elections? How will they accomplish that purpose?
- A: They can do it in various ways by decree, by vote of Congress declaring there is a state of emergency which requires dispensing with election struggles, and handing the power over to the president or somebody to rule for this period, which may be long or short but most likely it would be long.

That is precisely what was done to a legally constituted parliament elected by the suffrage of the French people, containing representatives of various parties — Socialists, Radical Socialist, Conservative, Communist and other parties. This parliament was dissolved, and a dictator appointed with power to rule the country at his will until further notice. That is what happened just like that (indicating).

- **Q:** Supposing they don't do those things that you anticipate, and you get yourself elected into control of the government, control of the Senate and the House, let us say, and you elect a president, too. Do you expect then that the army and navy are going to turn against you and try to resist your authority?
- A: I anticipate that some of the officers would those who are tied most closely to the upper circles of the ruling class. I would expect some of them to attempt to dispute the authority of the people's government That happened in other instances.
- **Q:** Yes, I know you are illustrating by that. I am talking about this country. You have got yourself elected into control of the government now. Now tell us how you expect the resistance against your authority is going to be made. Who is going to do it and how is it going to be done?
- A: It would be done by the agents of the ruling class that is facing dispossession.

'The same way Lincoln did'

Q: Do you expect the army and navy of the United States government to turn its guns

against you when you are in duly elected control of the government?

- A: Yes, I would expect some of the officers to do it not all of them. If all of the army and navy would be of such a mind, it would be manifestly impossible to be elected in the first place, because the army and navy are more or less in their ranks reflective of the general population, and if we are elected by a majority vote, you can be sure that our popularity in the masses of the people will be reflected in the military establishment That is always the case.
- Q: Well, how would you resist this uprising against you?
- A: The same way Lincoln did in 1861.
- **Q:** Would you already have an army, or would you use the army that you find standing when you came into power?
- A: We will just use what measures are possible. A good section of the American army and its best officers in 1861 revolted against the authority of the legally elected government of Lincoln. Lincoln took what he could and recruited some more and gave them a fight, and I always thought it was a wonderfully good idea.
- Q: But in the meanwhile you want to build, do you not a workers' militia?
- A: A workers' defence guard, yes.
- **Q:** I mean, not alone for the purpose of defending the union halls, but for other purposes, isn't that right? Don't you want to build, while you are advancing toward power, a workers' militia? To help you when you get into power?
- A: We use the expression "workers' defence guard" because that is most American and most easily and precisely defines what we want The workers' defence guards will grow in size and strength insofar as the guards have a task to perform, not because we want them to grow.

If the fascists grow and fight the unions, the unions must inevitably counter that movement by developing their defence guards, and if the defence guards are overpowered by fascist gangsters and hoodlums and thugs, the only answer of the unions can be to strengthen the guards, and in the course of that struggle between the fascist gangs and the workers' defence guards, we hope the workers, defence guards will grow strong and eventually become a very effective power.

- **Q:** Well, let's sort of boil the thing down a little bit. You do not expect that you will be able to be elected into office, do you?
- A: No, our program says we do not expect that, and for the reasons that I have given you.
- Q: But you expect to take power, nevertheless, do you not?
- **A:** Yes, the revolution can't be stopped by suppression, because the revolution is a tremendous social movement of great masses of people.

- **Q:** So your party looks forward to an inevitable civil war brought about by the difference between your views and those of the capitalists?
- A: If you will permit me, I would like to say we don't look forward to it in the sense of wanting it.
- Q: I understand you, yes.
- A: And we don't consider it inevitable. A variation of historical processes is possible. But we say the overwhelming weight of possibility, based upon historical experience, is that the ruling class of this country will attempt to resolve the conflict with the workers by fascist violence before we gain a majority in Congress. Or if it should come to the point where we gain a majority in a democratic election, the ruling class would stage a slaveholders' rebellion against it. And we will undertake to put down that rebellion as decisively as possible.
- **Q:** And to that end you want to start in advance to build up a workers' army, don't you?
- A: You can't by mere program build up a workers' army to confront such a thing. The force of the workers will grow up out of their unions, out of their workers' defence guards, out of the rank and file of the soldiers and the farmers who are in the armed forces, who will not support the slaveholders' rebellion. We will not be without resources if we have a majority of the people.
- **Q:** I understand that. Now, the setting up of union defence guards in all trade unions would be very beneficial to your program if the resistance you anticipate occurs, wouldn't it?
- A: It will be an absolutely indispensable thing, yes.
- **Q:** So that it is a good idea for your ultimate purposes to have union defence guards right now?
- A: It is a good idea, if you can organise them. But you cannot organise workers' defence guards merely because you want them only when there is a pressing need for them that is obvious to the workers, regardless of their agreement with our ideas.
- **Q:** It would be a pleasing thing, would it not, to the Socialist Workers Party to be able to establish workers' guards in all trade unions for the ultimate purpose of the party?
- A: I would go further than that and say that the establishment of workers' defence guards is an almost automatic process as the unions encounter the violence of fascist hoodlums. Our task will be to accelerate it, to say it is a good idea, build it up and make it stronger and don't let the fascists break up your movement and drive you into slavery.

But the guard is not something we can suck out of our fingers. It is a natural process growing out of the development of the struggle and we try to see it in advance, try to accelerate it, try to popularise the idea, convince the workers it is a good thing, and bestir themselves about it.

But no matter how many books we write, or how much we holler, we couldn't organise a workers' defence guard in any place where a union is operating uninterfered with. That is illustrated, you may say, by way of Minneapolis where we have very good friends and influential comrades in the unions — but when the Silver Shirt menace disappeared, the union defence guard just didn't find any function, and dropped into quiescence. It can't be built artificially.

- Q: Are you saying that the union defence guard doesn't exist any longer?
- **A:** I don't know whether it exists formally, but it doesn't function, as far as I was able to judge from the testimony.

Workers army after revolution

- **Q:** Now, let me ask you this question: After you get into power, you are going to establish an army, aren't you?
- A: Eventually, yes.
- **Q:** Your Declaration of Principles says the workers' state will not have a professional army, but will depend upon a mass workers' militia in which distinctions other than those required for technical efficiency will be abolished and democratic control over officers will be exercised by the ranks.
- A: That has always been the Marxist conception of an army.
- **Q:** Well now, would you mind elaborating on that a little bit?
- A: We want to do away with professional soldiers. The workers' state would probably for some time need a military establishment even if it came to an agreement with the dispossessed capitalists here to pension them off in return for their submission to the decision of the majority. There is the possibility that a capitalist Europe, a Hitler or something like that, would menace our country, and we would have to maintain a military establishment to defend the country.

Our idea is not to have a professional soldier class except, of course, in technical competence. Every able-bodied citizen would be liable for military service, alternately. The people should be armed.

Q: I think I probably understand that, but specifically will you tell us what this means (*reading from the Declaration of Principles*):"in which distinctions other than those required for technical efficiency will be abolished and democratic control over officers will be exercised by the ranks". Let's take the first one: "distinctions other

than those required for technical efficiency will be abolished". What does that mean?

A: There have to be certain people in the military establishment who are proficient in certain techniques — artillery, aircraft, and so on.

The distinctions that we want abolished are the distinctions of privilege in the army, the distinctions which make it possible for the officers to have greater compensations than the soldier, and not only greater, but so far greater that the officer lives in a different world. It is possible for the officer to marry, to have a social life, to live something like a human being; while the soldier, because of his low wages, is deprived of these possibilities.

If we had our way, we would abolish these distinctions of privilege and secure to every member of the military apparatus a more or less similar compensation, regulation of privileges, and so on. Of course, I don't say that applies only to the army. That applies to society in general, in our theory.

- **Q:** The private would be equal to the major-general under that theory, in all respects, to use an extreme basis, I suppose?
- **A:** Equal not in his military knowledge equal not in his military position, but equal in his right to have a decent living and social life. Why shouldn't he?
- Q: I am asking you. Take the captain, would he be able to give orders to his privates?
- A: Yes.
- **Q:** Would they have to take the orders?
- A: Yes, you can't have a military establishment without discipline, without command.
- Q: What do you mean by "control over officers exercised by the ranks"?
- A: We are in favor of the ranks having the privilege of electing their officers in the military establishment, the same way they have the privilege of electing their city officials in civil life, or their union officials in the unions. We believe that on the whole they would get a better grade of officers, and ones in whom they would put more confidence, than by having officers imposed upon them. You will get a better discipline because of the democratic right granted to the rank and file to select their officers.
- **Q:** Now, will you have a sort of political commissar, if that is the proper word, which would have control over the officers in the army?
- A: That all depends on whether the officers are considered reliable or not.
- Q: They had it, I believe, did they not, in Soviet Russia?
- **A:** Yes, in the army after the revolution they had a lot of officers trained in the czarist regime.
- Q: Would that be what you mean by democratic control of the officers?

- **A:** No, that is an entirely different thing. By democratic control of the officers, we mean the right of the ranks to elect them and to recall them.
- **Q:** But would you have any representative of the state administrative office, or whatever you call it, with the troops, and in control of the officers?
- A: You are speaking of the institution of commissars in the Russian army?
- **Q:** I don't know whether I am or not. I am asking you.
- A: I will explain that, but that is a different point. In the reconstituted army, organised by Trotsky after the revolution, they naturally had to rely on tens of thousands of officers who had been trained under the czarist regime. The workers had had no chance to train any of their people to be officers. Many officers rallied to the support of the Soviet government, for various reasons. Some of them became converted to the revolution. Others remained hostile to the revolution but were patriotic to the country, and were willing to fight to defend it against the interventionists. Others reconciled themselves to reality, and made the best of it.

But many of them, naturally, were considered politically unreliable. The control exercised by commissars over them was not a control from the ranks such as we propose by election. This was control from the top of the government. The commissar was appointed as a trusted representative of the central government to work with the officer and see that he conducted himself loyally. That is what was worked out in life in the Russian experience.

We haven't even mentioned it in our program, because we don't know what will happen here.

I should add that insofar as these officers became assimilated into the new regime, and new officers were trained, the necessity for the commissar over the officer of doubtful loyalty was eliminated, and to that extent the institution was reduced.

- **Q:** I would like to know whether or not having those political commissars is embraced within the program of the Socialist Workers Party?
- A: No, I don't think it is stated in our program.
- Q: I am asking you.
- **A:** No, it is neither incorporated nor rejected. It is one of numerous ideas that remain to be answered.
- Q: They had the same system in the Spanish Civil War recently, didn't they?
- A: To some extent they did, yes.
- **Q:** Will you explain to us a little bit or use the Spanish Civil War as an illustration of the desirability of your own program that there be training under trade-union control and that sort of thing? Will you elaborate on that for us a little bit?

A: I mentioned that the People's Front coalition secured a majority in the elections. The reactionary minority then revolted and started a rebellion by armed force, taking with them a considerable section of the staff of the army. On the other hand, as is nearly always the case, a section of the staff remained loyal to the legally constituted government, as was the case here in our Civil War — there was a division in the army.

The workers previously had clamored for arms, but the People's Front government had refused to give them arms, and delayed so long that the workers hadn't acquired any training in the use of arms. That is one of the reasons for the victory of fascism in Spain.

The workers' organisations were the most aggressive opponents of the fascists. Our party in Spain, while it did not give political support to the People's Front government, did support and participate in the military struggle to beat back the fascists, fought in the army side by side with the republicans and democrats and so on.

The unions and workers' organisations found that they could organise and equip and put men in the field far better through their own machinery than they could through the People's Front government. The powerful unions there organised their own regiments. The political parties organised their own regiments, and they were incorporated in the fighting lines side by side with the republicans and the official forces, and fought together. Without them, a serious military struggle wouldn't have been possible in Spain. If the workers of Spain had had opportunity for military training in the previous years, particularly had they had a chance to train men to be officers, I think it is quite possible that the military outcome in Spain would have been different.

- **Q:** Let me ask you this: The Loyalist army during the war had adopted, had it not, a theory of democratic control over officers and election of officers somewhat like that advocated by your party?
- A: I believe to a certain extent that prevailed at first in some of the regiments controlled by the unions. Whether it prevailed in the army as a whole, I don't really know. I am not acquainted with sufficient intimacy with the military side of the Spanish Civil War to know that.
- **Q:** Your party believes that the present army of the United States should be run that way, doesn't it?
- A: Yes, we believe the ranks should have the right to elect their officers.
- Q: Right now?
- A: Right now.

Q: And in the event we get into war?

A: Yes, all the more so then, because then it is all the more important to the ranks of the soldiers to have officers that they want and that they can trust because they are going into dangerous situations. It is a very, very unhappy business to be sent into danger of one's life under officers who are not trusted.

- **Q:** Your party members are instructed, are they not, to continue to be faithful to the party principles and theories after they are inducted into the army?
- **A:** They are not instructed, but it is taken for granted that a man who is educated in our movement never forsakes his principles under any circumstances.

Mr. Schweinhaut: Would Your Honour be willing to suspend at this point?

The Court: Ladies and gentlemen of the jury, tomorrow is Thanksgiving Day, and we shall observe it I hope you have a pleasant day and a comfortable one.

You will please keep in mind the admonitions of the court.

We will recess now until ten o'clock on Friday morning.

(Whereupon, at 4:35 o'clock P.M., a recess was regularly taken until 10:00 o'clock A.M., Friday, November 21, 1941.)

District Court of the United States District of Minnesota, Fourth Division. Friday, November 21, 1941 10:00 o'clock A. M.

James P. Cannon

One of the defendants, previously sworn, recalled, testified as follows: CROSS-EXAMINATION

By Mr. Schweinhaut:

- **Q:** Mr. Cannon, I want to read to you a clause from the *Communist Manifesto*, about which Mr. Goldman interrogated you on Friday or whenever it was: "The Communists disdain to conceal their views and aims. They openly declare that their ends can be attained only by the forcible overthrow of all existing social conditions." Does that represent the party's view or not?
- A: Insofar as it is incorporated in the Declaration of Principles it does. We have interpreted that, as all other Marxist writings, in our own way, as it appears in the Declaration of Principles.
- **Q:** You will agree, will you not, that taken as it stands, and without anything else, it amounts to advocacy of the overthrow of the government by force?

- A: No, I do not interpret it that way.
- **Q:** You do not agree that that is what it means?
- A: We do not interpret it that way, but in the Declaration of Principles —
- **Q:** I am asking you whether or not, taking this language alone, and without anything else, do you not agree that it amounts to advocacy of the overthrow of government by force?
- A: No, not necessarily because the authors of that same document in the statement that I cited the other day, stated specifically that they thought their aims could be attained, at least in England, by the process of parliamentary democracy.
- Q: Now, you know that that is not in answer to my question, don't you, Mr. Cannon? Let me ask you this, please: . Taking that language which I just read to you alone, and without anything else, don't you agree that it amounts to advocacy of overthrow of government by force?
- **A:** No, I don't think so, because the authors themselves have interpreted it differently at least in the case of England.
- **Q:** All right we will let that go. When you give out the *Communist Manifesto* to your members, do you caution them against that sentence?
- **A:** I don't know, particularly, that we do. We publish it as a historic document, ninetythree years old.
- **Q:** You would expect the members of the party, when they read that, to understand when they read it, that it does not represent the views of the party, and that it does not advocate overthrow of government by force?
- A: We expect the members of the party to be governed by the Declaration of Principles.
- **Q:** Now, I wish to read to you from the *Founding Conference of the Fourth International*, where I find this phrase: "The strategical task of the Fourth International lies not in reforming capitalism but in its overthrow."⁶ Doesn't that mean that you do not even intend to attempt anything by legislative reformation?
- A: No, it does not mean that.
- Q: What does it mean?
- A: On the contrary, we are constantly proposing legislative changes.
- **Q:** What does that sentence mean to you, as found there?
- **A:** We do not expect to attain the final aims of socialism by the reformation of capitalism which we consider an outlived system. Meanwhile, we are constantly looking out, on the road to the time when we will be able to accomplish our final aims, for suitable occasions to propose timely reforms.
- **Q:** Isn't it a fact that throughout your literature there is constant ridicule of any idea of reforms?

- A: We do not think the final aims of socialism can be accomplished by reforming a state or system which has to be replaced. But we do not consider reforms and revolution incompatible, not at all.
- **Q:** Now, I find this line in *The Revolution of 1905* by Lenin: "It is our duty —"

Mr. Goldman: That was not admitted in evidence, Your Honour.

- Mr. Schweinhaut: I am not saying it was. I want to ask the witness something about it.
- **Q** (*Continued*): "It is our duty in time of an uprising to exterminate ruthlessly all the chiefs of the civil and military authorities."⁷ Does that represent the party's views?
- A: No, we have never made any such declaration.
- Q: You disagree with that?
- A: Yes, I don't know that that is in any way a statement of our party policy.
- **Q:** That is part of the philosophy and dogma of Lenin with which you do not agree is that correct?
- **A:** We do not agree with the extermination of anybody unless it is in case of an actual armed struggle, when the rules of war apply.
- **Q:** Then in the event that your party leads an uprising, would you agree then that the chiefs of the civil and military authorities should be exterminated ruthlessly?
- **A:** I do not want to be made responsible, or I do not want the party made responsible, for such statements that are not in our official declarations.
- **Q:** But you have told us that the basic views of Lenin are the basic views of the Socialist Workers Party, have you not?
- **A:** That is right and I told you at the same time that that does not mean that we take every letter and line written by Lenin as dogma.
- Q: And this is one that you do not regard as dogma, is that right?
- A: Certainly not with the interpretation you give it.
- **Q:** Let me read to you some quotations from the publication *What is Trotskyism?* designated as "Outline Course No. 2, by Jack Weber", also distributed by your party: "To realise socialism Marxism posits that it is first necessary to destroy the state machinery of the capitalist ruling class: namely, the army, the police and the state bureaucracy." And then: "The policy of Marxism remains that of utilising the war and the arming of the workers to further the interests of the world revolution, to turn the imperialist war into civil war, to look upon the bourgeoisie at home as the main enemy." And then: "The working class cannot win power by pursuing a policy of fascism." Doesn't that mean that you and your party intend, in the forthcoming war, if we get into it, to use that means for fomenting civil war?
- **A:** I would not put it in such a bald manner as that. I have explained here in some detail that we would continue to propagate our ideas under all circumstances,

insofar as we are permitted to do so. We believe that the prolongation of the war conducted by the imperialist powers will have the inevitable effect of accelerating the decay of the system represented by the imperialist powers, of increasing the mass misery and discontent and the demand for cessation of the slaughter, and our party will certainly undertake to offer to the public in such a situation the alternative of socialism, that is right.

'Will not give political support to war'

- **Q:** And you will seek to utilise war, during the war, to destroy the present form of government will you not?
- A: Well, that is no secret, that we want to change this form of government.
- **Q:** And you look forward, do you not, to the forthcoming war as the time when you may be able to accomplish that?
- **A:** Yes, I think the forthcoming war will unquestionably weaken the imperialist governments in all countries.
- **Q:** You said, I believe, that you will not support the war? You do not believe in national defence at all, do you?
- A: Not in imperialist countries, no.
- Q: I am speaking of this country.
- A: I believe 100 percent in defending this country by our own means, but I do not believe in defending the imperialist governments of the world —
- **Q:** I am speaking about the government of the United States as it is now constitutionally constituted. You do not believe in defending that, do you?
- A: Not in a political sense, no.
- Q: You do not believe in defending it in any sense, do you?
- **A:** I explained the other day, that if the majority of the people decide on war, and participate in the war, our people and the people under our influence will also participate in the war. We do not sabotage the war, we do not obstruct it but we continue to propagate our ideas, calling for a cessation of the war and calling for a change in government.
- **Q:** Do you mean by that statement that your people, when inducted into the army, would be good soldiers?
- A: Yes.
- **Q:** And that they would seek to further the military efforts of the United States?
- A: We say that our people must be good soldiers in the army, in the same sense that they are good workers in the factory, and good unionists in the union. Otherwise, they could not possibly have any influence over their comrades.

- **Q:** How can you reconcile that statement with the statement appearing in the *Socialist Appeal* of August 1, 1939:.. "A Socialist who preaches national defence is a pettybourgeois reactionary at the service of a decaying capitalism." How do you reconcile your previous answer to my question, with the statement made there?
- **A:** We are not in favor of defending the present regime. We are opposed to the present regime.
- **Q:** And your members who are soldiers in the army, when they are inducted into the army, will be opposed to it?
- **A:** So far as their ideas are concerned, yes, so far as their expression of opinion is concerned, insofar as they are permitted to express their opinion.

We do not believe in capitalist authority and direction in the factory either, but as long as we are in the minority and cannot prevent it, we work in the factory, and insist that our people be good workers.

- **Q:** And while you are working in the factory, you try to do everything you can to fight against the bosses?
- **A:** We do everything we can in the way of explaining and propagandising to our fellow workers the idea that it is better for them to own the factories than to be wage workers under the control of a private owner.
- **Q:** And personally, you ridicule the idea of defending the United States government don't you?
- A: In the sense of giving political support to all forms of capitalist government, yes.
- **Q:** I will read from one of your own speeches, and see whether that means political opposition. On November 14, 1939, in a speech of yours, you said —
- A: What was the date again?
- **Q:** November 14, 1939. This speech of yours was reported in the *Internal Bulletin*, for members only. You said: "Some comrades speak nowadays of giving 'conditional' defence to the Soviet Union. If you stop to think about it we are for conditional defence of the United States. It is so stated in the program of the Fourth International. In the event of war we will absolutely defend the country on only one small 'condition':that we first overthrow the government of the capitalists and replace it with a government of the workers." Did you mean political opposition by that?
- **A:** I meant, that in that case we would withdraw our political opposition and become political supporters as well as military participants of the war.
- **Q:** Do you think that statement is consistent with what I just read, which was stated by you in your speech?
- A: That is what I meant by it We have never at any time said we would not fight in the

army of the United States alongside of the rest of our generation, in time of war. We said: "We will not give political support to war."

- **Q:** Let's see whether your statement in the Declaration of Principles is consistent with what you just said:(*Reading*) "If, in spite of the efforts of the revolutionists and the militant workers, the US government enters a new war, the SWP will not under any circumstances support that war but will on the contrary fight against it. The SWP will advocate the continuance of the class struggle during the war regardless of the consequences for the outcome of the American military struggle; and will try to prepare the masses to utilise the war crisis for the overthrow of US capitalism and the victory of socialism." Does that mean that you are supporting the war effort?
- A: No, I have never said that we support the war effort. We do not. We oppose it.
- **Q:** And could one of your party members observe that principle and be a good soldier?
- A: He could be; he not only could, but he will, in the same way that he can be a good worker in a shop while opposing wage labor in the shop. We cannot prevent it as long as we are in the minority.
- **Q:** The Declaration of Principles also says: "The Socialist Workers Party opposes and will continue at all times to oppose every form of social-patriotism, all advocacy of 'national union' or 'suspension of the class struggle during war time'" —
- A: That is under conditions of a capitalist government.
- Q: You mean under the present conditions in this country today, do you not?
- A: That is right.
- Q: But still you say that you would not obstruct the military?
- A: No, not in a military sense.
- **Q:** 1 want to ask you whether what I am about to read now does not mean that you want to foment and bring about a civil war, from the pamphlet *Are You Ready for War* published by the Fourth International, Young Peoples Socialist League: "Do we believe in turning imperialist war into civil war? This is the way by which the Russian workers secured peace in 1917 while their brothers in other lands were still struggling under the yoke of imperialism. This is the only way by which permanent peace can be gained and war abolished from the face of the earth." Doesn't that mean that you intend to foment and deliberately try to bring about civil war during the forthcoming period of war?
- A: Conditions mature for the development of a revolutionary movement in wartime. We continue our opposition to the imperialist system, the imperialist regime, and try to lead it in the direction of socialism. There is no doubt whatever but what that

is the aim of our party.

- **Q:** This is from one of your convention resolutions to the same general effect ,and I suppose your answer would be the same: "If the working class is unable to prevent the outbreak of war, and the United States enters directly into it, our party stands pledged to the traditional position of revolutionary Marxism. It will utilise the crisis of capitalist rule engendered by the war to prosecute the class struggle with the utmost intransigence, to strengthen the independent labor and revolutionary movement and to bring the war to a close by the revolutionary overturn of capitalism and the establishment of proletarian rule in the form of a workers' state."⁸ Is that your idea of not obstructing the military effort of this country?
- **A:** Yes, that is a clear statement of our aims. We are going to oppose the war; we are going to speak against it.
- Q: Do you suggest that this language means that you will only speak against it?
- A: If you try to construe that to mean that we are going to instruct our people, or the people under our influence, to obstruct the military prosecution of the war, to break discipline, to commit sabotage, to create actions of this kind, that does not mean that. It means political opposition.
- **Q:** Reading now from the "Manifesto of the Fourth International on the Imperialist War and the Proletarian Revolution", I read this: "Every rank and file member of our organisation is not only entitled but is duty bound to consider himself henceforth an officer in the revolutionary army which will be created in the flame of events."⁹ Do you think your members could be good soldiers and not obstruct the military effort if they obeyed that principle?
- A: That does not necessarily mean officers in a military sense. When we speak of the revolutionary army, we use it in many senses. We speak of the party as the revolutionary army; we speak of the movement of the proletariat as the revolutionary army; not always in a military sense. That would not mean literally in a military sense because —
- **Q:** I am not asking you if it does. I am asking whether one could be a good soldier in the American army and obey that principle?
- A: Yes, if not, he would not have influence enough to be an officer anywhere.
- **Q:** Let me read to you from one of your speeches on military policy, appearing in the *Socialist Appeal* of October 26, 1940: "How do we work in a conscript army, someone asked. We work the same way as in a shop. Indeed, the main purpose of industry now is supplying the army. Where would you draw the line? There is hardly an industry that won't be mobilised either for the manufacture or transportation of materials for the army. The masses are in the army, or working

to supply the army. The workers are subject to military exploitation. We go in and defend the interests of the slaves of military exploitation, just as we go into the factory and fight against the capitalist exploitation there. Our basic line everywhere is the class line.

"The second point is to be careful, cautious. Make no putsches, make no premature moves that expose us and separate us from the masses. Go with the masses. Be with the masses, just as the Bolsheviks were in Kerensky's army. Why can't we do that here? And how otherwise can we do it? How otherwise, in a world dominated by militarism, can we see our way to world salvation except through military means? And how can we get these military means except by penetrating the army as it exists?"

You mean by that, do you not, that you want your members, when inducted into the army service, to preach your doctrines to other soldiers in the army, and thereby defend them against military exploitation by their commanding officers? Isn't that a fair statement of what that means?

- A: Our party is in favor of defending the rights of the rank and file soldiers, their democratic rights to decent treatment, their rights to express their opinions and to petition Congress, to elect their officers, at least their lower officers, generally protecting them against capitalist mistreatment.
- **Q:** And that is what you want your members that are in the army now to do, to speak in favor of and to propagate those ideas?
- A: Yes.
- Q: In the army?
- A: In the same way that they do it in the shop.
- Q: But you do not think that would obstruct the military effort of the army?
- A: If you will read that again you will see that we do not want any putsches. We say to the members "Do not make any putsches, and do not obstruct the army." It is our direct instruction to our people not to create obstruction of the military operation, but to confine their efforts to propagandistic work, to gain the sympathy and support of the rank and file masses.

Rights of rank-and-file soldiers

- **Q:** And you believe that your people can propagate that kind of stuff in the army and not obstruct the military efforts?
- A: Yes, I think so. I think military life, as a matter of fact, will be a whole lot better, the more the rights and feelings of the rank and file soldiers are considered. The whole conception of militarism based on a rank and file without organisation rights, and

with arbitrary discipline imposed from above, without any expression of opinion or consideration for the feelings of the masses — we are just as much against that in the army as in the factory or in civil life.

- **Q:** And the way you are talking now is the way you want your members to talk in the army, is it?
- A: Each in his own way.
- **Q:** Now, on June 29, 1940, the *Socialist Appeal* published this from the report of the "Manifesto of the Fourth International": "Independently of the course of the war, we fulfil our basic task: ... We explain to the workers the irreconcilability between their interests and the interest of bloodthirsty capitalism; we mobilise the toilers against imperialism; we propagate the unity of the workers in all warring and neutral countries; we call for the fraternisation of workers and soldiers within each country, and of soldiers with soldiers on the opposite side of the battlefront; we mobilise the women and youth against the war; we carry on constant, persistent, tireless preparation of the revolution in the factories, in the mills, in the villages, in the barracks, at the front and in the fleet."¹⁰ You want the soldiers to do that, don't you?
- **A:** Yes, I think that is a summation of the idea, for the soldiers and everybody to do that. That is the way to put an end to this slaughter.
- **Q:** And you do not think that promulgating those ideas in the army during the war would obstruct the military efforts?
- A: Not in the sense of opening up the front for the advantage of opposing armies, no. We are offering this solution to the soldiers of all the imperialist armies, but it does not mean and could not mean in any sense that we want to sabotage the operation of the American army in the interests of an opposing army. You will not find it there, or anywhere else in our literature.
- **Q:** Well, that is a difference in points of view. In the *Socialist Appeal* of March 30, 1940, appears this editor's note in the Workers Forum, which says: "Entering the army upon being drafted is necessary for our work." What do you mean by that?
- A: Is there a connecting sentence with it?
- **Q:** It is from Exhibit 215-A. Mr. Smith will get that for us. While Mr. Smith is looking for that, I will ask you about this from the *Socialist Appeal* of June 29, 1940, an article entitled "Enlistment Lag Forces Compulsion": "Meanwhile, let the workers remember this. When they are conscripted, let them not waste the period they spend in the army. They must learn everything there is to be learned about military training so that when the time comes they can use that training for the interests of the labor movement." What do you mean by that?

- A: Meaning that the better trained the workers are, the better instructed in tactics and in military acts, the better they will be able to defend their socialist regime against the efforts of the minority reactionaries to overthrow it.
- **Q:** This is the context from the Workers Forum, editor's note, March 30, 1940: "We follow Lenin; we oppose war, not as a measure of self-expression, but as an integral part of our struggle for the overthrow of capitalism. Entering the army upon being drafted is necessary for our work."
- A: For our people, or people under our influence, to refuse to accept conscription, the only thing they would accomplish would be to simply isolate themselves from the generation who are going to decide things in the future, and such individual or minority actions are utterly false and incompatible with the aims of a party that can only realise its program by support of the majority.

That is why we oppose conscientious objectors, and why we oppose draftevaders. We oppose all people who try to set themselves up as individuals against the majority. Our policy is to submit to the decision of the majority, but to oppose it in our political activities, to speak against it.

- **Q:** In October 1938, you made a speech on "Ten Years of the Fight to Build a Revolutionary Party in the United States" in which you said this: "In the great Minneapolis strikes 'Trotskyism' revealed itself in the most dramatic fashion, as no bookman's dogma but a guide to the most militant and most effective action." What did you mean by that?
- A: That in the strike in Minneapolis in 1934 some comrades affiliated with our party played a leading influence, or a part of the leading influence, and demonstrated in practice that the principles of Trotskyism are the best and most effective principles, and can be applied most effectively in the interests of the workers.
- **Q:** Would this be a demonstration of this principle? In *The Militant* of July 12, 1941, under the heading, "Local 544-C10's Proud and Stainless Record" this was said: "During the first drivers' strike of May 1934, the employers threw against the embattled transport workers the entire police force of Minneapolis and 5,000 special deputies armed with clubs and guns. In a historic battle the 'Battle of Bulls Run' the drivers fought the police and deputies to a standstill and chased them off the streets of the city." Is that Trotskyism demonstrating itself?
- A: Well, I can give you my own opinion, that I am mighty proud of the fact that Trotskyism had some part in influencing the workers to protect themselves against that sort of violence.
- Q: Well, what kind of violence do you mean?
- A: This was what the deputies were organised for, to drive the workers off the street.

They got a dose of their own medicine. I think the workers have a right to defend themselves. If that is treason, you can make the most of it.

Legality of the Russian Revolution

- **Q:** When you were tracing the history of the Russian Revolution, you said this: "The Kerensky government was losing ground because it was not solving any problems of the people. The Bolsheviks' slogans of 'Bread' and other slogans those were the slogans that the masses wanted. The Bolsheviks got a majority in the Petrograd Soviet. On November 7 was held the Congress of the All-Russian Soviets. The Bolsheviks had a majority there, and simultaneously with the meeting of the All-Russian Soviet, where the Bolsheviks had a majority, they took the power from the government." Now, do you want us to understand from that, that the Bolsheviks took power by virtue of a majority vote of the Congress of the Soviets?
- A: That is right.
- Q: Do you not mean that the contrary was true?
- A: No, I do not.
- **Q:** Don't you know that there was a planned insurrection before the Congress, and that the insurrection actually took place before the Congress met?
- **A:** No. The Congress met the morning after the struggle had begun, and confirmed the new government.
- **Q:** The fact is that the insurrection was started and was completed before the Congress ever met, isn't it?
- A: No, the power was in the Congress, and the Congress was the real power.
- **Q:** Well, just answer my question, please. Isn't it a fact that the insurrection had been planned and actually carried out before the Congress ever met?
- **A:** No. The question was submitted to the All-Russian Congress of the Soviets on November 7. That is why they call it the November 7 Revolution.
- **Q:** Don't you know, further, that Lenin persistently warned against waiting for the Congress and doing it in a legal way?
- A: Oh, that was one time that Lenin was overruled.
- Q: And who won?
- A: Trotsky won.
- Q: Isn't it also a fact that Trotsky ridiculed the notion that it was done legally?
- **A:** No, on the contrary, Trotsky commented on the legal sanction of the action by the Soviets. That was why it was delayed to November 7.
- **Q:** Isn't it also true that he lulled Kerensky into inaction by pretending to wait until the Congress met, so that it could be decided legally who was to take power?

- A: He did not pretend to wait. He waited.
- **Q:** I submit that the contrary is true, in that Mr. Trotsky said so, and I would like to read to you about ten pages or so from the *Lessons of October*, and then you can tell me whether I am right or wrong.
- (Mr. Scheweinhaut reads from pages 74 and 80 of Trotsky's Lessons of October.)
- **Mr. Goldman:** I submit Your Honour, that this book was ruled out of evidence. I have no objection if he wants to read one or two or perhaps three sentences, but to take advantage of cross-examination and put into evidence what the Court has ruled out, I think is going a little too far.
- The Court: Well, this has to do, I suppose, with the dispute between counsel and witness, as to the facts with reference to which the witness takes one position and counsel takes an other. Now this is an attempt to impeach the statements of the witness by the means indicated. I assume he has a right to do that. He may continue to read it.

Mr. Goldman: Exception.

- (Mr. Schweinhaut reads pages 80-91 from Trotsky's Lessons of October.)
- Mr. Schweinhaut: Now, am I right or wrong, Mr. Cannon, that the insurrection actually started and was concluded before the Soviet Congress put its seal of legality on it?
- A: If you will permit me, I will show you where you are wrong. You misunderstood the whole thing; my authority for the evidence I gave here was Trotsky. He wrote the most authoritative and authentic history of the revolution. Perhaps I should mention several things to show where you are wrong:

First those pages you have read show that there were three different opinions in the Central Committee of the Communist Party. Lenin said they had a majority, and they should take the power without waiting. There was the opinion of Zinoviev and Kamenev who thought the Bolsheviks did not have a majority and should not take the power. And the third opinion was Trotsky's that they could base the assumption of power on the legality of the Soviets.

Second, those pages you read prove that both the Mensheviks and the Bolsheviks derived their authority from the Soviets. In November it became clear that the Bolsheviks had won the majority in the Soviets. Kerensky, who formerly had the majority in the Soviets, prepared to move troops from the capital. What did the troops do? The troops refused to go until ordered by the Congress of Soviets. The Congress of the Soviets convened on November 7. It was revealed that the Bolsheviks had the majority, and their assumption of power was confirmed.

In this All-Russian Congress of Soviets were present the other parties who had been the majority of yesterday. They spoke and debated there. When the vote was taken, the Bolsheviks had the majority. The Bolsheviks offered to give proportionate places in the government to the other parties. They refused and walked off. The Bolsheviks did, as a matter of fact incorporate into the government, a section of Kerensky's party, the left wing of the Social Revolutionary Party.

It seems to me that here is an excellent illustration of how a revolutionary party, after long propagandistic work, succeeded in a political crisis in winning over to its side a majority of the population represented in the most authoritative body, the Soviets of Workers', Soldiers' and Peasants' Deputies. And the Bolsheviks, adapting themselves to the legality of this authoritative body —

- **Q:** Now, just a minute. Are you still telling us how it occurred, or are you just telling us now that you think it was a mighty fine thing?
- A: No, I am explaining the legality of the development as against your interpretation that it was illegal. And it seems to me —
- **Q:** I don't want your opinion on that. If you want to go on and tell us what happened, all right. Don't characterise it.
- A: I don't think you will ever get a more legal revolution than that.
- Mr. Schweinhaut: That is all.

Defence Policy in the Minneapolis Trial A Criticism

By Grandizo Munis

The initiation on the part of the United States government of a prosecution of the Socialist Workers Party and of the leaders of the Drivers Union of Minneapolis made us fear a decapitation, even though temporary, of our American movement. It filled us with a joyful hope at the same time, sure that the persecution by the bourgeois tribunals would popularise our revolutionary ideas when it gave our militants the opportunity to expound them completely and valiantly. It has been the norm and pride of the world revolutionary movement since the ringing reply of Louise Michel to her judges and of Karl Marx to the Bismarckian tribunal, to convert the accused into accusers and to employ the witness stand as a fortress from which to attack the reactionary powers. This attitude has been one of the principal forces of attraction of the revolutionary movement.

I experienced the first uneasiness that these results would be wasted totally or partially on reading the first published statement (The Militant Vol. V, No. 29) that seems to have set the tone for all the following statements. I recovered hope during the first sessions of the trial, during which our comrades energetically brought out the reactionary role of the government aided by Tobin against the Drivers of 544-CIO. But I again considered as lost a goodly part of the political benefits of the trial on reading the fundamental speeches and questionings of Comrade Cannon by Comrade Goldman, and by the prosecutor (Schweinhaut). It was there, replying to the political accusations — struggle against the war, advocacy of violence, overthrow of the government by force — where it was necessary to have raised the tone and turn the tables, accuse the government and the bourgeoisie of a reactionary conspiracy; of permanent violence against the majority of the population, physical, economic, moral, educative violence; of launching the population into a slaughter also by means of violence in order to defend the Sixty Families. On the contrary, it is on arriving at this part that the trial visibly weakens, our comrades shrink themselves, minimise the revolutionary significance of their ideas, try to make an honourable impression on the

jury without taking into consideration that they should talk for the masses. For moments they border on a renunciation of principles. A few good words by Goldman in his closing speech cannot negate the lamentable, negative impression of his first speech and of the interrogation of Cannon.

I shall begin to criticise them by citing their words, taken textually from numbers 45, 47, 48, 50, 52, Volume V, of *The Militant*.

Goldman in his opening statement to the jury:

I repeat: The objective and the aim of the party was to win through education and through propaganda a majority of the people of the United States? (emphasis in the original)

It is exactly the same as the statement in July before the beginning of the trial. Answering a criticism made then from Mexico, a comrade of certain responsibility in the SWP replied that there was no need to worry because no one was in agreement with that statement. If no one was in agreement, then it was necessary to formulate another, that is evident, unless we have one policy for the masses and another for appearances before a bourgeois judge. It is hardly necessary to indicate the error of such a statement. It is understood by all, beginning by the one who made the statement that our objective can in no way be only propaganda, nor will we win the majority by means of it. We are a party of propaganda in the sense that our numerical proportion prevents us or limits us to a minimum of action. But we are a party of revolutionary action — economic, political and educative — in essence and potentially, because our propaganda itself can tend only to action and only through action will we conquer the majority of the exploited and educate them for the taking of power.

I insist on these commonplaces because the euphemistic, sweetened character of this preliminary statement of Goldman, designed to reconcile the jury, is a compromise that has forced later statements much more grave. We will see further on.

Let us take the main problems and see how they have been dealt with in the trial. Goldman begins with the following statement:

We shall show that the Socialist Workers Party opposes sabotage. We shall show that Mr. Anderson's claim is absolutely wrong and based on no foundation whatever to the effect that we prefer the enemy, the imperialistic enemy of the United States, to defeat our government. It is absolutely false. What we want as the evidence will show, is to have the workers and farmers establish their own government and then to continue a real war against fascism.

Cannon even goes a bit further, replying to a question by Goldman:

A decision has been made, and is accepted by a majority of the people, to go to war. Our comrades have to comply with that.

A Criticism

And then Goldman asks: "You would not support the war?"

Cannon: "That is what I mean, we would not support the war, in a political sense." And he even returns again to the point:

We consider Hitler and Hitlerism the greatest enemy of mankind. We want to wipe it off the face of the earth. The reason we do not support a declaration of war by American arms is because we do not believe the American capitalists can defeat Hitler and fascism. We think Hitlerism can be destroyed only by way of conducting a war under the leadership of the workers.

In the first place, the decision to go to war has *not* "been made and accepted by a majority of the people." This statement can be criticised very strongly, a statement that we would censure very energetically if it were made by a centrist. In place of accusing the government of leading the American people to the slaughter against the will of the majority, instead of accusing it emphatically before the masses and of demonstrating to them how the parliamentarian majority acts against the majority of the people, Cannon endorses Roosevelt's decision as if it really corresponded to the majority of the people.

Yes, we submit to the war and our militants go to war, but not because it is a decision of the majority, but rather because it is imposed upon us by the violence of the bourgeois society just as wage exploitation is imposed. As in the factory, we should take advantage of all the opportunities to right against the war and against the system that produces it, just as we fight against the boss in a factory, as a function of the general struggle against the capitalist system.

"We would not support the war in a political sense", says Cannon. Do we support it perhaps, in some other sense? Social, economic? I do not see other senses. Does he perhaps mean by "to support" to accept the accomplished fact and to go to war? That is, to submit oneself, as we submit to the conditions imposed by a boss after the failure of a strike, but preparing ourselves for another. Why, then, equivocate so dangerously? I see no other reason but that our comrades have committed the very grave error of talking for a petty-bourgeois jury for the more immediate present, not foreseeing the future struggles. Would it not have been better to state: "We submit to your war, American bourgeois, because the violence of your society imposes it on us, the material violence of your arms. But the masses will turn against you. From today on, our party is with the masses in an irreconcilable struggle against your regime of oppression, misery and butchery. Therefore we will fight against your war with all means."

The equivocation and inexactness are permanent. It seems that we are platonic opponents of the war and that we limit ourselves to statements and propaganda, written or verbal, without action of any kind. To say that "we do not support a

declaration of war because we do not believe the American capitalists can defeat Hitler and fascism" is to give the understanding that we would support it if we believed in that defeat; this induces those who believe in the victory of the United States to support it. Our rejection of the war is based on the character of the social regime that produces it, not on this or that belief about the defeat of fascism.

Immediately comes another equivocation: "We think Hitlerism can be destroyed, etc." Uniting that to the reiterated statements to the effect that we will not agitate among the soldiers, that we are a "political opposition" to the war, and to the, until now, limping exposition of military training under union control, can induce one to believe that we will be for the war *when* the control has been given to the unions. I believe it is necessary to clarify this, without leaving room for equivocation and I pronounce myself, for my part, against the war, even if control of the military service is achieved by the unions.

Immediately, Cannon undertakes to give a program for defeating Hitler by means of a workers' and farmers' government I don't have to add a single comma, except that the entire questioning of Cannon closes with a double door, the road to establishing the workers' and farmers' government:

Goldman: Now, until such time as the workers and farmers in the United States establish their own government and use their own methods to defeat Hitler, the Socialist Workers Party must submit to the majority of the people-is that right?

Cannon: That is all we can do. That is all we propose to do.

All of which is the equivalent of folding one's arms after some lectures about the marvels of the workers' and farmers' government, in the hope that this will be formed by itself, or by God knows what sleight of hand.

This does not deal merely with an omission, but with a statement of passivity in the face of the imperialist war; something which at best is a bad education for the workers who have become interested in the trial and does not grant us any credit for tomorrow when the masses begin to act against the war.

Forced by statements of this sort — decidedly opportunist, I do not hesitate to say — Cannon sees himself obliged to ask for the expulsion from the party of the militants who organise protests in the army. He is carried to the incredible, to reject Lenin, Trotsky and Cannon himself.

Mr. Schweinhaut reads Cannon a paragraph of Lenin's from *The Revolution of* 1905:

'It is our duty in time of an uprising to exterminate ruthlessly all the chiefs of the civil and military authorities.' You disagree with that?

Cannon: Yes, I don't know that that is in any way a statement of our party policy
A Criticism

... We do not agree with the extermination of anybody unless it is in case of an actual armed struggle, when the rules of war apply.

But what is "an uprising" except an armed struggle? Lenin also does not say "anybody" but rather the civil and military chiefs. Then why reject the paragraph? Citing Cannon himself, Schweinhaut reads:

'The second point (struggle in the army) is to be careful, cautious. Make no putsches, make no premature moves that expose us and separate us from the masses. Go with the masses ... And how can we get these military means except by penetrating the army as it exists?'...

Schweinhaut: But you do not think that would obstruct the military effort of the army?

Cannon: If you will read that again you will see that we do not want any putsches. We say to the members: "Do not make any putsches, and do not obstruct the army." It is our direct instruction to our people not to create obstruction of the military operations, but to confine their efforts to propaganda.

I am wholeheartedly behind Cannon in his speech; but I categorically condemn Cannon before the jury, deforming himself, minimising, reducing to words the revolutionary action of the party. And I will be equally behind and I propose that the party be behind the militants and soldiers who carry out acts of protests in the army, remembering that they do not deal with "putsches, premature movements". Revolutionary action in time of war is absolutely impossible without obstructing in a greater or lesser degree the military activities. Therefore, the principle of revolutionary defeatism, which the American party and the International have and cannot renounce. Contrary to what Goldman gave to understand in the first quotation, we are for the intensification of the class struggle, in the rearguard and in the army, including, if this can, provoking the defeat of our bourgeoisie: "From the point of view of a revolution in their own country, the defeat of their own imperialist government is undoubtedly the better evil" (Trotsky, June 1940). It is worse in advice to the workers to disauthorise agitation and protests in the army, only to speak against it. I believe that our comrades have lost a good opportunity to make the workers understand why they should act always by means of the word and by means of collective actions. The questioning of Cannon presented a completely false perspective to the workers, of comfortable propaganda, where it deals with a terrible struggle by all means from small protests to insurrections by groups, from partial fraternisations to wiping out the fronts. But from an error of perspective, one passes to an error of fact; therefore the defendants saw themselves forced to condemn sabotage in general, as though it dealt with something criminal. I believe that sabotage is a method for tactical use whose application at certain moments

can be productive of contrary effects to what is intended but which is absolutely indispensable in the critical moments of struggle.

An example will demonstrate it. Suppose that in a certain part of the front conditions of fraternisation are produced. Fraternisation will never be produced simultaneously on both sides of a large front nor in the same proportion. Immediately the military chiefs will give orders to mobilise, attack or reinforce the fronts with soldiers less disposed to embrace the "enemy". Is it not our duty then to sabotage in the greatest degree the renewal of combat to give time to the fraternisation, to impede the command from dominating the situation? Sabotage will be the only means at hand for the soldiers to extend and precipitate the fraternisation, until the fall of *the two* fronts. Nevertheless, there exists the danger that the enemy command may dominate its front and taking advantage of the disorganisation, undertake a victorious offensive. There is no way out for an effective fraternisation if one wishes to avoid that "danger".

Sabotage and defeatism will unite at a certain moment as the two main elements in the reactions of the masses against the imperialist war. The party should not and cannot renounce defeatism without condemning itself to a perpetual sterile chat against the war.

What seems even more lamentable to me is that one can intuit from the trial that it is not only a question of something said especially for the jury. For moments there is evidence that the defendants really consider sabotage a crime. If I am not mistaken — and I hope I am — this is a dangerous moral predisposition. Sabotage will be the reaction of the masses against the imperialist war. Why be ashamed of it? Why be ashamed that the masses react as they can, against the monstrous crime of the present war? It would have been easy to defend it as a principle and throw the responsibility on the leaders of the present war. Can we condemn the future sabotage of the masses when the war is a gigantic sabotage of the bourgeoisie against the masses, against civilisation and humanity? Instead of receiving this idea, the workers who heard our comrades will have left, burdened with a prejudice against sabotage.

Says Goldman:

The evidence will further show as Mr. Anderson himself indicated, that we prefer a peaceful transition to socialism; but that we analyse all the conditions in society, we analyse history, and on the basis of this analysis we predict, *we predict* that after the majority of the people in the United States will want socialism established, that the minority, organised by the financiers and by capitalists, will use violence to prevent the establishment of socialism. That is what we predict

Why not ask forgiveness, besides, for seeing ourselves painfully obliged to employ violence against the bourgeoisie? Even neutralising oneself to a mere diviner, the

A Criticism

prediction is completely false. It is not necessary to poke into the future to discover the violence of the reactionary minority throughout society. The accusation lends itself ideally to launching a thorough attack against capitalist society and to show the American workers that the so-called American democracy is no more than a dictatorship of the bourgeoisie. Among the workers who have read or listened to Cannon and Goldman, there must be many who have experienced the daily violence of bourgeois society, during strikes, demonstrations, meetings; all of them without exception experience the normal violence of either working for a wage established in the labor market or of perishing; a violence much more lamentable is the imposition of the war; educative violence; informative violence imposed by the newspaper trusts. Far from receiving a notion of the environment in which they live and far from preparing their spirit for rebellion against this environment, the workers watching the trial have been pacified in respect to the present. Only in the future will the bourgeoisie employ violence.

Besides, it is completely inexact and contributes toward putting the workers to sleep, to tell them that the bourgeoisie will employ violence "after the majority of the people in the United States will want socialism established". It uses violence already, always employs it, the bourgeoisie knows of no other method of government but violence. The workers and farmers should respond to the daily violence of the bourgeoisie with majority and organised violence of the poor masses. We do not predict but rather we assure, we ask, we advocate temporary violence of the majority against the permanent organic violence of the reactionary minority. It is necessary to break the democratic prejudices of the American proletariat; but statements like that rock them to sleep.

"After all", an inexpert worker may say, "what certainty can one have that the bourgeoisie will employ violence. These men who know a lot only predict it; then for the moment, I need not organise to counter the violence of the reactionaries." This tendency to inaction will be accentuated if the worker in question continues reading: "We expect to prove that the defendants never advocated, never incited, to violence, but simply predicted the violence of the reactionary minority." It is clear when they do not do that, it is not yet necessary.

And once more, as we saw in the case of the war, all possibility of inciting to action is closed by the preliminary obstruction. Following their sense, the perspective presented by our comrades for the coming years is also false.

What means will be valuable to us for conquering the majority of the proletariat and poor farmers? (Not merely the people as is repeated constantly in the examination. The petty-bourgeoisie can be neutralised without being won over.)

I do not find in the long pages of the interrogation of Cannon anything other than

propaganda, propaganda and more propaganda, as if it dealt with recommending a patent medicine for baldness. A brief paragraph, uttered in a good direction by Cannon, is not unfortunately, sufficiently explicit and energetic: "Of course, we don't limit ourself simply to that prediction. We go further, and advise the workers to bear this in mind and prepare themselves not to permit the reactionary outlived minority to frustrate the will of the majority."

Then, why not raise the voice at this point and call upon the workers to organise their own violence against the reactionary violence? Immediately afterward, the perspective of struggle against the fascist bands is perfectly sketched by Cannon; but one notes that it deals with a nonexistent perspective in an immediate form as if today against the false democracy it were unnecessary to organise the shock forces of the proletariat. It is something that is not dearly stated, it lends itself to equivocation and is reinforced by the final insistence in denying the existence (today) of any workers' guard. At any rate, the line that our comrades have followed in not taking advantage of the trial to indicate to the masses how and why they should exercise their own violence is incorrect. Instead we have the lamentable dialogue between Cannon and Goldman destined to pacify the easily frightened conscience of the jury about who initiates the violence.

In one manner or another it is supposed that we are going to conquer the majority for socialism. Then:

Goldman: What is meant by the expression "overthrow of the capitalist state"?

Cannon: That means to replace it by a workers' and farmers' government; that is what we mean.

Goldman: What is meant by the expression "destroy the machinery of the capitalist state"?

Cannon: By that we mean that *when* [my emphasis — G.M.] we set up the workers' and farmers' government in this country, the functioning of this government its tasks, its whole nature, will be so profoundly and radically different from the functions, tasks and nature of the bourgeois state, that we will have to replace it all along the line.

All the revolutionary, violent process, the *civil war* that must precede the establishment of the workers' and farmers' government and the proletarian state, is palmed away; I cannot find another word more euphemistic Therefore, when a little bit later Cannon has to circumscribe himself, he gives a definition of the soviet such as an abbreviated encyclopedia would give, hushing everything that deals with its function as an organism of struggle, in competition and opposition to the organisms of the bourgeois power.

What other thing can the workers' and farmers' government be than the culmination

A Criticism

of the struggle of the proletariat and farmers against the bourgeoisie? That struggle has to be pushed from now on, and beginning with the opening of the revolutionary crisis, it will develop "in crescendo", to the point at which the masses will create soviets or councils that direct the general struggle of the proletariat against the bourgeoisie, foresee the necessities of that struggle, including arms, and permit within its fold a liberty of ideological struggle so that the masses can elect those who best represent them. Only then, when the revolutionary tendency has acquired a majority of the soviets — not in the parliamentarian elections — the violent seizure of power will destroy the bourgeois state, leaving the soviets as the base of the proletarian state.

Cannon stated that the machine of the bourgeois state will be destroyed "when we set up the workers' and farmers' government". But the possibility of such a government does not open until after we have destroyed that machine. Cannon knows this perfectly, and undoubtedly, proposes to act accordingly. But in that case I insist, why lose the excellent and rare opportunity to give the workers a lesson, indicating to them without subterfuge the road to the struggle and power, accusing at the same time the bourgeoisie of a reactionary and profascist course? The predictions about how the social dialectic is going to reinforce our positions do not have any real value for the workers. The revolutionary process is seen here as the schoolbooks will describe it in five hundred years. The workers today need an indication of the dynamics of the class struggle, the forms of organisation, methods of struggle up to the civil war, slogans, and included there is a need for proud valour against the class enemy, something which has been rare in the trial. The general tone has been not to accuse but to apologise to a point that makes one feel embarrassed at times; not to indicate and propose actions and immediate means for the struggle against the bourgeoisie and against the war, but rather to dilute our ideas into humanitarianism and to veil their active value with predictions of knowledge as if it were not honourable to employ violence against the present corrupted bourgeois democracy.

Something completely demonstrative of the foregoing is that our comrades have cited as witnesses in their defence — Jefferson, Lincoln, the Bible, Lloyd George, MacDonald; but when Marx, Lenin, Trotsky and even Cannon appear, they are rejected as nonofficial mouthpieces of our organisation. This attitude, not very valiant cannot conquer much sympathy, or at least cannot conquer as much as the opposite attitude would conquer.

I know perfectly well that I am not teaching anything to anybody. What I have said is known better by the comrades to whom it refers. They will agree with me in relation to the principles referred to, except perhaps, in the problems of military training under trade-union control, and sabotage — questions that it is urgent to clarify in the

party and in the International. I find no more reason for their attitude in the trial than considerations that it would be a "useful manoeuver". But it is precisely that I consider it a very grave error to substitute maneuvers for principles in moments so important for the political future of the party. I believe and propose as a general principle that in similar trials our responsible militants accept all responsibility for the practical action of our ideas. This is worth more than a light sentence at the price of a pretty and deceptive polish. I propose that this criticism be published in the internal bulletins of the International and of the SWP.

January 7,1942

Note: This criticism has been written with extreme rush, in order not to lose an immediate opportunity to transmit it. I have not taken more than the paragraphs that first struck my eyes. Therefore, I reserve the possibility of amplifying it.

Defence Policy in the Minneapolis Trial: Political Principles & Propaganda Methods

By James P. Cannon

1. Our strategy in the trial

In the Minneapolis "sedition" trial, as in the months-long trade-union battle which preceded and led up to it, the American Trotskyists were put to the test and compelled to show what stuff they are made of. In both instances they conducted themselves in a manner befitting disciples of Trotsky and met the test in all respects.

In the fight with the trade-union bureaucracy, which attracted national attention, it was clearly shown who the real leaders of militant labor, the real men of principle, really are. In the trial before the bourgeois court the party, by the conduct of all its members involved, earned the right to the confidence of the revolutionary workers. The two struggles, which in reality were two sides of one and the same struggle, marked a climactic point in the activity of the American movement which had developed in a restricted circle since its inception thirteen years before.

During that time the party, with some local exceptions, had gained the attention only of the vanguard of class-conscious workers. At the trial we had the opportunity, for the first time, to speak to the masses — to the people of the United States. We seized upon the opportunity and made the most of it and applied in practice without a serious fault the basic principles which had been assimilated in a long preparatory period. Since then the movement in the United States stands on higher ground.

A critical study and discussion of the trial cannot fail to be of the highest value to the Fourth International, especially to those sections which have yet to reach the turn in the road which leads from the propaganda circle to mass work. For our part we welcome the discussion and will do our best to contribute something useful to it.

From the first moment after the indictment was brought against us in the Federal Court at Minneapolis last July we recognised that the attack had two aspects, and we appraised each of them, we think, at their true significance. The prosecution was

designed to outlaw the party and deprive it perhaps for a long time, of the active services of a number of its most experienced leaders. At the same time it was obvious that the mass trial, properly handled on our part, could give us our first real opportunity to make the party and its principles known to wide circles of workers and to gain a sympathetic hearing from them.

Our strategy, from the beginning, took both sides of the problem into account. Naturally, we decided to utilise to the fullest extent each and every legal protection, technicality and resource available to us under the law and the Constitution. A party leadership hesitating or neglecting to do this would frivolously jeopardise the legality of the party and show a very wasteful attitude indeed toward party cadres. Such a leadership would deserve only to be driven out with sticks and stones.

On the other hand, we planned to conduct our defence in court not as a "criminal" defence but as a propaganda offensive. Without foolishly disregarding or provoking the jury or needlessly helping the prosecutor, it was our aim to use the courtroom as a forum to popularise the principles of our movement We saw in this second proposition our main duty and opportunity and never for a moment intended to let purely legalistic considerations take precedence over it. Therefore we sternly rejected the repeated advice of attorneys — some who assisted Goldman in the trial of the case as well as others who were consulted about participation — to eliminate or play down our "propaganda" program and leave the defence policy to the lawyers.

From the rather unhappy experiences of past trials of militants in the courts of the United States we knew what following such advice would mean: Deny or keep quiet about the revolutionary principles of the movement; permit the lawyers to disavow and ridicule the defendants, and pass them off as somewhat foolish people belonging to a party which is not to be taken seriously; and depend on spread-eagle speeches of the lawyers to the jury to get the defendants off some way or other.

The October plenum-conference of the party unanimously endorsed the National Committee's recommendations on courtroom policy. The resolution of the conference laid down the policy as follows:

"The policy of the party in defending itself in court, obligatory for all party members under indictment, can only be one that is worthy of our movement and our tradition; no attempt to water down or evade our revolutionary doctrine, but on the contrary, to defend it militantly. At the same time we maintain that we have a legal right under the Bill of Rights to propagate our principles."

That is the policy we took with us to the trial. It guided us at every step in the proceedings. And we think it can be safely said that the policy has been amply vindicated by the results. Our principles were widely popularised, a hundred or a thousand times

better than ever before, and our conduct before the court has met with approval and sympathy from the militant workers who followed the trial and read the testimony.

The trial was by far our greatest propaganda success. Moreover, even those workers who disagree with our program, have approved and applauded our conduct in court as worthy of people who take their principles seriously. Such is the testimony of all comrades who have reported on the reaction of the workers to the trial. On a recent tour across the country from branch to branch of the party we heard the same unvarying report everywhere.

Naturally, our work in the trial was not perfect; we did only the best we could within the narrow limits prescribed by the court. More qualified people can quite easily point out things here and there which might have been done more cleverly. We can readily acknowledge the justice of such criticisms without thereby admitting any guilt on our part for socialism does not require that all be endowed with equal talent, but only that each give according to his ability. It is a different matter when Comrade Munis — and other critics of our policy — accuse us of misunderstanding our task and departing from Marxist principles in the trial. To them we are obliged to say firmly: No, the misunderstanding is all on your side. The correct understanding of our task in the courtroom and the sanction of the Marxist authorities, are on our side.

In undertaking to prove this contention we must begin with a brief analysis of a point overlooked by Munis as well as by the others: the social environment in which the trial was conducted. Our critics nowhere, by so much as a single word, refer to the objective situation in the United States; the political forms still prevailing here; the degree of political maturity — more properly, immaturity — of the American proletariat; the relation of class forces; the size and status of the party — in short to the specific peculiarities of our problem which should determine our method of approach to workers hearing us for the first time from the sounding board of the trial.

Our critics talk in terms of trials in general and principles in general, which, it would appear, are always to be formulated and explained to the workers in general in precisely the same way. We, on the contrary, dealt with a specific trial and attempted to explain ourselves to the workers as they are in the United States in the year 1941. Thus we clash with our critics at the very point of departure — the analysis, the method. Our answer to their criticism must take the same form.

We shall begin by first setting forth the concrete environmental circumstances in which our party functioned in the United States at the time of the trial and the specific tasks and propaganda techniques which, in our opinion, were thereby imposed. Then we shall proceed to submit our position, as well as that of our critics, to the criterion which must be decisive for all of us: the expressions of the Marxist teachers on the application of the points of principle under discussion.

2. The setting of the trial

The United States, where the trial took place, is by far the richest of all the capitalist nations, and because of that has been one of the few such nations still able to afford the luxury of bourgeois democratic forms in the epoch of the decline and decay of capitalism. Trade unions, which have been destroyed in one European country after another in the past decade, have flourished and more than doubled their membership in the United States in the same period — partly with governmental encouragement. Free speech and free press, obliterated or reduced to travesty in other lands, have been virtually unrestricted here. Elections have been held under the normal bourgeois democratic forms, traditional in America for more than a century, and the great mass of the workers have freely participated in them. The riches and favoured position of bourgeois America have also enabled it, despite the devastating crisis, to maintain living standards of the workers far above those of any other country.

These objective circumstances have unfailingly affected both the mentality of the workers and the fortunes of the revolutionary political movement. The revolutionary implications of the shaken economy, propped up for the time being by the armaments boom, are as yet but slightly reflected in the consciousness of the workers. In their outlook they are far from revolutionary. "Politics" to them means voting for one or another of the big capitalist parties. The simple fact that the organised labor movement has not yet resorted to independent political action, even on a reformist basis, but remains in its political activity an appendage of the Roosevelt political party — this simple fact in itself shows conclusively that the American workers have not yet begun to translate their fierce militancy in the field of economic strikes, directed at individual employers, into terms of independent politics directed against the employers as a class. As for the Marxist party, with its program of the revolutionary transformation of society, it has been able in such an environment to attract the attention of only a few thousands to its message and to recruit into its ranks a still smaller number of the most advanced and class-conscious militants.

The forty million American workers, casting an almost solid labor vote for Roosevelt, remain in the first primitive stages of class political development; they are soaked through and through with bourgeois democratic illusions; they are discontented to a certain extent and partly union-conscious but not class-conscious; they have a fetishistic respect for the federal government as the government of all the people and hope to better conditions for themselves by voting for "friendly" bourgeois politicians; they hate and fear fascism which they identify with Hitler; they understand socialism

and communism only in the version disseminated by the bourgeois press and are either hostile or indifferent to it; the real meaning of socialism, the revolutionary Marxist meaning, is unknown to the great majority.

Such were the general external factors, and such was the mentality of the American workers, confronting our party at the time of the Minneapolis trial, October, November, and December 1941. What specific tasks, what propaganda techniques were imposed thereby? It seems to us that the answers are obvious. The task was to *get a hearing* for our ideas from the forum of the trial. These ideas had to be simplified as much as possible, *made plausible* to the workers and illustrated whenever possible by familiar examples from American history. We had to address ourselves to the workers not in general, not as an abstraction, but as they exist in reality in the United States in the year 1941. We had to recognise that the forms of democracy and the legality of the party greatly facilitate this propaganda work and must not be lightly disregarded. It was not our duty to facilitate the work of the prosecuting attorney but to make it more difficult insofar as this could be done without renouncing any principle. Such are the considerations which guided us in our work at the trial.

Our critics do not refer to them; evidently they did not even think of them. Our method is a far different method than the simple repetition of formulas about "action" which requires nothing but a good memory. More precisely, it is the Marxist method of applying principles to concrete circumstances in order to popularise a party and create a movement which can lead to action in the real life of the class struggle, not on the printed page where the "action" of sectarian formalists always begins and ends.

The accomplishment of our main task — to use the courtroom as a forum from which to speak to those American workers, as they are, who might hear us for the first time — required, in our judgment not a call to arms but patient, schoolroom *explanations* of our doctrines and ourselves, and a quiet tone. Therefore we adapted, not our principles but our propaganda technique to the occasion as we understood it. The style of propaganda and the tone which we employed are not recommended as a universally applicable formula. Our propaganda style and tone were simply designed to serve the requirements, in the given situation, of a small minority Marxist party in a big country of democratic capitalism in the general historic circumstances above described.

Comrade Munis accuses us of popularising our propaganda and defending ourselves (and the party's legality) at the expense of principle. Our statements at the trial are held to be "decidedly opportunist"; to "border on a renunciation of principles". Following such and similar assertions we are informed that "it is a very grave error to substitute manoeuvers for principles". This maxim — not entirely original in our

movement — can be accepted with these provisos: that the maxim be understood; that a distinction be made between "manoeuvers" which serve principle and those which contradict it; and that it be applied to actual and not imaginary sacrifices of principle. This is the gist of the whole matter. The Marxist teachers did not change their principles, but in explaining them they frequently changed their manner and tone and points of emphasis to suit the occasion. We had a right and a duty to do the same. An examination of our testimony from this standpoint will bring different conclusions from those which our critics have so hastily drawn.

3. Violence & the transition to socialism

We were charged in the first count of the indictment with "conspiracy to overthrow the government by force and violence" in violation of the statute of 1861 which was originally directed against the slaveholders' rebellion. In the second count we were charged, among other things, with "conspiracy to *advocate* the overthrow of the government by force and violence" in violation of the Smith Act of 1940.

In our defence we flatly denied we had either "conspired" or "advocated" violence, and by that we did not in the least intend to deny or repudiate any principle of Marxism. We claimed the right to *explain* our position. We testified that we prefer a peaceful social transformation; that the bourgeoisie takes the initiative in violence and will not permit a peaceful change; that we advise the workers to bear this in mind and prepare to *defend themselves* against the violence of the outlived reactionary minority class.

This formula — which is 100 percent correct in the essence of the matter and unassailable from the standpoint of Marxist authority — did not coincide with the contentions of the prosecuting attorney, nor help him to prove his case against us. But that was not our duty. From entirely opposite considerations our exposition does not meet with the approval of Comrade Munis nor coincide with his conceptions. That is not our duty either, because his conceptions are arbitrary and formalistic — and therefore false.

The prosecutor wanted to limit the whole discussion of socialism to the single question of "force and violence". We on the other hand — for the first time in an American courtroom — tried to make an exposition, if only a brief and sketchy one, of the whole range of Marxist theory, as in an elementary study class for uninitiated workers, to the extent that this was possible within the narrow framework prescribed by the court's rules and the repeated objections of the prosecutor, assigning the question of force in the social revolution to its proper proportionate place and putting the responsibility for it where it properly belongs — on the shoulders of the outlived class.

We carried out this task to the best of our ability at the trial. Of course, thesis

precision and full-rounded explanation are hardly possible in a rapid-fire impromptu dialogue, with answers compressed to extreme brevity by time limitations, prosecutor's objections and court rulings. We cannot claim such precision and amplitude for our answers, and reasonable people should not demand it of us. Even Trotsky admitted the possibility of flaws in testimony which he gave in somewhat similar but more favorable circumstances before the Dewey Commission. In reply to Van, who had criticised one of his answers in the published record of the Inquiry, he said:

It is possible that there is some lack of precision in the stenographic report. It is not a matter here either of a programmatic text well thought out, or even of an article, but of a stenographic report drawn up by the Commission. You know that I did not even have the chance to revise it myself. Some misunderstandings, imprecisions may have crept in. Enemies can make use of them, but serious comrades must grasp the question in its totality.¹

Here it may be in order to explain that American court procedure, unlike that of many other countries, does not permit defendants to introduce worked-out statements and "declarations". They must answer orally, they must make their answers short and are liable to be cut off at any time by the objection of the prosecutor or the ruling of the judge. In such an atmosphere a witness is under constant pressure to condense his answers and to omit explanations which may be necessary for full clarity but which are not interesting to the court.

We mention these factors only to ask the same kind of reasonable allowance for shortcomings which Trotsky asked, not to disavow anything we said. By and large, making all due acknowledgement of imperfections, omissions and inadequacies in the oral testimony, we accomplished our propagandistic aims at the trial, and we stand on the record. The court record, published in thousands of copies, became and will remain our most effective propaganda document. It is an honest and forthright revolutionary record. Nobody will succeed in discrediting it.

What did we say about violence in the transformation of society from capitalism to socialism? This is what we said:

1. The Marxists prefer a peaceful transition. "The position of the Marxists is that the most economical and preferable, the most desirable method of social transformation, by all means, is to have it done peacefully."²

2. "It is the opinion of all Marxists that it will be accompanied by violence."3

3. That opinion "is based, like all Marxist doctrine, on a study of history, the historical experiences of mankind in the numerous changes of society from one form to another, the revolutions which accompanied it, and the resistance which the outlived classes invariably put up against the new order. Their attempt to defend themselves

against the new order, or to suppress by violence the movement for the new order, has resulted in every important social transformation up to now being accompanied by violence."⁴

4. The ruling class always initiates the violence, "always the ruling class; always the outlived class that doesn't want to leave the stage when the time has come. They want to hang on to their privileges, to reinforce them by violent measures, against the rising majority *and they run up against the mass violence of the new class*, which history has ordained shall come to power."⁵

5. That is our prediction. But "of course, we don't limit ourselves simply to that prediction. We go further, and advise the workers to bear this in mind and prepare themselves not to permit the reactionary outlived minority to frustrate the will of the majority."

Q: What role does the rise and existence of fascism play with reference to the possibility of violence?

A: Well, that is really the nub of the whole question, because the reactionary violence of the capitalist class, expressed through fascism, is invoked against the workers. Long before the revolutionary movement of the workers gains the majority, fascist gangs are organised and subsidised by millions in funds from the biggest industrialists and financiers, as the example of Germany showed — and these fascist gangs undertake to break up the labor movement by force, raid the halls, assassinate the leaders, break up the meetings, burn the printing plants, and destroy the possibility of functioning long before the labor movement has taken the road of revolution.

I say that is the nub of the whole question of violence. If the workers don't recognise that and do not begin to defend themselves against the fascists, they will never be given the possibility of voting on the question of revolution. They will face the fate of the German and Italian proletariat and they will be in the chains of fascist slavery before they have a chance of any kind of a fair vote on whether they want socialism or not.

It is a life and death question for the workers that they organise themselves to prevent fascism, the fascist gangs, from breaking up the workers' organisations, and not to wait until it is too late. That is the program of our party.⁶

That is all any Marxist really needs to say on the question of violence in a capitalist court or at a propaganda meeting for workers at the present time in the United States. It tells the truth, conforms to principle, and protects the legal position of the party. The workers will understand it too. To quote Shakespeare's Mercutio: "Tis not so deep as a well nor so wide as a church-door; but 'tis enough, 'twill serve".

Comrade Munis, however, is not satisfied with our "lamentable dialogue", allegedly

"destined to pacify the easily frightened conscience of the jury about who initiates the violence". The above-quoted answer advising the workers to "bear in mind" the violent course of the ruling class and "prepare themselves", is not "sufficiently explicit and energetic". (He underestimates the acuteness of the workers.) "Why not", says Comrade Munis, "raise the voice at this point and call upon the workers to organise their own violence against the reactionary violence?"

Why not? Because it was not necessary or advisable either to raise the voice or issue any call for action at this time. We were talking, in the first place, for the benefit of the uninitiated worker who would be reading the testimony in the paper or in pamphlet form. We needed a calm and careful exposition in order to get his attention. This worker is by no means waiting impatiently for our call to violent action. Quite the contrary, he ardently believes in the so-called democracy, and the first question he will ask, if he becomes interested in socialism, is: "Why can't we get it peacefully, by the ballot?" It is necessary to *patiently explain* to him that, while we would prefer it that way, the bosses will not permit it, will resort to violence against the majority, and that the workers must *defend* themselves and their *right* to change things. Our *defensive* formula is not only legally unassailable, "for the jury", as our critics contemptuously remark — as though twenty-eight indicted people in their right senses, and a party threatened with illegality, can afford the luxury of disregarding the jury. It is also the best formula for effective propaganda.

These defensive formulas are not our invention; they come directly from the great Marxists who did not believe in the good will of the class enemies and knew how to organise action, that is, *mass* action, against them. And these same teachers and organisers of mass actions likewise never failed to appreciate the value of democratic forms and party legality and to hang onto them and utilise them to the fullest extent possible. Our teachers did not shrink from force; they never deluded the workers with the promise of a peaceful, democratic transformation of society. But they didn't speak of violence always in the same way, in the same tone and with the same emphasis. Always, in circumstances in any way comparable to ours, they have spoken as we spoke at the trial. Proof of this is abundant and overwhelming.

The first formulated statement of the communist position on the question of violence and the transition to socialism appears in Engels' "Principles of Communism", a "catechism" written in 1847 which is generally regarded as the first draft of the *Communist Manifesto*. Engels wrote:

Q[*uestion*] *16:* Will it be possible to bring about the abolition of private property by peaceful methods?

A[nswer]: It is to be desired that this could happen, and Communists certainly

would be the last to resist it.7

Engels didn't promise such a solution and he didn't forget to add: "Should the oppressed proletariat at long last be goaded into a revolution, the communists will rally to the cause of the workers and be just as prompt to act as they are now to speak."

The *last* statement of Marxist authority, expressed by Trotsky ninety-three years later, follows the same pattern as that of Engels. In the summer of 1940 the Dies Committee conducted a raid on a comrade's house in Texas and carried off some party literature. Anticipating an attack on the legal position of the Socialist Workers Party, Comrade Trotsky wrote us a letter, advising us how to formulate our propaganda and defend ourselves "from the legal point of view" and warning us "not to furnish any pretext for persecutions". This letter, as though written to answer in advance the ultraradical quibbling about the Minneapolis trial, was printed in *Fourth International*, October 1940, p. 126. Trotsky wrote:

The Texas story is very important. The attitude of the people involved can become decisive from the legal point of view.

We, of course, cannot imitate the Stalinists who proclaim their absolute devotion to the bourgeois democracy. However, we do not wish to furnish any pretext for persecutions.

In this case, as in any others, we should speak the truth as it is; namely, the best, the most economical and favourable method for the masses would be to achieve the transformation of this society by democratic means. The democracy is also necessary for the organisation and education of the masses. That is why we are always ready to defend the democratic rights of the people by our own means. However, we know on the basis of tremendous historical experience that the Sixty Families will never permit the democratic realisation of socialist principles. At a given moment the Sixty Families will inevitably overthrow, or try to overthrow, the democratic institutions and replace them by a reactionary dictatorship. This is what happened in Italy, in Germany, and in the last days in France — not to mention the lesser countries. We say in advance that we are ready to reject such an attempt with arms in hands, and crush the fascist dictatorship by a proletarian dictatorship.

This position corresponds to the historical reality and is juridically unattackable.⁸ These words, written by the founder of our movement in the last month of his life, were not chance remarks thrown off at random. They were written in direct connection with an expected prosecution, and he specifically warned us that "the attitude of the people involved can become decisive from the legal point of view". He knew the value of party legality and did not want us to jeopardise it needlessly. Do not, he said almost in so many words, accept the prosecuting attorney's accusation that we advocate

conspiratorial violence by a minority. Present the question in a way which "corresponds to historical reality" and which is, at the same time, by its defensive formulation, "juridically unattackable".

That letter was the guiding line for our policy at the trial. We took the words of Trotsky as Marxist authority. For us there is no higher. Our movement, the movement of the Fourth International which stems directly from the struggle of the Trotskyist Opposition in Russia since 1923, embodies in its doctrine and its tradition the whole of Marxism and the whole of the precepts and example of Lenin, developed and applied to conditions of the post-Lenin period. We know it is the fashion in late years for some people to contrast Lenin to Trotsky and to refer to Lenin as the primary authority. The Oehlerites in the United States, for example, advertise themselves as "Leninists" of this type; and even Shachtman, dabbling with radicalism for a season, tried to invoke Lenin against the military policy elaborated by Trotsky. There is no more truth or merit in this burlesque than there was in the attempt of the opportunists during the First World War to appeal to Marx and Engels against Lenin.

All four of the great Marxist authorities — Marx, Engels, Lenin and Trotsky — are united in an uninterrupted continuity of experience reflected in Marxist thought. For us, Lenin is Marx in the epoch of the First World War and the October Revolution. Trotsky is Lenin in the epoch of Stalinist degeneration and the struggle against it, the epoch of fascism and the Second World War and the preparation of the new rise of the international revolution of the proletariat.

These "Leninists" — God save the mark! — are fond of repeating isolated quotations from Lenin as fixed and final answers to current problems which arise ever new and in infinite variations of circumstance. A greater distortion of Leninism — which is a method, not a collection of bible texts — can hardly be imagined. They repeat the words of Lenin on this or that occasion without understanding that Lenin did not always repeat himself and had nothing but contempt for such thoughtsaving substitutes for living Marxism. An instructive sample of this practice is the attempt of Munis to picture us as "rejecting" Lenin because we took the liberty of saying a sentence he wrote about insurrection in czarist Russia in 1906 is not applicable for our propaganda in the United States in 1941.

Our frank avowal before the court that we are disciples of Lenin is not enough to satisfy Munis. Our statement that in our movement "he holds a position of esteem on a level with Marx"; that "the basic ideas and doctrines, practiced, promulgated and carried out by Lenin, are supported by our movement" — these declarations, in the judgment of our critic, are not sufficient to constitute an acceptance of Lenin. He seems to think it is necessary to repeat and accept as gospel every word Lenin said on

every occasion regardless of what Lenin himself may have said on the same subject on other occasions.

He cites the question of Mr. Schweinhaut the prosecutor, reading a sentence from Lenin's *The Revolution of 1905*: "'It is our duty in time of an uprising to exterminate ruthlessly all the chiefs of the civil and military authorities.'⁹ You disagree with that?"

Naturally we denied that this is a statement of party policy here and now, modifying it as follows: "We do not agree with the extermination of anybody unless it is in case of an actual armed struggle, when the rules of war apply." In reality this was saying, out of deference to Lenin, a great deal more than needs to be said on the subject of extermination before a capitalist court or in a propaganda speech in the United States at the present time. But this does not satisfy Munis. Why, he demands, say "anybody" instead of "the civil and military chiefs"? "Why reject the paragraph?" We must repeat Lenin word for word!

Why must we? *Lenin didn't repeat himself word for word*. Far from it, he changed and modified such formulas to suit occasion without ceremony. In fact on the very eve of the October Revolution, he changed this particular formula so radically as to give it a quite different "milder" meaning in order better to serve his political aims at the time. In his letter to the Central Committee, dated September 26-27, 1917, a letter calling for the organisation of the insurrection, he omits any reference to "extermination" and simply says: "we must … arrest the General Staff and the government" (our emphasis).¹⁰

On still another occasion, September 14-16, 1917, offering a "compromise" to the Social Revolutionary and Menshevik majority, Lenin proposed that they form an SR-Menshevik government responsible only to the Soviets. Such a government he said, "In all probability ... could secure a peaceful *advance* of the whole Russian Revolution". Should the proposition be accepted by the SR's and Mensheviks, then:

I think the Bolsheviks would advance no other conditions, trusting that the revolution would proceed peacefully and party strife in the Soviets would be *peacefully overcome* thanks to really complete freedom of propaganda and to the immediate establishment of a new democracy in the composition of the Soviets (new elections) and in their functioning.

Perhaps this is *already* impossible? Perhaps. But if there is even one chance in a hundred, the attempt at realising this opportunity is still worth while.¹¹

In this case Lenin asked nothing more of the "civil and military chiefs" among the "ruling" petty-bourgeois democratic parties than that they take power and assure "really complete freedom of propaganda". Returning to this question again on October 9, 1917, he wrote:

Our business is to help get everything possible done to make sure the "last" chance for a peaceful development of the revolution, to help by the presentation of our programme, by making clear its national character, its absolute accord with the interests and demands of a vast majority of the population.¹²

Thus, Lenin proposed to fight "the civil and military chiefs" in three different ways, according to the circumstances, on three different occasions — by "extermination", by "arrest" and by "peaceful propaganda". All were equally revolutionary. The occasions and the circumstances in each case were different. Lenin took such variations into account and changed his proposals accordingly. He never made a strait jacket out of his tactical formulas. Neither should we — if we want to be genuine Leninists.

That "force is the midwife of every old society pregnant with the new" — this is an axiom known to every student of Marxism. It is wrong to entertain or disseminate illusions on this score, and we did not do so at the trial. But it is a great mistake to conclude from this that violence and the talk about violence serve the revolutionary vanguard advantageously at all times and under all conditions. On the contrary, peaceful conditions and democratic legal forms are most useful in the period when the party is still gathering its forces and when the main strength and resources, including the resources of violence, are on the other side. Lenin remarked that Engels was "most correct" in "advocating the use of bourgeois legality" and saying to the German ruling class in 1891: "Be the first to shoot Messrs. Bourgeois!"

Our party, which must still strive to *get a hearing* from the as yet indifferent working class of America, has the least reason of all to emphasise or to "advocate" violence. This attitude is determined by the present stage of class development and the relation of forces in the United States; not as Munis so generously assumes, by our exaggerated concern for a "light sentence". As a matter of fact the question of violence was given ten times more proportionate mention in our testimony at the trial than it has been given in the propaganda columns of our press during the past ten years, including the voluminous contributions of Comrade Trotsky.

Expressing disdain for our repeated painstaking explanations "about who initiates the violence", and our "general tone", which, he says, "makes one feel embarrassed at times", Munis offers us "proud valour" as a substitute. Had we been gifted with this rare attribute we should have said, according to Munis: "The workers and farmers should respond to the daily violence of the bourgeoisie with majority and organised violence of the poor masses. We do not predict but rather we assure, we ask, we advocate temporary violence of the majority against the permanent organic violence of the reactionary minority."

We don't know much about "proud valour" and had no need of it; we did not

appear at the trials as posturing actors but only as party militants with a practical political task to carry out. Naturally, it is a good thing for a revolutionary militant to have ordinary human courage enough to take those risks which are implicit in the struggle against capitalism. And we can add: He should also have enough prudence to avoid unnecessary sacrifices. The lack of either of these qualities can be a serious personal deficiency. But the possession of both, and in good working order at that, still does not suffice to answer the most important question confronting us at the trial; namely, what formulations, what tone, what emphasis on the question of violence could best serve our cause under the given conditions? The answer to the question must be political, not theatrical.

Lenin unquestionably burned with indignation and hatred for the oppressions of the people and knew about the violence of all kinds that is inseparable from a regime of class domination. Also, while it is quite impossible to speak of "valour" to say nothing of "proud valour", in connection with the unpretentious and matter-of-fact Lenin — such knightly grandiloquence would fit him as oddly as a silk hat — there is evidence that he had nerve enough to fill his post. Lenin was the most stiff-necked rebel in history. But his approach to the question of violence, as to every other question, was determined by political considerations. He did not by any means employ one universal formula and one kind of emphasis such as Munis prescribes for us. Indeed, he was far less "radical" in his formulations for the propaganda of the Bolshevik Party in the months, and even the weeks, directly preceding the victory than is Munis in his demands on our party which at the time of the trial could only be described properly as a small and isolated propaganda group.

It is most revealing to read how the great master of revolutionary strategy, returning to Russia after the March revolution, developed the work of *mobilising the masses* around the Bolshevik Party *by means of propaganda*. The Bolshevik Party grew by leaps and bounds, but nevertheless remained a minority for many months. It should be instructive to any "violence" fanatic to see how Lenin, under these conditions, persistently tried *to shove the question of violence into the background* and to ward off a premature test of strength. Even as late as October 9, as we have seen, he was offering "to help get everything possible done to make sure the 'last' chance for a *peaceful development* of the revolution". When he finally called for action it was for *mass* action and there was no theatrical bluster about it. The Bolshevik Party, thanks to its preliminary propaganda work, had the mass force to carry the action through to victory.

On April 25 he protested in *Pravda* against "dark insinuations" of "Minister Nekrasov" about "the preaching of violence" by the Bolsheviks:

You are lying, Mr. Minister, worthy member of the "people's freedom" party. It is Mr.

Guchkov who is preaching violence when he threatens to punish the soldiers for dismissing the authorities. It is *Russkaya Volya*, the riot-mongering newspaper of the riot-mongering "republicans", a paper that is friendly to you, that preaches violence.

Pravda and its followers do not preach violence. On the contrary, they declare most clearly, precisely, and definitely, that our main efforts should now be concentrated on *explaining* to the proletarian masses their proletarian problems, as distinguished from the petty bourgeoisie which has succumbed to chauvinist intoxication.¹³

On May 4 the Central Committee of the party adopted a resolution written by Lenin. The aim of this resolution was to restrain the Petrograd local leadership which was running ahead of events; to put the "*responsibility*" for any violence on the "Provisional Government and its supporters"; and to accuse the "capitalist minority" of reluctance "to submit to the will of the majority". Here are the two paragraphs from the resolution:

1. Party propagandists and speakers must refute the despicable lies of the capitalist papers and of the papers supporting the capitalists to the effect that we are holding out the threat of *civil war*. This is a despicable lie, for only at the present moment, as long as the capitalists and their government cannot and dare not use force against the masses, as long as the mass of soldiers and workers are freely expressing their will and freely electing and displacing *all* authorities — *at such a moment* any thought of civil war would be naive, senseless, preposterous; at such a moment *there must be compliance with the will of the majority of the population* and free criticism of this will by the discontented minority; should violence be resorted to, the responsibility will fall on the Provisional Government and its supporters.

2. By their outcries against civil war the government of the capitalists and its newspapers are only trying to conceal the reluctance of the capitalists, who admittedly constitute an insignificant minority of the people, to submit to the will of the majority.¹⁴ Doesn't this sound surprisingly like "the lamentable dialogue about who initiates the violence" concerning which Munis so haughtily protests? Indeed, the similarity is not accidental. Our formulations did not fall from the sky. We had taken the trouble to read Lenin, not in order to memorise his words but to learn the essence of his methods of approaching and mobilising the masses while the Bolsheviks remained in the minority.

On May 5 the Central Committee of the Bolshevik Party, fighting against enemy provocations on the one side and revolutionary impatience in the party ranks on the other, adopted another resolution on Lenin's motion. It is worth reading over ten times by any comrade who may be impressed by light-minded talk about "action" by a party which lacks the necessary mass support for action. The resolution says:

The slogan "Down with the Provisional Government!" is an incorrect one at the present moment because, in the absence of a solid (i.e., a class conscious and organised)

majority of the people on the side of the revolutionary proletariat, such a slogan is either an empty phrase, or, objectively, amounts to attempts of an adventurous character.¹⁵

If these ideas are correct and we believe they are, then it is certainly reasonable to conclude that the Socialist Workers Party in the United States has some long, hard days of propaganda work, of *patiently explaining*, ahead of it. By such means it must secure a mass support before it can afford the luxury of much talk about action. Lenin drew these conclusions for the Bolshevik Party, and laid down precise instructions accordingly, only six months before it was to become the majority. The same resolution says in another paragraph:

The slogans of the moment are: (1) To *explain* the proletarian policy and proletarian way of ending the war; (2) To *criticise* the petty-bourgeois policy of placing trust in the government of the capitalists and compromising with it; (3) To carry on <u>propaganda</u> *and agitation* from group to group *in every regiment*, in *every* factory, and, particularly, among the most backward masses, such as domestic servants, unskilled laborers, etc., since it was their backing in the first place that the bourgeoisie tried to gain during the *crisis;* (4) *To organise, organise* and once more *organise* the proletariat, in every factory, in every district and in every city quarter (our underlining)¹⁶

On May 6, still hammering at irresponsible violence-mongers, the greatest leader of revolutionary action, who believed in first "*explaining*" and "*convincing*" and "*winning over the majority*", wrote:

The crisis cannot be overcome by violence practiced by individuals against individuals, by the local action of small groups of armed people, by Blanquist attempts to "seize power", to "arrest" the Provisional Government, etc.

Today's task is to explain more precisely, more clearly, more widely the proletariat's policy, *its* way of terminating the war.¹⁷

Marxism, without a doubt, is the doctrine of revolutionary action. But it has nothing in common with "violence practiced by individuals", "local action of small groups", or any other form of "action" wherein individuals or minorities attempt to substitute themselves for the masses. In other words Marxism is not anarchism or Blanquism; it wages irreconcilable war against such tendencies. The revolutionary action which Marxism contemplates is the action of the masses, of the proletarian majority, led by the vanguard party. But this action, and the party's leading role in it must be, and can only be, *prepared by propaganda*. That is the central lesson of the development of the Bolshevik Party after the March revolution and the eventual transformation of its slogans from propaganda to action. That was Lenin's method. It was less romantic than that of impatient people who dream of short cuts and miracles to be evoked by

the magic word "action". But, in compensation, Lenin's method led to a mighty and victorious mass action in the end.

A party which lacks a mass base, which has yet to become widely known to the workers, must approach them along the lines of propaganda, of patient explanations, and pay no attention to impatient demands for "action" which it is unable to organise and for exaggerated emphasis on "violence" which, in the given conditions, can only react to its disadvantage. When one considers how persistently careful and even *cautious*, was Lenin's party to avoid provocation and cling to its formula of *peaceful propaganda* while it remained a minority, the merest suggestion that our party, at the present time, with its present strength, take a "bolder" course appears utterly fantastic, like a nightmare separated from living reality. Lenin wrote:

The government would like to see us make the first imprudent move towards revolutionary action, as this would be to its advantage. It is exasperated because our Party has put forward the slogan of peaceful demonstrations. We must not cede one iota of our principles to the petty bourgeoisie, which is now marking time. The proletarian party would be making a dangerous mistake if it based its tactics on subjective desires where organisation is required. We cannot say that the majority is with us; what we need in the present situation is caution, caution, and the statement of the present situation is caution.

From the foregoing it should be clear that our disavowal of "responsibility" for violence in the testimony before the court at Minneapolis was not a special device invented by us "to reconcile the jury", as has been alleged; our formulation of the question, taken from Lenin, was designed to serve the political aims of our movement in the given situation. We did not, and had no need to, disregard legality and "advocate" violence as charged in the indictment.

But neither did we represent ourselves as pacifists or sow pacifist illusions. Far from it. We elucidated the question of violence and the socialist transformation of society in the same way that our great teachers, who organised a revolution, elucidated it. More than that, we gave a sufficiently frank and precise justification of the defensive violence of the workers in the daily class struggle this side of the revolution. The court record bulges with proof that we had indeed advocated the organisation of workers defence guards. The testimony goes further — and this is a not unimportant detail and reveals that we translated the word into deed and took a hand in the actual organisation and activities of defence guards and picket squads when concrete circumstance made such actions possible and feasible.

We are not pacifists. The world knows, and the prosecutor in our trial had no difficulty in proving once again, that the great Minneapolis strikes, led by the Trotskyists, were not free from violence and that the workers were not the only victims. We did

not disavow the record or apologise for it When the prosecutor, referring to one of the strike battles in which the workers came out victorious, demanded: "Is that Trotskyism demonstrating itself?" he received a forthright answer. The court record states:

A: Well, I can give you my own opinion, that I am mighty proud of the fact that Trotskyism had some part in influencing the workers to protect themselves against that sort of violence.

Q: Well, what kind of violence do you mean?

A: This was what the deputies were organised for, to drive the workers off the street.

They got a dose of their own medicine. I think the workers have a right to defend themselves. If that is treason, you can make the most of it.¹⁹

With this testimony we said all that needs to be said on the question of violence in the daily class struggle, as in the previously quoted testimony we said enough about violence and the transition to socialism. If this method of presentation did not help the prosecutor, we can say again: That was not our duty. If it is objected that even in this example of the Minneapolis strike, dealing with an indubitable case of working-class violence, we insisted on its *defensive* nature, we can only reply: In real life the difference between careful defensive formulation and light-minded "calls for action" is usually, in the end result, the difference between real action and mere talk about it.

4. Is it correct to say we prefer a peaceful transition?

Our repeated insistence at the trial that we *prefer* a peaceful transition to socialism, and that we resort to violence only as a defensive measure, brings objection and ridicule from our critic. "Why not", says Munis — "why not ask forgiveness, besides, for seeing ourselves painfully obliged to employ violence against the bourgeoisie?" It is possible that others may regard our formulation as lacking in aggressiveness and militancy but, being more indulgent than Munis, pass it off as a legal euphemism, justifiable under the circumstances. To be sure, our formulation helped our position from a legal standpoint and we did not hesitate to emphasise it in this respect. Also, in our opinion, the declaration that we, the Trotskyists, prefer a peaceful change of society, is a good propaganda approach to the democratic-minded. American workers. These two considerations are very important, but we are quite ready to agree that they would not justify the use of a false or hypocritical statement or a statement contradicting principle.

We were guilty of no such dereliction. Our formula in this case also is the formula of the Marxist teachers. They not only insisted on the *desirability* of a peaceful change of society, but in certain exceptional circumstances, considered such a peaceful revolution possible. We, on our part, rejected any such prospect in the United States, but at the same time declared our preference for it and accused the ruling bourgeoisie

as the instigators of violence. In this we were completely loyal to Marxist doctrine and tradition. On the witness stand at Minneapolis we mentioned the opinion of Marx and Engels in regard to England in the 19th century. Here is the exact quotation from Engels:

Surely, at such a moment, the voice ought to be heard of a man whose whole theory is the result of a life-long study of the economic history and condition of England, and whom that study led to the conclusion that, at least in Europe, England is the only country where the inevitable social revolution might be effected entirely by peaceful and legal means. He certainly never forgot to add that he hardly expected the English ruling classes to submit, without a "pro-slavery rebellion", to this peaceful and legal revolution.²⁰

We should have added that the conditions of England in Marx's time exist no more and therewith his calculation is out of date and no longer applicable. At any rate, we made this clear with regard to the United States.

In *Terrorism and Communism*, a book aimed from beginning to end at the bourgeois-democratic fetishism of Kautsky, Trotsky defended the violence of the proletarian revolution as a weapon *forced upon it* by the violence of the counterrevolutionary bourgeoisie; never did he renounce a preference for the peaceful way. In his introduction to the Second English Edition, published in England under the publishers' title, *In Defence of Terrorism*, he explains the position as follows:

From the Fabians we may hear it objected that the English proletariat have it quite in their own hands to come to power by way of Parliament, to carry through peacefully, within the law and step by step, all the changes called for in the capitalist system, and by so doing not only to make revolutionary terrorism needless, but also to dig the ground away under the feet of counter-revolutionary adventurers. An outlook such as this has at first sight a particular persuasiveness in the light of the Labor Party's very important successes in the elections — but only at first sight, and that a very superficial one. The Fabian hope must, *I fear*, be held from the very beginning to be out of the question. *I say "I fear", since a peaceful, parliamentary change over to a new social structure would undoubtedly offer highly important advantages from the standpoint of the interests of culture, and therefore those of socialism.* But in politics nothing is more dangerous than to mistake what we wish for what is possible. (Our emphasis.)²¹

We tried to say the same thing at the trial in our own words and in our own way, suited to the circumstances. In this classic formulation of the question, the legal and propagandistic advantages of our "preference for a peaceful transition" fall into their proper place beside, and subordinate to, the most weighty considerations of all: "The interests of culture, and *therefore* those of socialism".

Trotsky, again, in his introduction to the book on *The Living Thoughts of Marx*, foretold a violent revolution for the United States, but he did not neglect to place the blame on the ruling class and express a different preference. Said Trotsky:

It would be best, of course, to achieve this purpose in a peaceful, gradual, democratic way. But the social order that has outlived itself never yields its place to its successor without resistance.²²

Lenin, as has been shown heretofore, denied the accusations of Bolshevik responsibility for violence so often that more than one critic of that revolutionary time, sick with radicalism and impatient for "action", might well have reproached him for the "euphemistic, sweetened character" of his statements and taunted him with the ironical query: "Why not ask forgiveness, besides?" However that may be, Lenin, preparing the greatest mass action in history by means of propaganda, insisted right up to the end that he preferred the peaceful road.

On October 9-10 he promised support to the Soviets "in every way" if they would but assume power and thus secure a peaceful development:

The proletariat will not hesitate to make every sacrifice to save the revolution, which is possible only by implementing the programme set forth above On the other hand, the proletariat would support the Soviets in every way if they were to make use of their last chance to secure a peaceful development of the revolution.²³

In the same article he maintained that even at that late day the Soviets had the possibility — "probably their last chance" — to secure a peaceful development:

By seizing full power, the Soviets could still today — and this is probably their last chance — ensure the peaceful development of the revolution, peaceful elections of the deputies by the people, and a peaceful struggle of parties inside of the Soviets; they could test the programmes of the various parties in practice and power could pass peacefully from one party to another.²⁴

As late as September 29 he contended that in Russia, under the unique conditions which he cited, "at that exceptional moment in history", a peaceful transformation was even *probable*:

The peaceful development of any revolution is, generally speaking, extremely rare and difficult, because revolution is the maximum exacerbation of the sharpest class contradictions; but in a peasant country, at a time when a union of the proletariat with the peasantry *can* give *peace* to people worn out by a most unjust and criminal war, when that union can give the peasantry *all the land*, in that country, at that exceptional moment in history, a peaceful development of the revolution is *possible* and *probable* if all power is transferred to the Soviets. The struggle of parties for power within the Soviets may proceed peacefully, if the Soviets are made fully democratic, and "petty

thefts" and violations of democratic principles, such as giving the soldiers one representative to every five hundred, while the workers have one representative to every thousand voters, are eliminated. In a democratic republic such petty thefts will have to disappear.²⁵

Trotsky, in his *History*, has explained this strategy of the Bolsheviks which was untainted by the fetishism of violence:

The transfer of power to the soviets meant, in its immediate sense, a transfer of power to the Compromisers. That might have been accomplished peacefully, by way of a simple dismissal of the bourgeois government, which had survived only on the good will of the Compromisers and the relics of the confidence in them of the masses. The dictatorship of the workers and soldiers had been a fact ever since the 27th of February. But the workers and soldiers were not to the point necessary aware of that fact. They had confided the power to the Compromisers, who in their turn had passed it over to the bourgeoisie. The calculations of the Bolsheviks on a peaceful development of the revolution rested, not on the hope that the bourgeoisie would voluntarily turn over the power to the workers and soldiers, but that the workers and soldiers would in good season prevent the Compromisers from surrendering the power to the bourgeoisie.

The concentration of the power in the soviets under a regime of soviet democracy, would have opened before the Bolsheviks a complete opportunity to become a majority in the soviet and consequently to create a government on the basis of their program. For this end an armed insurrection would have been unnecessary. The interchange of power between parties could have been accomplished peacefully. All the efforts of the party from April to July had been directed towards making possible a peaceful development of the revolution through the soviet. "Patiently explain" — that had been the key to the Bolshevik policy.²⁶

These words of the two greatest leaders of Marxism in action should have an instructive value for all revolutionary militants. Lenin's sincere and earnest talk about a "peaceful development of the revolution"; his offer to "make compromises" to assure "the last chance" for it; Trotsky's summary statement that the "key to the Bolshevik policy" had been the simple prescription: "patiently explain" — in all this it is shown that Lenin and Trotsky were completely free from radical bombast about violence. But in return, they organised a victorious proletarian revolution.

And they had prepared so well that the transfer of power did indeed take place in Petrograd without any large-scale violence. We did not falsify the historical fact at the trial when we said there was "just a little scuffling, that's all". The violence came afterward, initiated by the "proslavery rebellion" which was eventually crushed by the mass force of the people led by the Bolshevik Party. These impressive facts give the explanations and formulas of Lenin and Trotsky a certain authority for those who want to be Marxists.

5. "Submitting to the majority"

Comrade Munis is dissatisfied with our assertions at the trial that "we submit to the majority". The Oehlerites also are scornful of this declaration and represent it as some kind of capitulatory repudiation of our principles in order to impress the jury. All these assumptions are without foundation. Our "submission to the majority" was not first revealed at the trial. We said it before the trial and continue to repeat it after the trial. It is a correct statement of our position because it conforms both to reality and necessity. Moreover, our Marxist teachers said it before us; we learned it from them.

What else can we do but "submit to the majority" if we are Marxists, and not Blanquists or anarchist muddleheads? It is a timely occasion to probe into this question because we believe any ill-considered talk about some kind of mysterious "action", presumed to be open to us while we remain not only a minority, but a very small, numerically insignificant minority, can lead only to a dangerous disorientation of the party. An exposition of the Marxist position on this question can also be useful as an antidote for any remnants of the half-Blanquist tradition of the early years of the Comintern in America.

The pioneer communists in the United States (and not only here) heard of the Bolshevik victory in Russia long before they learned about the political method and propaganda techniques whereby the Bolsheviks gained the mass support which made the seizure of power possible. Their first impressions were undoubtedly coloured by the capitalist press accounts which represented the revolution as a coup d'état engineered by a small group. This distorted conception was epitomised by the title given to the American edition of Trotsky's classic pamphlet *Terrorism and Communism*, which was published here by the party's publishing house in 1922 under the completely misleading title: *Dictatorship versus Democracy*. We took the "dictatorship", so to speak, and generously handed over to the bourgeoisie all claim to "democracy".

This was far too big a concession, perhaps pardonable in a young movement lacking adequate knowledge about the democratic essence of the Bolshevik program, but by far out of date today. The bourgeoisie have always tried to picture communism as a "criminal conspiracy" in order to alienate the workers who are profoundly democratic in their sentiments. That was the aim once again in the Minneapolis trial. It was our task at the trial to go out of our way to refute this misrepresentation and emphasise the democratic basis of our program; not in order to placate our enemies and persecutors, as is assumed, but in order to reveal the truth to our friends, the

American workers.

We cannot eat our cake and have it too. We must either "submit" to the majority and confine ourselves to propaganda designed to win over the majority — or, we must seize power, more correctly, *try* to seize power and break the neck of the party, by minority "action".

Marxist authority is clear and conclusive in choosing between these alternatives. When we took our stand in court regarding "submission" to the majority we were not "folding our arms" and making "opportunistic" statements of "passivity in the face of the imperialist war", as we are accused. Nothing of the sort. The testimony states, repeatedly, and with sufficient emphasis, that, while "submitting to the majority" — that is, making no minority insurrections or putsches — we are organising, speaking, writing, and "explaining"; in other words, carrying on *propaganda* with the object of winning over the *majority* to our program, which is the program of social revolution.

Neither were we simply trying to "make an honourable impression on the jury without taking into consideration that we should talk for the masses". To be sure we did not stupidly disregard the jury which held the fate of twenty-eight comrades, not to mention the legality of the party, in its hands. But we were speaking also, and *especially*, "for the masses". We testified primarily for publication. It was our deliberate aim to convince those who would read the testimony in printed form of the *truth* that the proletarian movement which we aspire to lead is a *democratic* movement, and not a "conspiracy", as the prosecutor and the whole of the capitalist press would picture it, and as loose talkers would unconsciously aid them to so picture it; not a scheme to transfer power from one clique to another, but a movement of the majority in the interest of the majority.

In addition, it may as well be said candidly that this testimony was also deliberately designed as an educational shock to such members and sympathisers of our movement as may still, at this late day, be dabbling with the idea of a shorter cut to socialism by some mysterious prescription for "action".

The Marxist authorities have all spoken in one voice on this question.

The *Communist Manifesto*, the first and the most fundamental statement of the principles of scientific socialism, defined the proletarian movement of emancipation, in contradistinction to all others in history, as follows:

All previous historical movements were movements of minorities, or in the interest of minorities. The proletarian movement is the self-conscious, independent movement of the immense majority, in the interest of the immense majority.²⁷

The communist political method and strategy follow ineluctably from this basic premise. Nowhere and never have the authoritative representatives of Marxism formulated the question otherwise. The Marxists aim to make the social transformation *with* the majority and not *for* the majority. The irreconcilable struggle of Marx and Engels against the Blanquists revolved around this pivot.

In 1895, summing up the experience of fifty years, Engels wrote, in his Introduction to Marx's *Class Struggles in France*:

The time of surprise attacks, of revolutions carried through by small conscious minorities at the head of the unconscious masses, is past. Where it is a question of a complete transformation of the social organisations, the masses themselves must also be in it, must themselves already have grasped what is at stake, what they are going in for, body and soul. The history of the last fifty years has taught us that.²⁸

The successors of Marx and Engels followed in their footsteps. The experiences of the Russian Revolution confirmed in life the basic premise of the founders of scientific socialism. It was precisely because Lenin and Trotsky had assimilated this concept into their flesh and blood that they knew how to concentrate their whole activity on propaganda *to win over the majority*, biding their time till they gained the majority, and resorting to "action" only when they felt assured of the support of the majority.

What did they do in the meantime? They "*submitted to the majority*". What else could they do? Lenin explained it a hundred times, precisely In those months and days when the Bolsheviks were consciously preparing the struggle for power. In his "April Theses" on "The Tasks of the Proletariat in the Present Revolution", published in *Pravda* on April 20, 1917, a few days after his return to Russia, Lenin wrote:

As long as we are in the minority we carry on the work of criticising and exposing errors and at the same time we preach the necessity of transferring the entire state power to the Soviets of Workers' Deputies, so that the people may overcome their mistakes by experience.²⁹

A few days later, he returned to this question, explaining the reason for this attitude, the reason being that "we are not Blanquists, we are Marxists". On April 22 he wrote:

To become a power the class conscious workers must win the majority to their side. *As long as* no violence is used against the people there is no other road to power. We are not Blanquists, we do not stand for the seizure of power by a minority. We are Marxists, we stand for proletarian class struggle against petty-bougeois intoxication, against chauvinist-defencism, phrase-mongering, and dependence on the bourgeoise.³⁰

Not once or twice, but repeatedly and almost continually, so that neither friend nor foe could possibly misunderstand him, in the months directly preceding the October Revolution, Lenin limited the Bolshevik task to the propaganda work of "criticising", "exposing errors" and "advocating" in order to "win the majority to their side". This was not camouflage for the enemy but education for the workers' vanguard. He

explained it theoretically as we, following him, tried to explain it in popular language at the trial.

Again, in April 1917, refuting the accusations of Plekhanov and others who accused the Bolsheviks of "anarchism, Blanquism, and so forth", Lenin once again explained the question, for the benefit, as he said, of "those who really want to think and learn". Into a few paragraphs he compresses a profound thesis which every member of the workers' vanguard ought to learn by heart. He wrote:

In my theses, I absolutely insured myself against skipping over the peasant movement, which has not outlived itself, or the petty-bourgeois movement in general, against and *playing* at "seizure of power" by a workers' government, against any kind of Blanquist adventurism; for I pointedly referred to the experience of the Paris Commune. And this experience, as we know, and as Marx proved at length in 1871 and Engels in 1891, absolutely excludes Blanquism, absolutely ensures the direct, immediate and unquestionable rule of the *majority* and the activity of the masses only to the extent that the majority itself acts *consciously*.

In the theses, I very definitely reduced the question to one of *a struggle for influence within* the Soviets of Workers', Agricultural Laborers', Peasants' and Soldiers' Deputies. To leave no shadow of doubt on this score, I *twice* emphasised in the theses the need for patient and persistent "explanatory" work "adapted to the *practical* needs of the *masses*".

Ignorant persons or renegades from Marxism, like Mr. Plekhanov, may shout about anarchism, Blanquism, and so forth. But those who want to think and learn cannot fail to understand that Blanquism means the seizure of power by a minority, whereas the Soviets are *admittedly* the direct and immediate organisation of the *majority* of the people. Work confined to a struggle for influence *within* these Soviets cannot, simply *cannot*, stray into the swamp of Blanquism. Nor can it blunder into the swamp of anarchism, for anarchism *denies the need for a state and for state power* in the period of *transition* from the rule of the bourgeoisie to the rule of the proletariat, whereas I, with a precision that precludes any possibility of misinterpretation, *advocate* the need for a state in this period, although, in accordance with Marx and the lessons of the Paris Commune, I advocate not the usual parliamentary bourgeois state, but a state *without* a standing army, *without* a police opposed to the people, *without* an officialdom placed above the people ³¹

Again explaining wherein "Marxism [differs] from Blanquism" — he obviously considered it absolutely necessary for the advanced workers to understand this so as to be sure of their ground at every step — he wrote in a letter to the Central Committee of the party on September 26-27, 1917:

To be successful, insurrection must rely not upon conspiracy and not upon a party, but

upon the advanced class. That is the first point. Insurrection must rely upon a *revolutionary upsurge of the people*. That is the second point. Insurrection must rely upon that *turning-point* in the history of the growing revolution when the activity of the advanced ranks of the people is at its height, and when the *vacillations* in the ranks of the enemy, and *in the ranks of the weak, half-hearted and irresolute friends of the revolution* are strongest. That is the third point. And these three conditions for raising the question of insurrection distinguish *Marxism from Blanquism*.³²

Naturally, when Lenin, or any other Marxist, spoke of the necessity of the revolutionary party having the support of the majority he meant the real majority whose sentiments are ascertainable in various ways besides the ballot box of the bourgeois state. On the eve of the insurrection he wrote his devastating attack on Zinoviev and Kamenev, who opposed the insurrection on the ground, among other things, that "we do not enjoy a majority among the people, and in the absence of that condition insurrection is hopeless".

Lenin, in "A Letter to the Comrades", written on October 29-30, scornfully dismissed the authors of this statement as "either distorters of the truth or pedants who want an advance guarantee that throughout the whole country the Bolshevik Party has received exactly one-half of the votes plus one, this they want at all events, without taking the least account of the real circumstances of the revolution". Nevertheless, he took pains to prove the Bolsheviks had the majority by "facts": "the August 20 elections in Petrograd" ... "the district council elections in Moscow in September" ... "the new elections to the Soviets" ... "a majority of the peasant Soviets" who had "expressed itself *against* the coalition" ... "the soldiers are passing *en masse* over to the side of the Soviets" ... "Last, but not least ... *the revolt of the peasantry*". He concluded his argument on this point by saying: "To doubt now that the majority of the people are following and will follow the Bolsheviks is shameful vacillation."³³

Once again disavowing Blanquism, he wrote in his polemic against Zinoviev and Kamenev:

Military conspiracy is Blanquism, *if* it is organised not by a party of a definite class, *if* its organisers have not analysed the political moment in general and the international situation in particular, *if* the party has not on its side the sympathy of the majority of the people, as proved by objective facts \dots^{34}

On September 25-27 Lenin called upon the Bolshevik Party to take power. In this famous letter, addressed "to the Central Committee, the Petrograd and Moscow Committees of the Russian Social-Democratic Labor Party", Lenin, with the logic and directness which characterised him, states his premise and his conclusion in the first sentence:

The Bolsheviks, having obtained a majority in the Soviets of Workers' and Soldiers' Deputies of both capitals, can and *must* take state power into their own hands.³⁵

He was not worried about a "formal" majority; "No revolution ever waits for *that*". But he was sure of the *real* majority. He insisted upon the revolution "*at this very moment*", as he expressed it, not sooner and not later, because:

The majority of the people are *on our side*. This was proved by the long and painful course of events from May 6 to August 31 and to September 12.: The majority gained in the Soviets of the metropolitan cities *resulted* from the people coming over *to our side*. The wavering of the Socialist-Revolutionaries and Mensheviks, and the increase in the number of internationalists within their ranks prove the same thing.³⁶

The prosecution at the Minneapolis trial attempted to convict us, as charged in the indictment of an actual "conspiracy to overthrow the government by force and violence". We successfully refuted this accusation, and the indictment covering this point was rejected by the jury. The most effective element of our refutation of this absurd charge against our small party was our exposition of the democratic basis of the proletarian program, of the party's reliance on the majority to realise its program, and its corresponding obligation, while it remains in the minority, to "submit to the majority". In making this exposition we had a legal purpose, but not only a legal purpose, in mind. As with all the testimony, it was designed primarily to explain and simplify our views and aims to the workers who would be future readers of the published court record.

We also thought a restatement of the Marxist position in this respect would not be wasted on the members of our own movement and might even be needed. The discussion which has arisen on this question only proves that we were more correct in this latter assumption than we realised at the time. Socialism is a democratic movement and its program, the program of the vanguard party, can be realised only with the support of the majority. The party's basic task, while it remains in the minority, is "propaganda to win over the majority". To state this was not capitulation to the prejudices of the jury; it is the teaching of Marx and Lenin, as has been shown in the foregoing references.

6. Marxism & war

Our insistence at the trial that we undertake revolutionary action only with the support of the majority and not over their heads has brought a criticism also in connection with our attitude toward war, but this criticism is no more valid than the others and has no more right to appeal to the authority of Lenin.

Comrade Munis quotes with sharp disapproval the following answer to a

hypothetical question concerning what our attitude would be in the event of the United States entering the war (this was before the declaration of war):

A decision has been made, and is accepted by the majority of the people, to go to war. Our comrades have to comply with that.

Munis widens the gap between his understanding of revolutionary policy and ours by strongly objecting to this, as it appears to us, obviously correct and necessary statement. He says:

In the first place, the decision to go to war has *not* "been made and accepted by a majority of the people". This statement can be criticised very strongly, a statement that we would censure very energetically if it were made by a centrist. In place of accusing the government of leading the American people to the slaughter against the will of the majority, instead of accusing it emphatically before the masses and of demonstrating to them how the parliamentarian majority acts against the majority of the people, Cannon endorses Roosevelt's decision as if it really corresponded to the majority of the people.

This impassioned rhetoric contains neither logic, nor Leninism, nor understanding of my statement nor an answer to it. "In the first place", I didn't "*endorse* Roosevelt's decision, as if it really corresponded to the majority of the people". I said, "the decision (hypothetically) is *accepted* by a majority of the people", the decision which has been "*made*" by others, for obviously one does not "accept" a decision which he has made himself. But that is only a small point which illustrates that the testimony was carelessly read before it was even more carelessly criticised.*

In the essence of the matter, the majority do in fact *accept* and *support* either actively or passively, the "decision to go to war". This is an incontestable fact, as shown by the complete absence of mass opposition. It is this attitude of the majority which we have to contend with. The fact that the decision was *made* by others does not help us. It is the attitude of the masses toward the decision that we must contend with.

What can and what should we, as Leninists, do while the masses maintain their present attitude? — that is the question. To make our position clear it is necessary to

^{*} From similar carelessness in reading the testimony, Munis blithely represents us as "asking the expulsion from the party of the militants who organise *protests* in the army", and of "disauthorising agitation and protests in the army". On the contrary, we defended the right of such agitation and protests, as a not too hasty reading of the testimony will convince anyone who is interested. What we "disauthorise" is futile and suicidal individual acts of insubordination and obstruction by members of our small party, acts which could only isolate them from the soldier mass under the given conditions and operate against the aim of winning over the majority. That is not the same thing as "disauthorising agitation and protests in the army".

complete the answer given in the testimony which Munis broke off in the middle. He stops with our statement that "our comrades have to comply" without adding the sentences which explain what is meant by "compliance". Here are the explanatory sentences:

Insofar as they are eligible for the draft, they must accept that, along with the rest of their generation, and go and perform the duty imposed on them, *until such time as they convince the majority for a different policy*.

When the quotation is restored in full text it begins to look somewhat different than Munis hastily pictured it. It is nothing more or less than a warning to individual workers of the vanguard, who may be drafted, to "go with the rest of their generation" and not waste their energy and militancy on individual resistance, refusal of military service, etc. Was this warning correct? And was it necessary? As to the correctness of the warning, from the standpoint of Leninism, it will suffice to give two authoritative quotations. The first is a representative extract from Lenin's writings during the First World War:

Refusal to serve with the forces, anti-war strikes, etc., are sheer nonsense, the miserable and cowardly dream of an unarmed struggle against the armed bourgeoisie, vain yearning for the destruction of capitalism without a desperate civil war or a series of wars.³⁷

The second quotation is from the fundamental theses, "War and the Fourth International":

If the proletariat should find it beyond its power to prevent war by means of revolution — and this is the only means of preventing war — the workers, together with the whole people, will be forced to *participate in the army and in war.*³⁸

This truth is presumably known to all revolutionists. But it was not always known. During the First World War many of the best proletarian militants in the United States knew no other way to express their principled opposition to the imperialist war than by individual resistance to conscription, objection to and refusal of military service, etc. Much precious energy and courage were wasted that way. In testifying before the court, with a view to the publication of the testimony, we assumed that rank-and-file worker militants, to whom Lenin's tactics are as yet unknown, might read and be influenced by this warning to "accept" with the masses — "until such time as they convince the majority for a different policy". Our words were primarily directed to them.

We were not even dreaming either of "endorsing Roosevelt's decision" or of having to defend this ABC formulation within our own movement. We simply intended to say, in words and tone which we thought most efficacious from a propagandistic

standpoint in the situation, what Lenin said in February 1915:

What ought the Belgian Socialists to have done? Since they were unable to accomplish a social revolution together with the French, etc., *they had to submit to the majority of the nation* at the time and go to war ... "Citizens of Belgium! ... We are in the minority; *so I must submit to you and go to war*, but even then I shall call and prepare for civil war by the proletariat of all countries, because there is no other salvation for the peasants and workers of Belgium and other countries!" (Our emphasis.)³⁹

Lenin, you see, "submits to the majority". While he is in the minority, what does he do? He "preaches and "prepares". If this policy "can be criticised very strongly", then let the criticism be directed against Lenin. He is the author of the policy. We learned from him.

Munis quotes a sentence in the testimony: "We would not support the war in a political sense." Now, this single sentence, even standing by itself, is perfectly correct. But Munis is greatly dissatisfied with it.

"Why, then, equivocate so dangerously?" he asks. "I see no other reason but that our comrades have committed the very grave error of talking for a petty-bourgeois jury for the more immediate present not foreseeing the future struggles. Would it not have been better to state: 'We submit to your war, American bourgeois, because the violence of your society imposes it on us, *the material violence of your arms*. But the masses *will* turn against you. From today on, our party is *with* the masses in an irreconcilable struggle against your regime of oppression, misery and butchery. Therefore we will fight against your war with *all means*." (Our emphasis.)

This agitational substitute for the position we elucidated at the trial is false from beginning to end, as we shall demonstrate. The testimony explains what we mean by "political opposition":

A: By that we mean that we do not give any support to any imperialist war. We do not vote for it; we do not vote for any person that promotes it; we do not speak for it; we do not write for it. We are in opposition to it.⁴⁰

A declaration of war by the United States government would not change our position: **Q**: If the United States should enter into the European conflict what form would the opposition of the party take to the war?

A: We would maintain our position.

Q: And that is what?

A: That is, we would not become supporters of the war, even after the war was declared. That is, we would remain an opposition political party on the war question, as on others.

Q: You would not support the war?
Political Principles & Propaganda Methods

A: That is what I mean, we would not support the war, in a political sense.⁴¹ Under cross-examination by the prosecuting attorney the position was made more emphatic and precise:

Q: And you will seek to utilise war, during the war, to destroy the present form of government, will you not?

A: Well, that is no secret, that we want to change this form of government.

Q: And you look forward, do you not to the forthcoming war as the time when you may be able to accomplish that?

A: Yes, I think the forthcoming war will unquestionably weaken the imperialist governments in all countries.

Q: You said, I believe, that you will not support the war? You do not believe in national defence at all, do you?

A: Not in imperialist countries, no.

Q: 1 am speaking of this country.

A: I believe 100 per cent in defending this country by our own means, but I do not believe in defending the imperialist governments of the world —

Q: I am speaking about the government of the United States as it is now constitutionally constituted. You do not believe in defending that, do you?

A: Not in a political sense, no.

Q: You do not believe in defending it in any sense, do you?

A: I explained the other day, that if the majority of the people decide on war, and participate in the war, our people and the people under our influence will also participate in the war. We do not sabotage the war, we do not obstruct it but we continue to propagate our ideas, calling for a cessation of the war and calling for a change in government.⁴²

When Mr. Schweinhaut pursuing the question to the very end, introduced the summary paragraph of the "War Manifesto of the Fourth International", he was answered by an affirmation of that document which was completely devoid of any "ambiguity" or "inexactness":

Q: Now, on June 29, 1940, the *Socialist Appeal* published this from the report of the "Manifesto of the Fourth International": "Independently of the course of the war, we fulfil our basic task: We explain to the workers the irreconcilability between their interests and the interest of bloodthirsty capitalism; we mobilise the toilers against imperialism; we propagate the unity of the workers in all warring and neutral countries; we call for the fraternisation of workers and soldiers within each country, and of soldiers with soldiers on the opposite side of the battlefront; we mobilise the women and youth against the war; we carry on constant persistent, tireless preparation of the

revolution — in the factories, in the mills, in the villages, in the barracks, at the front and in the fleet." You want the soldiers to do that, don't you?

A: Yes, I think that is a summation of the idea, for the soldiers and everybody to do that. That is the way to put an end to this slaughter.⁴³

In the face of these quotations from the court record one is reasonably entitled to ask: What does Comrade Munis want of us? What more needs to be said before the capitalist court or in a popular propagandistic exposition anywhere? Neither Lenin nor Trotsky, to judge from their own writings, would demand more of our party.

Trotsky, who was an internationalist to his heart's core, explained that a socialist party, which was in the minority at the outbreak of the First World War, was required to and *could only*, take up a position of *political opposition* until such time as "the change in the feeling of the working masses came about". That is the way he expounded the problem in *War and the International*. This book, written during the First World War and published in the United States under the publisher's title, *The Bolsheviki and World Peace*, is one of the classics upon which our movement has been raised and educated. Trotsky wrote:

The advance guard of the Social Democracy feels it is in the minority; its organisations, in order to complete the organisation of the army, are wrecked. Under such conditions there can be no thought of a revolutionary move on the part of the Party. And all this is quite independent of whether the people look upon a particular war with favour or disfavour. In spite of the colonial character of the Russo-Japanese war and its unpopularity in Russia, the first half year of it nearly smothered the revolutionary movement. Consequently it is quite clear that, with the best intentions in the world, the Socialist parties cannot pledge themselves to obstructionist action at the time of mobilisation, at a time, that is, when Socialism is more than ever politically isolated.

"And therefore there is nothing particularly unexpected or discouraging in the fact that the working-class parties did not oppose military mobilisation with their own revolutionary mobilisation. Had the Socialists limited themselves to expressing condemnation of the present War, had they declined all responsibility for it and refused the vote of confidence in their governments as well as the vote for the war credits, they would have done their duty at the time. They would have taken up a position of waiting, the oppositional character of which would have been perfectly clear to the government as well as to the people. Further action would have been determined by the march of events and by those changes which the events of a war must produce on the people's consciousness. The ties binding the International together would have been preserved, the banner of Socialism would have been unstained. Although weakened for the moment the Social Democracy would have preserved a free hand for a decisive

interference in affairs as soon as the change in the feelings of the working masses came about.⁴⁴

The same idea was explained over again by Trotsky twenty-two years later in his testimony before the Dewey Commission in 1937. He still prescribes "political opposition" as a revolutionary method. At that time France had a military alliance with the Soviet Union and he was asked the hypothetical question by Stolberg:

You are a responsible revolutionary figure. Russia and France already have a military alliance. Suppose an international war breaks out ... What would you say to the French working class in reference to the defence of the Soviet Union? "Change the French bourgeois government" would you say?

Trotsky's answer is especially interesting to us, since the United States today stands in the position of France of 1937 in relation to the Soviet Union, and the hypothetical war has become a reality:

This question is more or less answered in the theses, "The War and the Fourth International", in this sense: In France I would remain in opposition to the Government and would develop systematically this opposition. In Germany I would do anything I could to sabotage the war machinery. They are two different things. In Germany and in Japan, I would apply military methods as far as I am able to fight, oppose, and injure the machinery, the military machinery of Japan, to disorganise it, both in Germany and Japan. In France, it is political opposition against the bourgeoisie, and the preparation of the proletarian revolution. Both are revolutionary methods. But in Germany and Japan I have as my immediate aim the disorganisation of the whole machinery. In France, I have the aim of the proletarian revolution.

In his "April Theses", which is a sufficiently authoritative document since it was the program for the revolutionary struggle of the Bolsheviks in Russia under conditions of war, Lenin thought it enough, in dealing with the question of war and the government to say: "not the slightest concession must be made to 'revolutionary defencism"; "No support must be given to the Provisional Government" because it is "a government of capitalists"; power must be transferred to the Soviet; and then to add:

In view of the undoubted honesty of those broad sections of the mass believers in revolutionary defencism who accept the war only as a necessity, and not as a means of conquest, in view of the fact that they are being deceived by the bourgeoisie, it is necessary with particular thoroughness, persistence and patience to explain their error to them \dots^{46}

Political opposition ("No support to the Provisional Government") and *propaganda* ("patiently explain") — these are the weapons with which Lenin and Trotsky prepared and finally carried through the proletarian revolution. They will suffice for us too. Our

propagandistic explanations of our war policy in the Minneapolis courtroom are neither "opportunistic" nor "equivocal". They contain the essence of the teachings and practice of Lenin and Trotsky.

The alternative formulas of Comrade Munis, however, contain one error after another. According to him, we should have said:

We submit to your war, American bourgeois, because the violence of your society imposes it on us, the material violence of your arms.

That is not correct. If that were so we would have no right to condemn acts of individual resistance. When militant workers are put in fascist prisons and concentration camps because of their socialist opinions and activities they submit, but only through compulsion, to "the material violence of arms". Consequently, individuals or small groups are encouraged and aided to "desert" to make their escape whenever a favourable opportunity presents itself, without waiting for and without even consulting the majority of the other prisoners in regard to the action. The revolutionary movement gains by such individual "desertions" because they can restore the prisoner to revolutionary effectiveness which is largely shut off in prison. Trotsky, for example, twice "deserted" from Siberia without incurring any criticism from the revolutionists.

Compulsory military service in war is an entirely different matter. In this case we submit primarily to *the majority of the workers* who accept and support the war either actively or passively. Since we cannot achieve our socialist aims without the majority we must go with them, share their hardships and hazards, and win them over to our side by propaganda on the basis of common experiences. To accept military service under such circumstances is a revolutionary necessity. Individual resistance, objection, desertion, etc. in this case — directly contrary to that of prisoners escaping from "the violence of arms" — constitute desertion of class duty. The party, which applauds and aids the escaping prisoner, condemns draft dodgers and deserters. The escaped prisoner frees himself to resume revolutionary work. The individual deserter from the military service cuts himself off from the mass who have to make the revolution and thereby destroys his value.

"From today on", Munis would have us say, "our party is with the masses in an irreconcilable struggle against your regime of oppression, misery and butchery. Therefore we will fight against your war with all means".

The regime of the bourgeoisie is here justly described. The rest of it is incorrect and contradictory; it "skips a stage" in the evolution of the attitude of the masses toward the war, and precisely that stage which must be the point of departure for our propaganda — *the present stage*. To say to the bourgeoisie, "The masses *will* turn against you" in the future, means only that they have not yet done so. It cannot logically be followed by the assertion, "from *today* on, our party is *with the masses* in an irreconcilable struggle, etc".

The masses *today*, thanks to all kinds of compulsions and deceptions, and the perfidious role of the labor bureaucracy and the renegade socialists and Stalinists, are accepting and supporting the war, that is, they are acting *with the bourgeoisie* and not with us. The problem for our party is, first, to *understand* this primary fact; second, to take up a position of "*political opposition*"; and then, on that basis, to seek an approach to the honestly patriotic workers and try to win them away from the bourgeoisie and over to our side by means of *propaganda*. That is the only "action" that is open to us, as a small minority, at the present time.

It is also incorrect to say "we will fight against your war with *all* means". While we are in the minority we fight with the Marxist weapons of political opposition, criticism and propaganda for a workers' program and a workers' government. We reject the pacifist "means" of abstention, the anarchist "means" of individual sabotage and the Blanquist "means" of minority insurrection, the putsch.

It would appear that Munis' erroneous explanation of the primary reason why a minority revolutionary party "submit" to the war, his tendency to skip a stage in the workers' development and his lack of precision in speaking of the struggle against the war by "all means" — these errors lead him to slide over to equally loose and ill-considered formulations as to those means of struggle which are open, and advantageous, to the minority party of revolutionary socialism.

7. Marxism & sabotage

The everlasting talk about "action", as if a small minority party has at its disposal, besides its propaganda — its "explanations" — some other weapons vaguely described as "actions" but not explicitly defined, can only confuse and becloud the question and leave the door open for sentiments of an anarchistic and Blanquist nature. We, following all the Marxist teachers, thought it necessary to exclude such conceptions in order to safeguard the party from the danger of condemning itself to futility and destruction before it gets a good start on its real task at this time: to *explain* to the masses and win over the majority.

That is why we utilised the forum of the trial to speak so explicitly about our rejection of sabotage. That is why we denied all accusations in this respect so emphatically. Not — with Munis' permission — for lack of "valour", but because, as Marxists, we do not believe in sabotage, terrorism, or any other device which substitutes the actions of individuals or small groups for the action of the masses.

There can be no two positions on this question. Marxist authorities are universal

on one side — against sabotage as an independent means of revolutionary struggle. This "weapon" belongs in the arsenal of anarchism.

Sabotage was once the fashion in this country — in the politically primitive days before the First World War. Imported from France where it was advertised as a miraculous remedy by the anarchists and anarcho-syndicalists, sabotage was taken up by the IWW, the left socialists, and the radical intellectuals, who in those days had a decidedly anarchistic hue. It seemed for a time to offer a wonderful short cut to victory for a movement which wasn't doing so well with the humdrum job of educating and organising the workers for mass action.

The consequences of this anarchistic folly were disastrous for the IWW. The advocacy of sabotage only repelled the masses and left the IWW members in a legally indefensible position. To avoid complete alienation from the workers, and for sheer self-preservation of the organisation in the face of prosecutions during the war, the IWW was compelled to drop the "weapon" of sabotage overboard with the most unseemly haste.

Those who have memories of this unhappy experience, especially those who, as participants in the American syndicalist movement burned their fingers on this hot poker, will be least of all inclined to play with the idea of sabotage again. Sabotage is not the slogan of proletarian power and confidence but of petty-bourgeois futility and despair.

The fundamental theses, "War and the Fourth International" state categorically: Individualistic and anarchistic slogans of refusal to undergo military service, passive resistance, desertion, sabotage are *in basic contradiction* to the methods of the proletarian revolution. (Our emphasis.)⁴⁷

Lenin wrote:

Not *sabotage* of the war, not separate, individual actions in that spirit, but *mass propaganda* (not only among "civilians") leading to the transformation of the war into a civil war ... *Not sabotage of the war*, but the struggle against chauvinism ... (Our emphasis.)⁴⁸

Munis is especially indignant at our rejection of sabotage in the testimony, but he is wrong in his criticism and wrong even, it would appear, in his understanding of the question:

"The defendants", he says, "saw themselves forced to condemn sabotage in general, as though it dealt with something criminal".

Again:

For moments there is evidence that the defendants really consider sabotage a crime. If I am not mistaken — and I hope I am — this is a dangerous moral predisposition.

To that we can only answer with the French expression: "It is worse than a crime — it is a blunder". As to the "moral" aspect of the question — that does not exist for us. Our considerations in this respect are exclusively political.

Of course, if one wants to discard precision of definitions and dump everything into one pot loosely described as "actions", disregarding proportion, circumstance, and the relation between actions which are *primary* and *fundamental* and those which are *subordinate* and *auxiliary* — in that case we can argue endlessly in a closed circle But Marxism abhors vagueness of expression; it calls things by their right names — precisely.

Sabotage, to us, means individual acts of obstruction and destruction, substituted for mass action. That is the way Marxism defines it and, thereby, condemns it. Similarly, individual terrorism. But it is necessary to understand that such actions have one quality when employed as *substitutes* for mass action and another quality when subordinated to and absorbed by mass action. Marxism is opposed to terrorist assassinations, for example, but not to wars of liberation waged by the oppressed masses, even though wars entail some killing of obnoxious individuals. So, also, with acts of obstruction and destruction as *part of* and *subordinate* to wars waged by the masses, not as substitutes for them. "Terrorism" and "sabotage" are then no longer the same things. Everything changes, including the attitude of Marxists, according to what is *dominant* and what is *subordinate* in the circumstances.

Thus, if it is argued that Trotsky, in his answer to Stolberg, asked for sabotage of the military machinery in Germany and Japan, it must be pointed out that his proposal was made only in the event of war against the Soviet Union. Then sabotage in Germany and Japan would be not an independent revolutionary action but a secondary military measure of support to the mass action of the Red Army. Trotsky never asked for sabotage as a means of overthrowing a fascist or any other type of bourgeois regime from within.

Comrade Munis seems to invest sabotage with a virtue in its own right. We, on the other hand, admit "sabotage" only as a minor auxiliary factor in mass actions; that is, when it is no longer sabotage in the proper sense of the term. The difference is quite fundamental.

Munis writes: "I believe that sabotage is a method for tactical use whose application at *certain moments* can be productive of contrary effects to what is intended." (Our emphasis.)

This is putting the question upside down. Sabotage produces "contrary effects", not once in a while but always, when it is employed by itself as a substitute for mass action; like all anarchistic methods it tends to disorganise and demoralise the mass

movement which alone can bring us to socialism through the proletarian revolution. Munis' formulation, contrasted to that of Trotsky in his article, "Learn to Think", shows a great difference of conception. Trotsky wrote:

The proletarian party does not resort to artificial methods, such as burning warehouses, setting off bombs, wrecking trains, etc., in order to bring about the defeat of its own government Even if it were successful on this road, the military defeat would not at all lead to revolutionary success, a success which can be assured only by the independent movement of the proletariat ...

The methods of struggle change, of course, when the struggle enters the openly revolutionary phase. Civil war is a war, and in this aspect has its particular laws. In civil war, bombing of warehouses, wrecking of trains and all other forms of military "sabotage" are inevitable. Their appropriateness is decided by purely military considerations —

civil war continues revolutionary politics but by other — precisely military — means.⁴⁹ Sabotage is admissible as a weapon of the proletarian movement only "in quotation marks" as elucidated by Trotsky. That is, when, strictly speaking, it is no longer sabotage, but a minor military measure supplementing mass action. Whoever speaks of sabotage in any other framework does not speak the language of Marxism.

8. Defensive formulations & the organisation of action

In general, it may be said that the source of all the criticism of our expositions at the Minneapolis trial is to be found in the apparent rejection of defensive formulations, and in counterposing "offensive action" to them. But the essence of the whole question consists in this, that defensive formulations prepare and help to create genuine mass actions, while "calls to action", not so prepared, usually echo in the void. It is not by accident that those revolutionists who understand this are precisely the ones who have shown the capacity to organise actions when the conditions for them are present. The ultraleft sectarians, meantime, who do not understand the best mechanism for the organisation of actions — that is, precisely, defensive formulations — always remain alone and isolated with their impatient slogans and their self-imagined intransigence.

Our critics explain our resort to defensive formulations by the theory that our strategy in court was determined above all by concern to obtain light sentences. "Our comrades ... try to make an honourable impression on the jury without taking into consideration that they should talk for the masses." We seem to "have one policy for the masses and another for appearances before a bourgeois judge".

However, this appraisal of the motives of the defendants, which falls short of flattery, is somewhat contradicted by the fact that we immediately published the testimony in our press and then republished it in thousands of copies in pamphlet

form, "for the masses". We do not deny anyone the right to his opinion as to the moral content of our conduct at the trial, and we do not intend even to debate the question on that ground. In this domain "actions speak louder than words". But we shall attempt a political exposition, basing ourselves on Marxist authority, of the role of defensive formulations in the organisation of proletarian mass action.

Also, defensive formulations are an indispensable medium for teaching the masses, who will not be convinced by theory but only by their own experience and propaganda related thereto. This experience of the masses proceeds in the main along the line of defensive actions. That is why defensive formulations are most easily comprehensible and represent the best approach of the revolutionary Marxists to the masses. Finally, it is a tactical and legal consideration of no small importance in a bourgeois-democratic country that defensive formulas partially disarm the class enemy; or in any case, make their attacks more difficult and costly. Why should such advantages be thrown away?

Defensive formulations retain their efficiency in all actions involving masses, from the most elementary economic strikes to the open struggle for power. Those who aspire to organise action ought to know this.

American economic strikes have been explosively violent and the violence has not all been on one side. The instinctive militancy of the workers, as revealed in these strikes, would indicate that when the time comes for grandiose revolutionary actions, these same workers will remain true to their tradition and not be paralysed by Quakerism.

Every strike leader worth his salt knows, however, that strikers are not mobilised and sent into action against strikebreakers, thugs and lawbreaking cops by lecturing them on the virtues of violence and "calling" them to take the "offensive". The workers, militant and courageous as they may be, prefer victory by peaceful means; and in this they only show good sense. In addition strikers, at the beginning, almost invariably entertain illusions about the impartiality of the public authorities and tend to assume that they, as well as the bosses and their hirelings, will respect the rights of the strikers and the justice of their cause.

They need experience, which as a rule is soon forthcoming, to change their attitude and move them to militant action. They need also some assurance that legal right is on their side. Strike leaders who seek not self-expression but victory in the strike, who understand that it can be won only by means of mass solidarity and mass action, must take these illusions and sentiments of the workers into account as the point of departure. Strike leaders can in no case begin with loose-mouthed "calls" for violent offensive action by the strikers. The first task is to *explain* the implacable nature of the struggle in which the self-interest of the bosses excludes fair play, and the role of the public

authorities as political servants of the bosses; the second task is to *warn* the workers to expect violent attacks; and the third task is to prepare and organise the workers to *defend themselves and their rights*. Along these lines, and as a rule only along these lines, the struggle can be consciously developed in tempo and scope The most effective mass action of the strikers, as every experienced organiser of mass actions knows, is organised and carried out under *defensive slogans*.

Matters are no different when the workers' mass action ascends from the elementary field of the economic strike to the topmost peak of the class struggle — the open fight for political power. Here also the action proceeds under defensive slogans and, to a very large extent also under cover of legality. Trotsky has demonstrated this so convincingly in his monumental *History of the Russian Revolution* that there remains no ground for serious debate in our ranks on the subject. To the student it should be sufficient to say: There is the book; go and read it. To the critic who imagines, without having thought the matter out that, defensive formulations signify squeamishness or hedging on principle, we say and we shall prove: That is the way the great Russian Revolution was organised and carried through to victory.

Here is the way Trotsky explains the question:

The attacking side is almost always interested in seeming on the defensive. A revolutionary party is interested in legal coverings. The coming Congress of Soviets, although in essence a Soviet of revolution, was nevertheless for the whole popular mass indubitably endowed, if not with the whole sovereignty, at least with a good half of it. It was a question of one of the elements of a dual power making an insurrection against the other. Appealing to the Congress as the source of authority, the Military Revolutionary Committee accused the government in advance of preparing an attempt against the soviets. This accusation flowed logically from the whole situation. Insofar as the government did not intend to capitulate without a fight it could not help getting ready to defend itself. But by this very fact it became liable to the accusation of conspiracy against the highest organ of the workers, soldiers and peasants. In its struggle against the Congress of Soviets which was to overthrow Kerensky, the government lifted its hand against that source of power from which Kerensky had issued.

It would be a serious mistake to regard all this as juridical hairsplitting of no interest to the people. On the contrary, it was in just this form that the fundamental facts of the revolution reflected themselves in the minds of the masses. (Our emphasis.)⁵⁰

Again:

Although an insurrection can win only on the offensive, it develops better, the more it looks like self-defence. A piece of official sealing-wax on the door of the Bolshevik editorial rooms — as a military measure that is not much. But what a superb signal for

battle!"51

On the night of the victorious insurrection the Bolsheviks accused the official government as "conspirators" making an "assault" which had to be forcibly resisted:

Telephonograms to all districts and units of the garrison announced the event: "The enemy of the people took the offensive during the night. The Military Revolutionary Committee is leading the resistance to the assault of the conspirators." The conspirators — these were the institutions of the official government. From the pen of revolutionary conspirators this term came as a surprise, but it wholly corresponded to the situation and to the feelings of the masses.⁵²

This accusation was broadcast to the whole country. The insurrection was justified as a reply to the "offensive" of the enemy:

The sailor Kurkov has remembered: "We got word from Trotsky to broadcast ... that the counterrevolution had taken the offensive." Here too the defensive formulation concealed a summons to insurrection addressed to the whole country.⁵³

At every step, as the struggle unfolded and neared its climax, the Bolsheviks clung to their defensive formula, not as a petty deception but because that is the way the issue appeared to the workers and soldiers. Even at a caucus of Bolshevik delegates to the Soviet Congress, held on October 24, that is, the day of the insurrection, they still found it necessary to retain the "defensive envelope of the attack". Says Trotsky:

There could be no talk of expounding before this caucus the whole plan of the insurrection. Whatever is said at a large meeting inevitably gets abroad. It was still impossible even to throw off the defensive envelope of the attack without creating confusion in the minds of certain units of the garrison. But it was necessary to make the delegates understand that a decisive struggle had already begun, and that it would remain only for the Congress to crown it.⁵⁴

On October 23, the day before the insurrection, an all-city conference of the Red Guard was held in Petrograd. The resolution adopted by the conference, says Trotsky:

 \dots defined the Red Guard as "an organisation of the armed forces of the proletariat for the struggle against counterrevolution and the defence of the conquests of the revolution. Observe this: that twenty-four hours before the insurrection the task was still defined in terms of defence and not attack.⁵⁵

Naturally, being Bolsheviks, their "defence" had nothing in common with the policy of folded arms. They were prepared for eventualities but they never gave up the advantage of "seeming on the defensive". Trotsky spoke at the caucus of Bolshevik delegates on the 24th:

Referring to recent articles of Lenin, Trotsky demonstrated that "a conspiracy does not contradict the principles of Marxism", if objective relations make an insurrection

possible and inevitable. "The physical barrier on the road to power must be overcome by a blow …" However, up till now the policy of the Military Revolutionary Committee has not gone beyond the policy of self-defence. Of course this self-defence must be understood in a sufficiently broad sense. To assure the publication of the Bolshevik press with the help of armed forces, or to retain the Aurora in the waters of the Neva — "Comrades, is that not self-defence? — It is defence!" If the government intends to arrest us, we have machine guns on the roof of Smolny in preparation for such an event. "That also, comrades, is a measure of defence."⁵⁶

Trotsky painstakingly explains how the October Revolution was developed by defensive formulations from link to link over a period of thirteen or sixteen days during which "hundreds of thousands of workers and soldiers took direct action, defensive in form, but aggressive in essence". At the end of that time, the masses being fully mobilised, there remained "only a rather narrow problem" — the insurrection, the success of which was assured.

The October revolution can be correctly understood only if you do not limit your field of vision to its final link. During the last days of February the chess game of insurrection was played out from the first move to the last — that is to the surrender of the enemy. At the end of October the main part of the game was already in the past. And on the day of insurrection it remained to solve only a rather narrow problem: mate in two moves. The period of revolution, therefore, must be considered to extend from the 9th of October, when the conflict about the garrison began, or from the 12th, when the resolution was passed to create a Military Revolutionary Committee. The enveloping manoeuver extended over more than two weeks. The more decisive part of it lasted five to six days — from the birth of the Military Revolutionary Committee to the capture of the Winter Palace. During this whole period hundreds of thousands of workers and soldiers took direct action, defensive in form, but aggressive in essence. The final stage, when the insurrectionaries at last three off the qualifications of the dual power with its dubious legality and defensive phraseology, occupied exactly twenty-four hours: from 2 o'clock on the night of the 25th to 2 o'clock on the night of the 26th.⁵⁷

Up to the decisive moment the Bolsheviks not only insisted on the defensive form of their actions; they also held onto Soviet legality "of which the masses were extremely jealous". It must have been a shock to Mr. Schweinhaut, the government prosecutor at the Minneapolis trial, when we defended the "legality" of the October Revolution. He, like many others, imagined that Bolsheviks disdainfully cast aside such trifles as legal justifications even when they are available. The prosecutor must have been still more discomfited when we proved the legality of the revolution under cross-examination. And we were not dissimulating. Trotsky explained this question also in his refutation

of Professor Pokrovsky who had attempted to make fun of the "legalistic" contentions of the Bolsheviks. Trotsky would not let such arguments pass even in the guise of jesting remarks. He answered:

Professor Pokrovsky denies the very importance of the alternative: Soviet or party. Soldiers are no formalists, he laughs: they did not need a Congress of Soviets in order to overthrow Kerensky. With all its wit such a formulation leaves unexplained the problem: Why create soviets at all if the party is enough? "It is interesting", continues the professor, "that nothing at all came of this aspiration to do everything almost legally, with soviet legality, and the power at the last moment was taken not by the Soviet, but by an obviously 'illegal' organisation created *ad hoc*". Pokrovsky here cites the fact that Trotsky was compelled "in the name of the Military Revolutionary Committee", and not the Soviet, to declare the government of Kerensky non-existent. A most unexpected conclusion! The Military Revolutionary Committee was an elected organ of the Soviet. The leading role in the Committee in the overturn did not in any sense violate that soviet legality which the professor makes fun of but of which the masses were extremely jealous.⁵⁸

After these explanations of Trotsky about the defensive slogans whereby the Bolsheviks organised their victorious struggle for power it should not be necessary to say anything more on the subject. The method here acquires unimpeachable authority by virtue of the fact that it was not only expounded, but also successfully applied to the greatest revolution in history. In this light the defensive formulations employed by us in the Minneapolis trial, far from being repudiated, must be underscored more decisively. They are the right formulations for a propagandistic approach to the American workers. And they are the best methods for the mobilisation of the workers for mass action throughout all stages of the development of the proletarian revolution in the United States.

New York, May 1942



Above: *Minneapolis defendants James P. Cannon, Felix Morrow and Albert Goldman.*

Right: Carl Skoglund, Grace Carlson and Vincent Dunne jailed for being socialists.

Below: CRDC secretary George Novack taking appeals to Presidential Pardons Authority, Washington DC, 1944.





Speech on the Way to Prison

By James P. Cannon

This last opportunity to speak to you for a period, comrades, is also the first opportunity I have had to thank you all for the gifts that were presented to me and Rose on the occasion of the fifteenth anniversary of our movement. We were both given gold watches by the comrades of Local New York. While I will not be able to take the watch with me to Sandstone penitentiary, I will nevertheless be able to take something even more valuable than the watch or any other material gift. That is the memory of your kindness and your friendship.

It is always the most important thing in a new situation to understand what it is, to know exactly what has happened and why. Trotsky taught us that, among so many other things. He frequently repeated his favorite motto, from Spinoza: "Neither to weep nor to laugh, but to understand".

The new situation is very clear to us, and I think our understanding is accurate. As the United States began to gear all its machinery for entry into the new imperialist war, it became necessary again to fool the people. Here, as throughout the world, a tremendous, worldwide mechanism of deception, falsification, and misrepresentation was turned loose on the people. It was once said that in every war the first casualty is the truth, and surely the truth was the first casualty of this war. The world is flooded, inundated by lies. We are living, you might say, in the epoch of the lie. Natalia Trotsky, in a letter she wrote to us not long ago, said that the lie has entered like a geologic layer into the spiritual life of the people of the world: but even geologic layers are not indestructible. The coming social revolution will blow the stratum of lies to bits, as a volcano blows up a geologic stratum.

In this time, when the people of the world, and the people of America among them, needed one thing more than anything else — to know the truth — they were fed on lies. All those in public life, all the political parties; all the preachers, priests, and

This speech was delivered on December 26, 1943 to a banquet in New York. It is taken from the *Militant*, January 8, 1944.

rabbis; all the intellectuals who had promised to instruct and educate and inform the youth — they all betrayed the people of America; they sold them out and went over to the camp of the liars and deceivers. Our party alone did not betray, did not sell out. We Trotskyists told the truth. That is the reason, and the only reason, we are on our way to prison. We obeyed the first commandment in the decalogue of Trotskyism, which reads: "Thou shalt not lie".

We are not criminals, as you know, and as all of the others know. We are not going to prison for any fault or injury committed against unoffending people. We didn't kill, we didn't steal, and we didn't lie. On the contrary, we have been just and truthful. All the criminals are on the other side. And all the liars are on the other side, beginning with the judge and prosecutor in Minneapolis and ending with the highest court in the land. That is where the criminals are. I say that those nine black-gowned justices of the Supreme Court in Washington are just as criminal as any of them. They are on a level with Roosevelt and Biddle, who started the prosecution, and the lesser figures who carried it through. The august court did not pass judgment upon us. They played the ignominious role of Pontius Pilate, who washed his hands.

The Supreme Court of the United States, many of whom were once members of the American Civil Liberties Union — democrats, if you please, and liberals who frowned upon the morality of the Bolsheviks and the Marxists — showed us what their morality consists of. They were not concerned if honest people had been condemned. They were not concerned if the treasured Bill of Rights had been trampled into the mire. They didn't see the act. They turned away. They washed their hands.

I say they are all liars and conspirators. They are all on the side of the rich and the privileged, and their actions, from beginning to end, have been entirely consistent with this position. Everything, from the time when Roosevelt gave Biddle instructions to start the prosecutions against us, up to the trial, up to the verdict and the condemnation, up to the sentencing in the federal court of Judge Joyce, up to the Pontius Pilate action of the Supreme Court of the United States — everything is consistent, everything is in order in the camp of the liars, the friends of the rich and privileged.

But how do matters stand with us? Are we consistent too? Yes, indeed. Everything is in order on our side. We neither laugh nor weep; we understand. We have understood from the beginning what might be the consequences of our undertaking. All people pay for their ideas what they think the ideas are worth. If some men are not prepared to pay with the sacrifice of one day's liberty or the missing of one meal or a little inconvenience for the sake of their ideas, they are only saying thereby that they set no serious value upon them. But we think our ideas are the most important thing in this world, that they represent the whole future of mankind. That is why, if we have to pay even a high price for the sake of those ideas, we pay it without whimpering. We are Trotskyists, you remember, and that means we are political people of a different breed.

The Trotskyist party is not like the other parties. It is a different kind of a party, different not in degree, but in kind, in quality. Other parties and other politicians set limits to what they will do. But the Trotskyists set no limit on what they will do for their ideas and, in the last analysis, they set no limits on the price they are prepared to pay for them. The others play for pennies, but the Trotskyist stakes his head. Therein is the difference. Therein is the chasm that separates the vanguard of the coming proletarian revolution from all politicians and parties who merely dabble with the idea.

I am not one of those who take lightly the iniquity that has been perpetrated against us. It is a severe and cruel punishment. We who love freedom and live for the idea of freedom are condemned to lose it for ourselves. We will not be free to come and go as we please. Our days and nights, through the long months leading up to the end of our sentence, will be regulated, and all our movements will be circumscribed by others. That will not be easy for rebels to bear. We will be forced into inactivity. What can be more cruel to a revolutionary activist than to be deprived of the opportunity to take part in the movement which means life to him — the very breath of life?

And then, also, it is no light matter that we have to be separated from our families, and they from us. True, we don't cry, and, as Rose said so magnificently in her speech here tonight, our women don't mope. But, nevertheless, we are human too. If we are struck a blow, we hurt; and if we are stabbed, we bleed. Separation from those whose lives are bound to us in an intimate personal way is no less cruel a punishment for us than it would be for others. Perhaps it is even more cruel because our personal intimate associations are bound up with a complete community of ideas and activity in every element of life. Such associations are perhaps a little closer, even a little dearer, if you will, than those of people who don't value ideas very much and who, consequently, don't attract to themselves personal associations such as ours.

But even if it hurts a little more, we can stand it better than the others because we are doing it on behalf of a cause that is more important than our personal lives. It is the cause that lifts us up and gives us strength. Socialism is greater than a mother and dearer than a wife. Knowing that, and knowing that our separation is forced upon us because of our devotion to the higher cause, is what makes it possible to bear and to withstand.

We haven't been taken by surprise. We have not been suddenly pulled up short and required to make a decision whether we are prepared to pay this price. Our decision was made in advance. We knew to begin with that to tell the truth, to take up

the cause of the poor and the persecuted against the rich and the mighty, to tell the truth in the face of all the liars in the world — we knew that course entailed risks. I knew that more than thirty years ago when I entered the socialist movement as a youth.

Socialism lifted me out of the drab surroundings and meager life of the poor town of Rosedale, Kansas, and showed me the vision of a new world. I thought it was good. I thought it worth fighting for. I was ready, more than thirty years ago, to fight for it at all hazards.

Nothing has ever changed my sense of proportion and of values in that respect. Neither persecution, nor poverty, nor hardship, nor the long days of internal struggles and factional quarrels that sear the souls of men in the political movement — none of that was able to change me or break me, because I never forgot what I started out to fight for. I kept undimmed my vision of the socialist future of mankind. Having that attitude, as all of the eighteen do, we can put so-called sacrifices in their proper setting and attribute to them their right place with a due sense of proportion.

Ben Hanford, one of the best loved of all the early socialist agitators in this country, once objected to a comrade's statement that he had made great sacrifices for the movement. He said he had received from the socialist movement something far greater and far better than he had ever been able to contribute to it. He had only been able to give time, effort and material means, but the socialist movement had given him a cause that was bigger than self. Therefore, he had a warrant for living in a world of poverty, hardship, discrimination, and injustice. "So please don't speak of my sacrifices", said Ben Hanford. "Socialism made a man of me, and I can never repay the movement for that."

We have not been idle in our time of comparative freedom. We have labored and we have created something that we can leave behind, very sure that it will not fall apart. A movement that is built upon ideas is a power that is hard to destroy. Indeed, it cannot be destroyed.

You remember the tragic time three years ago last August, when Trotsky fell victim to the assassin. Many people speculated that now, with the great genius-leader dead, the movement he had created would be scattered to the four winds and soon disappear. We knew it was not so, because the ideas Trotsky left behind were a mighty cement to keep the ranks together. The party didn't fall into disintegration. Far from it, the party continued to live and to grow. That will be the case now, too.

We go to prison confident that we are leaving behind us capable men and women who are qualified to take our places in the leadership of the party. They have not been selected in a hurry. When the decision of the Supreme Court was announced, we did not need an emergency meeting and a hurried search for comrades to take our places

Speech on the Way to Prison

in the leading positions. That had already been decided by the Fifteenth Anniversary Plenum of our party. But even the plenum decision was only a formality. In reality, the substitute leadership had been decided by the fifteen years of work and struggle in which certain individual comrades had been sifted out. They had shown their caliber. They had come forward, and by common consent they were designated to step into the places vacated by the eighteen.

Our party is built on correct ideas and therefore is indestructible. But, in addition to that, I believe there is in this party of ours an intangible power which reinforces the power of its ideas. That is the spirit of the party — its comradeship, its solidarity. You know the word *comrade* has been so long abused and so badly defiled by self-seekers and pretenders that honest people sometimes shrink from using the word any more. But in the movement that has been created under the inspiration of Trotsky, with his example always before us, the word *comrade* has acquired a new, fresh meaning that animates the members of.our movement not only in their political work in the class struggle, but also in all their daily lives and associations with each other. It is not anymore, not with us, a formal and conventional word, but a bond of unity and solidarity. Our comrades are devoted to each other and trust each other. That is an intangible source of power that will yield great results in the days to come.

The grandest figure in the whole history of America was John Brown. In John Brown of Osawatomie, the word and the deed were always in harmony with each other, never in contradiction, never in conflict. When the old warrior went to Harpers Ferry to "interfere", as he said, against the abomination of chattel slavery, he took a small group of young men with him, among them some of his own sons. They went to Harpers Ferry where they perished because, like Luther, they could do no other. They felt required to do it. When Watson Brown, the son of the old man, lay dying in the firehouse, bleeding from his wounds, with his head resting on an old pair of overalls, the great governor of the slave state of Virginia came in to see him. He said to Watson Brown, "Young man, what brought you here?" Watson Brown answered him in two words: "Duty, Sir!"

I believe that is the case with us. I believe that we have been under the same compulsion as John Brown's young men were. We were obliged to tell the truth. We saw the abomination of the imperialist war and we were under compulsion to tell the people the truth about it. We saw the vision of a socialist society and were under compulsion to fight for it at all costs and despite all hazards. We have done our duty. And that, to me, on the eve of departure for Sandstone, is the important thing. That is why we go to the next stage of the struggle with a sure self-confidence and selfassurance.

We are historically minded. We know that in the great scale of history our personal fate is a trifle, our lives are a trifle. But the socialist goal of our struggle — that is no trifle. To serve that goal, as we have served it, that is enough. Let the consequences be what they may. Whether we participate in the final victory of the struggle of mankind for its socialist future, or whether it has to be built on a foundation of our bones, it will still be good for us that we took part in it, and we will have our justification and our reward.

No liars and conspirators, no Supreme Court and no prison, can take that satisfaction away from us. We were obliged to do what we did. As a consequence of our truth-telling and our struggle, we are now obliged to go to prison. We go there, however, not as criminals, but because duty takes us there.

Traditions & Guiding Ideas of the SWP in Defence Activities

By George Novack

Letters From Prison is the latest of three works by J.P. Cannon which were literary byproducts of the Minneapolis Labor Case. The other two are "Socialism on Trial", which gives his testimony for the defence, and "Defence Policy in the Minneapolis Trial" which was a refutation of the ultraleft criticism of the courtroom strategy made by Grandizo Munis. (He was a Spanish comrade who played a role in the Fourth International for a time until he broke with the Trotskyist movement in the late 1940s.)

These three productions do more than explain the approach of the Socialist Workers Party to this particular prosecution. They throw light on the basic problems connected with protecting the rights, principles and free functioning of a revolutionary socialist party under attack from a democratic capitalist government. A study of them can teach a great deal about the nature and methods of defence activity.

Few political organisations in the world, and none in the United States, have so rich a tradition in defence work as the SWP. The young members of our movement can enter into the possession of tested methods in this field. These have come from two sources: one of international, the other of native derivation.

The key constituent is those teachings which have been handed down from the leadership of the Bolshevik party and of the Third International in its formative years. These show how to adhere to a principled and effective course in parrying the blows of the class enemy.

The other part consists of the lessons learned from the experiences of the past hundred years in our own country. Many people have been victimised in all the

This is the text of a talk given in New York in 1968; it is taken from *Defence Policies and Principles of the Socialist Workers Party* (Education for Socialists, National Education Department SWP: New York, July 1968).

vicissitudes of the class struggle since the Civil War. A long line of cases have been fought in the courts and in the wider arena of public opinion to establish and uphold the rights of free speech, free association, union organisation, the right to strike and to disseminate unorthodox views on issues ranging from birth control to socialist revolution.

Whatever democratic freedoms the American people, the labor movement, and Afro-Americans now enjoy, by statute or in practice, were not generously bestowed upon them as free-will offerings from good-hearted possessors of property and power. They have had to be torn from the ruling class powers through bitter and prolonged battles, and sometimes with arms in hand.

They are, first of all, the results of two great bourgeois-democratic revolutions, one in the eighteenth, the other in the mid-nineteenth century, and of lesser encounters before and after these mighty upheavals. The prodigious exertions it has taken over the last decade to force a reluctant Congress to enact a few civil rights measures which do no more than promise the enforcement of constitutional guarantees to black citizens is fresh testimony to this process. And even after such laws are passed through strenuous struggle, unremitting vigilance is required to prevent them from being ignored, violated or restricted by authorities at varying levels.

The Trotskyist movement had the rare good fortune of being founded by individuals who had engaged in many outstanding labor defence cases and civil liberties campaigns in this country since the early years of this century. In this book Cannon recalls how he was stirred into indignation and action by the frame-up of the Western Miners Union leaders, Moyer, Heywood and Pettibone, in 1908 and later participated in defence movements for Schmidt and Kaplan, the McNamara brothers, Mooney and Billings. Along with Vincent Dunne and other veteran comrades, he was involved in the free speech fights of the Wobblies and was himself arrested and imprisoned as a union organiser and an opponent of imperialist war.

In the 1920s he and Rose Karsner were instrumental in launching and administering the International Labor Defence, the defence arm of the Communist Party. They not only organised massive campaigns on behalf of Sacco and Vanzetti, Tom Mooney and other martyrs of class justice in the United States but actions and demonstrations in solidarity with victims of reactionary persecution in other parts of the globe. Ironically, they helped save the life of Rakosi, the revolutionary of the 1920s, who after World War II became the detested Stalinist ruler of Hungary.

The initiating nucleus of the Communist Left opposition in 1928, Cannon, Karsner, Shachtman and Abern, worked together in the national headquarters of the ILD which, so to speak, became the cradle of American Trotskyism. Some of the first

Traditions & Guiding Ideas of the SWP in Defence Activities 1

recruits came from Communists who had been associated with them in various defence efforts.

Along with their revolutionary Marxist principles, these pioneers endowed our infant movement with a precious store of knowhow in this special domain of the class struggle. In all areas of revolutionary work it is often no less imperative to know what *not* to do as what to do and how to do it. Such knowledge is acquired as the product of earlier trials and errors. If the experiments performed by our predecessors have already exposed what ways and means are inadequate, correct measures can be unhesitatingly applied from the first.

Without such tested guidelines the militants of each successive generation would be condemned to a primitive accumulation of experience. This would result in the wastage of time, energy and personnel before the right road is found and in the repetition of old errors that can lead people far astray. The bad consequences of a lack of learning from experience can be discerned in the fumblings and gropings of many New Lefts in the most elementary matters since they set out to discover America all over again early in the sixties without the benefit of any compass of codified generalisations to direct them. Those who bank on spontaneous combustion all the time soon run out of fuel.

We are not empiricists or pragmatists but historical-minded scientific socialists of the Marxist school who integrate theory and practice. We didn't have to be a Christopher Columbus either in revolutionary program or in defence activity. The ample fund of expertise possessed by the founders of American Trotskyism formed part of the basic capital of our movement from its birth. That capital has been put to good use and considerably augmented in the four decades of our existence, as James Kutcher, the three students in the Bloomington case and Pfc Howard Petrick can personally testify.

Let me summarise the fundamental features of defence policy which the pioneers of our movement worked out and which have guided all our subsequent activities and achievements.

1. The democratic, constitutional and legal rights of the American people are the most valuable political acquisitions of their past struggles. Socialists must staunchly uphold these indispensable instruments of the workers' struggle for emancipation against any encroachment, assault or erosion by the forces of reaction. A strong defence of existing rights is the best way of extending them.

2. The right of legality is a crucial democratic right. It has taken tremendous sacrifice to secure the legality of trade unions and their right to strike, and of socialist parties and their right to advocate revolutionary views. These and similar conquests must not

be taken lightly. The free and legal functioning of all progressive organisations and causes should be safeguarded at all costs by the revolutionary vanguard.

3. At the same time it must be recognised that the capitalists run the machinery of state and control its repressive agencies. They will honour the rights of the individual citizen and the people only so long as these do not cut deeply into their vital interests. None of the agents of the plutocracy can be relied upon to adhere even to their own legality.

4. Regardless of their claims to the contrary, the ruling class of the capitalist state and their servitors are the inveterate enemies of democracy. They fear its application and resist its expansion. This imposes the obligation upon the forces of socialism and spokesmen for the working class to be the most vigorous and consistent champions of democratic liberties. They must defend all victims of reactionary persecution, no matter what their special beliefs. This injunction is summed up in the solidarity slogan of the IWW: "An injury to one is an injury to all."

5. Whatever illusions liberals and others may have, Marxists should repose no confidence in the capacity or will of the capitalist regime, its courts, officials or politicians to grant democratic rights. The best way to balk their frame-ups and insure a modicum of justice within class society is to develop a broad defence movement based upon those sections of the population which will lend an ear to the issues and respond to appeals on behalf of the defendants. Thus the counter-pressure of aroused public opinion can be brought to bear upon the authorities to frustrate, or make more difficult, their attacks upon democratic rights.

6. It is crippling and self-defeating for a defence case, committee and campaign to be conducted in a sectarian or exclusive manner. Appeals for support should be based, not upon agreement with the ideas or approval of the real or alleged acts of the defendants, but upon general civil liberties grounds. Care should be taken to point out how the issues at stake concern and affect the rights of others. Support should be solicited and welcomed from anyone willing to aid the defence on such a broad basis, regardless of their positions on other matters. The defence committee should stand ready to collaborate with other groups which have similar purposes in opposing violations of legal or human rights.

In addition to these comprehensive directing principles, the ILD contingent transmitted many tips on how best to apply them, "practical knacks of doing things, learned the hard way", as Cannon notes. These included the importance of keeping careful, accurate and unchallengeable financial accounts, such procedures in launching a defence committee as securing the written signatures rather than the verbal assurance of sponsors, how to keep a campaign moving along without flagging or sagging, how to

set up the right kind of relations between the lawyers, defendants and defence committee, and so on.

This sort of information was especially impressive to that group of intellectuals, myself among them, who came to the Communist League of America in 1933 after their disenchantment with the Communist party. As journalists, editors, writers, teachers, we had made our main practical contribution to the movement for socialism up to that point through defence work. We had been the chief organisers and administrators of the National Committee for the Defence of Political Prisoners, an adjunct of the by then Stalinised International Labor Defence, which listed such literary notables among its sponsors as Dreiser, Anderson, Dos Passos and Waldo Frank.

We had been active in sending delegations to expose conditions in the Harlan, Kentucky, mine region and in mobilising support for the Scottsboro and Angelo Herndon cases. It may be hard to believe nowadays but, as advertising manager of the conservative publishing house of E.P. Dutton, I was given permission to use its storing and shipping facilities for the Political Prisoners Book Committee from which books were sent every month to over a hundred long-term class war prisoners. Such was the temper of the depression days.

Our group first collided with the realities of Stalinism over issues connected with the proper handling of defence cases. We objected to the ultra-sectarian attitude, prompted by the Stalinist invention of "social-fascism". This absurd theory forbade solidarity with any person or political tendency which was not a satellite of the CP. The Stalinists pursued a "rule or ruin" policy toward Social-Democrats, Trotskyists, Anarchists or independents which precluded any form of united action with them in defence work.

As often happens, this excessive factionalism was complemented by lapses into opportunism when the CP got into a pinch or sought short-cuts out of difficulties. Thus we criticised the ILD's mismanagement of the legal side of the Scottsboro case. While refusing on principle, in that first stage of the fight, to seek collaboration with other organisations like the NAACP, the ILD relinquished control over the trial procedure to a careerist lawyer, Samuel Liebowitz, who later became notorious as a hanging judge in Queens. He made compromising statements to the press and unjustifiable moves in the courtroom conduct of the case.

These criticisms, among others, led to our forced resignations from the NCDPP and break with Stalinist politics. It likewise made us highly sensitive to questions of defence policy. The help we received from the Trotskyist leaders on these matters clarified many obscure and disturbing points and enhanced their authority in our eyes.

Upon joining the Communist League, we continued to be active in the defence

field not only as a matter of personal honour but to provide a better model of conducting such work along correct class lines. Together with the Musteites and the Italo-American Anarchists, we set up the Non-Partisan Labor Defence which, between 1934 and 1936, handled a variety of cases, from fighting the deportation of anti-fascists to defending indicted agricultural organisers in California who had been abandoned and calumniated by the CP. This committee was dissolved into the newly formed Workers Defence League when the Workers party membership entered the SP in 1936. We helped draft the charter of the Workers Defence League.

By far the biggest defence movement we undertook in the 1930s was the campaign to expose the Moscow Trials which was initiated by the American Committee for the Defence of Leon Trotsky. This was consummated with the report of the Dewey Commission of Inquiry in the fall of 1937 which branded the trials as frame-ups and found Trotsky and his son Sedov innocent of the monstrous charges against them. (The report of the hearings in that case has just been reprinted by Merit Publishers.)

This historical struggle to establish the truth about the foremost crime in the annals of socialism was carried on against great odds. It split the radical intellectuals into fiercely opposing camps and drew a number closer to our ideas. The impact of this controversy on the New York literary community is depicted in two of Mary McCarthy's works: *The Company She Keeps* and *On the Contrary*.

I have filled in so extensive a background to indicate what resources our movement had to draw on when the fight against Teamster President Tobin broke out and the FBI raided the SWP headquarters in Minneapolis and St. Paul on June 22, 1941, the day after Hitler invaded the Soviet Union. The federal indictments of 29 SWP and Local 544 leaders followed 23 days later.*

If the party was not to be demoralised and crushed, this prosecution had to be unflinchingly met with all our forces. No time was lost in springing into action on the defence front. Luckily the central leaders of the party, Cannon, Dobbs and Dunne, were in Minneapolis directing strategy and tactics in the union showdown with Tobin. Amidst the clashes of the embattled 544 Teamsters with Tobin's goons in the streets and on the highways, they were holding top strategy meetings in a house which Evelyn Reed and I had sublet for the summer in St. Paul.

At the first conference after the arrests, the decision was made that I should leave

^{*} This appears to be a mistake: the raids took place on June 27, five days after the German invasion of the USSR. The indictments were handed down on July 15. — *Ed.*

Traditions & Guiding Ideas of the SWP in Defence Activities 171

forthwith for the East to lay the groundwork for the defence effort. Off I hightailed to make three important stops. First, to confer with the New York comrades; second to visit Carlo Tresca, his companion Margaret DeSilver, and John Dos Passos who were summering at the tip of Cape Cod. Dos Passos and Tresca agreed to serve as vice-chairmen of the Civil Rights Defence Committee and Margaret to help financially as she had so generously done with the Dewey Commission. Then I sailed off to Martha's Vineyard to confer with Roger Baldwin, head of the ACLU, and Arthur Garfield Hays, its General Counsel, who promised legal and moral backing from that organisation with which we had had both agreeable and disagreeable dealings in previous situations.

Back in Manhattan, the novelist, James T. Farrell, who was then a very close sympathiser, was persuaded to become chairman of the projected defence committee. The staff which shouldered the daily organisational chores consisted of a team of hard-working comrades with Evelyn Reed in charge from beginning to end.

The National Committee proceeded to enlist such sponsors as Warren K. Billings, a living link with the past with whom I spoke at a meeting in San Francisco during 1944, John Dewey, W.E.B. DuBois, Prof. Mark De Wolfe Howe, Mary McCarthy and Edmund Wilson, Prof. Alexander Meiklejohn, A.J. Muste, Adam Clayton Powell and Max Shachtman, with whom we had not been on the best of terms but who collaborated loyally with us in this fight. Official endorsements secured from the more respectable ACLU and the Workers Defence League helped us solicit funds and gain access for CRDC representatives in other organisations.

The activity of the entire party from July 1941 to February 1945, when the last comrades quit prison, revolved round the case. Such priority was warranted by the grave issues at stake. Let me itemise five of them.

1. The legal existence of the party was endangered. Through its prosecution the government was trying to brand the Socialist Workers Party as conspiratorial and criminally subversive and thus force or intimidate us into a semi-legal situation or frame of mind, as they did with the CP from 1948 on. We were determined, if at all possible, not to allow the government to make us into outlaws. We cherish legal status, not because we are worshippers of bourgeois or bureaucratic legality at any price, but because we are well aware of the serious disabilities and disadvantages imposed by any degree of illegality. As he has related elsewhere, in the first chapter of *The History of American Trotskyism* and *The First Ten Years of American Communism* Cannon found out these facts of political life through his unfavourable experiences in the underground Communist movement of this country from 1919 to 1922. He had taken the initiative in extricating the young Communist party from its undergroundism with the help of Lenin, Trotsky, Zinoviev, Bukharin and other Comintern leaders in 1922.

2. The freedom of our best political and union leaders was involved. Apart from the personal hardships and loss of liberties, this threatened to behead our party at a critical time when it needed expert guidance.

3. The direct connection of the indictments with a conflict between the union members and an arbitrary and dictatorial bureaucracy squarely posed the right of the ranks to run their own union and freely choose their affiliation. Such issues of union democracy became exceedingly acute under wartime conditions. Many CIO leaders who rallied to our defence recognised that Minneapolis could be used against militant unionists elsewhere.

4. The case was a test of the Smith Act. This was the first statute since the Alien & Sedition Acts of 1798 to make mere advocacy of ideas a federal crime. If upheld, it would place a fearful instrument of inquisitorial thought control in the hands of reaction, as it turned out to be in the postwar witch-hunt.

5. Since the defendants were accused of conspiracy for adhering to the doctrines of Marx, Lenin and Trotsky and wanting to duplicate the October Revolution in the United States, (which was neither a lie nor a crime), the right to advocate and disseminate the ideas of Marxism was at stake.

The totality of these issues made the Minneapolis Case the most important civil liberties cause during World War II. Thanks in no small measure to our sustained propaganda, it became so at the time and its significance has not diminished since. For example, the General Counsel of the ECLC, Leonard Boudin, wanted to consult the record of the Minneapolis proceedings in preparation for the legal defence in Dr. Spock's indictment.

A rounded defence against a government prosecution must take two sides into account. One is the specific political stand of the party itself which asserts its position as a revolutionary socialist organisation. The more general undertaking to mobilise the widest possible support for the defendants is complementary to this.

To illustrate the first aspect, let me quote the defiant declaration which concluded the editorial published in the July 1941 issue of *Fourth International* magazine as our first response to the indictments.

As our tragically long list of martyrs throughout the world eloquently testifies, we Trotskyists cannot be terrorised by government prosecutions but will be tempered and tested in that fight Our party has been built under the most adverse conditions over twelve years of struggle. We survived the terrible blows of worldwide working-class defeats and the triumph of reaction. We survived — and grew stronger. We survived the most terrible blow of all, Stalin's murder of Leon Trotsky — and grew stronger. We answer Roosevelt's persecution as we have answered Stalin's persecution — You can put some of us out of the way, but you can never kill our party, for it is based on the unconquerable ideas of Marx, Lenin and Trotsky, and you can never kill those ideas.

We shall not retreat an inch. We shall recant nothing. We shall fight to the last ditch and with all our strength.

In our fight against these monstrous prosecutions, these Washington versions of the Moscow Trials, we are confident that we shall have the support of the progressive sections of the trade union movement and of all those who still retain any respect for democratic rights and civil liberties. In bearing the brunt of this attack, we are defending dearly-won rights of the entire labor movement. No matter what their political differences with our party and its program and activities, all workers must recognise that in this battle we are defending principles which we hold in common with the entire working class: the independence of the trade unions from governmental domination; the democratic rights of labor; the right of a political party of workers to advocate its prolabor views. These are the broad interests of the labor movement which we are defending against federal prosecution. We pledge our solemn word to the American working class to defend these interests to the very end.

More than a quarter of a century afterwards, these sentiments may strike a detached observer, accustomed to curb the tongue of passion under any provocation, as somewhat overheated. But we meant every word of it and went to work with a will to make it a reality.

Note that our political message was addressed to organised labor as well as to liberal and civil liberties circles. Remember that the prosecution, while essentially political, flowed from a big union battle with the AFL on one side and the CIO on the other. The combativeness that built the industrial unions was still strong and seething in labor's ranks. From the start the defence committee could count upon a significant amount of moral and material backing from progressive unionists. That would not be so today, though it may be tomorrow.

Although wartime conditions raised supplementary difficulties, several factors facilitated our efforts to secure support for the case. Many people feared a revival of the Wilsonian repressions and the witch-hunts of the Palmer Red raids. I know this was a compelling factor in inducing Dos Passos, who had written about these events in his famous trilogy, to become vice-chairman of the committee. Then there was the knowledge that Roosevelt had ordered the FBI into action as a favour to his union henchman Tobin. Apart from the vindictive Stalinists, many CIO officials and members regarded the federal intervention as a blow aimed at their own organisation. Finally, despite the Stalinist slanders, we had gained some respect as revolutionists of integrity. This reputation was an asset in times of trouble.

Without going into detailed description of the steps in the case, let me cite a few facts to denote the extent of our success in amassing support. When I went to Washington on August 2, 1944 to present the bundle of petitions submitted by the CRDC asking a presidential pardon for the 18, these were signed by organisations representing three million members.

Among them were the top officers of the Auto Workers, the Marine and Shipbuilding Workers, the Textile Workers, the ILGWU of the AFL, the Michigan and New Jersey State CIO Councils, 58 UAW locals, 22 Steel locals, and hundreds of other unions. All the civil liberties bodies, most of the prominent black organisations and labor fraternal groups endorsed our plea.

Although liberal and labor political publications carried stories from the first, the big press played down the case. We had to break through this silence by our own publicity efforts. The CRDC issued over 200,000 pamphlets and leaflets; mobilised 30 active local committees to promote its campaign; and raised more than \$50,000 to defray the costs of the case and aid the families of the defendants while they were behind bars.

In addition to the customary indifference and inertia, we had to contend with other types of resistance. We expected opposition from Tobin and his fellow fatcats. But the most vicious opposition came from CP sources.

A month after the indictments, on August 16, 1941, the *Daily Worker* heartily approved the government action, although it expressed preference for a Stalin-type frame-up rather than a Roosevelt Smith Act prosecution. The CP editors phrased their views in this fashion.

The American people, whose independence as a nation, together with that of the people of Great Britain and the Soviet Union is endangered and at stake in the fight for the defeat of Nazi Germany, can find no objection to the destruction of the Fifth Column in this country. On the contrary, they must insist upon it. The leaders of the Trotskyist organisation which operates under the false name of "Socialist Workers Party" deserve no more support from labor and friends of national security than do the Nazis who camouflage their party under the false name of "National Socialist Working Party".

Observe the concoction of patriotism, anti-fascism, pro-Sovietism and anti-Trotskyism to cement an amalgam between revolutionists and counterrevolutionists and implement a thoroughly abominable policy.

This rabid opposition was not confined to journalistic slander. Its poison was injected into all areas subject to Stalinist influence, above all into the unions. Wherever they could contrive to sabotage our appeals for aid, they did so. In Minnesota, for

Traditions & Guiding Ideas of the SWP in Defence Activities 175

example, the seat of the trial, the Stalinists and their dupes controlled both the city and state CIO Councils. There they prevented these bodies from solidarising with their brother unionists and were happy to see the best militants crushed and sent to jail.

Another, though milder, obstacle was the obstinate refusal of many liberals to believe that their idolised Roosevelt really meant business. When the Justice Department handed down the indictments, they said the charges were so far-fetched they couldn't stick and the government would have to drop the case. Then when the trial was held, they said a jury wouldn't convict. After the convictions, they predicted these would be reversed on appeal. When the lower court upheld the verdict, they swore that the US Supreme Court would rule the Smith Act invalid.

But that august body was more than usual blindfolded to justice in wartime. It three times refused to review the sentences, although these were the first under the clearly unconstitutional Smith Act. Finally, these spirits ever-optimistic at someone else's expense said the 18 would never serve out their terms; the merciful man in the White House would pardon them. Roosevelt refused.

On that occasion I was moved to paraphrase a familiar quatrain from Oliver Goldsmith as follows:

When trusting liberals stoop to folly

And learn too late their loves betray,

What charm can soothe their melancholy

Or wash their sense of shame away?

An equally revealing insight into capitalist realities and liberalistic illusions has been provided by the belated testimony of the Washington official who set the prosecution into motion, Solicitor-General Biddle. He was rewarded with the Attorney-General cabinet post soon after. In his autobiography, *In Brief Authority*, published twenty years later, this ornament of American liberalism made the following confession:

History showed that sedition statutes — laws addressed to what men said — invariably have been used to prevent and punish criticism of the government, particularly in time of war. I believe them to be unnecessary and harmful. This particular law made it criminal to advocate destruction of the government by force and violence. I doubted whether any speech or writing should be made criminal. I thought this provision might be declared unconstitutional under the First Amendment of the Constitution, which protected freedom of utterance. And, with some reluctance, I authorised a prosecution so that the law would be tested at the threshold, and taken to the Supreme Court, where it would, I hoped and believed, be knocked out ...

The judgment was sustained on appeal to the Circuit Court of Appeals; but to my surprise the Supreme Court refused to review it. The victory for the government

became a defeat for me. The law stood on the books. Uncomfortable about the result, I was not surprised when the American Civil Liberties Union and some of my liberal friends attacked me ...

I have since come to regret that I authorised the prosecution. I should not have tried to test the criminal provisions of the statute in this particular case ... There had been no substantial overt acts outside of talk and threats, openly expressed in the time-honoured Marxist lingo.

Despite restrictions, the CRDC managed to fill the prisoners' requests for books and periodicals as a result of negotiations with the now retired head of the Federal Bureau of Prisons, James Bennett. When the last legal move on appeal was exhausted, I went, in my capacity as secretary of the defence committee, to Washington by appointment to discuss with Bennett where the 18 would surrender to the marshals, what prison they preferred, and other matters pertaining to their terms. He was amenable to minor concessions for several reasons. Official Washington was aware of the scope of the sympathy for us and the unpopularity of the prosecution. He was also apprehensive about the trouble such a disciplined political group might provoke in prison.

Consequently, he gave the CRDC permission to send whatever books the 18 requested, subject to Washington's approval of the list submitted each month, as well as the *New York Times* and later *The Militant*. This last concession was unusual since publications of this type were normally banned from the federal prison system. However, the assurance was given that *The Militant* would be read only by the addressees — and I presume our comrades kept that promise — in mind.

Cannon refers to another avenue of communication with the world outside: the visits Evelyn and I made to the comrades; she to Grace Carlson at Alderson, West Virginia, and I to the comrades at Danbury, Connecticut. Most memorable was my stop at Sandstone on a nationwide speaking tour, where most of the comrades were imprisoned. Some of my best friends have spent time behind bars but I have led such an exemplary or lucky life that my acquaintance with such places was quite scanty. I was not sure how to conduct myself when the fourteen filed into a room at Sandstone and disposed themselves around me under a guard's surveillance.

I started out talking safely and sanely about the pardon campaign and defence activities. After a few minutes Cannon, as spokesman for the group, interrupted that line of remarks and said: "Now tell us what's going on in the Political Committee and the International movement." Being a disciplined comrade, I cautiously mentioned some political problems under consideration in New York, meanwhile glancing at the guard for fear of going too far out on a limb. By questions and comments Cannon kept encouraging me to speak up more freely. Taking the cue, we plunged into an animated

Traditions & Guiding Ideas of the SWP in Defence Activities 177

exchange of views on aspects of the political situation at home and abroad. I was later informed that the guard, who was nicknamed "Skyhawk", was utterly indifferent to what was being said, was a bit deaf, and had supposedly once voted for Debs.

What was achieved through our collective efforts over the four years? Although we did not save our leaders from jail, we did create a strong, honourable and wide-ranging defence movement around them. This helped deter the Roosevelt administration from further moves against our party. His Postmaster-General did try to deprive *The Militant* of its second-class mailing rights in 1943 because of our defence of the black struggle, but we had this decision reversed with assistance from the ACLU.

The membership successfully passed through a rigorous testing period. After effectively resisting the first assault, they held on tenaciously and proved capable of moving forward again with a turn of the tide in 1944-45, despite unfavourable wartime conditions and the absence of the front-rank leaders. After the party convention in November 1944 Cannon had ample reason to be jubilant over the signs of progress in various fields.

The Minneapolis Case stands out in party history as the keystone of its experience in defence activity. It was both the culmination of previous decades of work in this field and the springboard for all the postwar undertakings, notably the Case of the Legless Veteran and the Bloomington Case. And these are two high points in dozens of defence actions of various kinds the party has engaged in during the past two decades. The Fontana case in California, the Hickman case in Chicago, the "Kissing" case and the Monroe cases in North Carolina are four among many involving black victims alone.

With the challenge of each new prosecution either against ourselves or others whom we aided, we did not have to start from scratch but could summon considerable assets from the word "go". Such preparedness and preconditioning of our reflexes are largely responsible for the effectiveness of our interventions which is recognised by friend and foe alike, including Pentagon generals.

It has been gratifying to see how quickly recent recruits have picked up our basic ideas and here and there improved upon their application. When the American Committee for Justice to Latin-American Political Prisoners was in process of formation, Paul Sweezy remarked to its initiating group: "It should be set up like the Alexander Defence Committee which is a model." This tribute from the *Monthly Review* editor was fully justified.

If we compare the defence policies and procedures we follow with those of rival

tendencies, our superiority is incontestable. Let me cite a few examples.

When the Communist party was hit by the Smith Act prosecutions from 1949 on, they were unable to rally a sizeable popular protest movement which went much beyond their own supporters. Some of the reasons for this narrowness were rooted in the Cold War conflict and beyond their responsibility or control. However, their isolation in time of need was partially self-created by their previous refusal to support the Minneapolis Case and the Trotskyists.

They persisted in this suicidal course even while they were themselves under prosecution. In July 1949 they staged a Civil Rights Congress in New York to mobilise support for their defendants. There our spokesmen headed by Farrell Dobbs publicly proclaimed our solidarity with them, asking that the Congress also approve a pardon for the 18 Minneapolis defendants and back James Kutcher. The Stalinist refusal to defend the civil rights of their political opponents created a scandal and lost them much sympathy and support for their own cause. In fairness, it must be said that they have since revised that attitude of hostility and non-support to the Trotskyists, although their defence policy remains very defective in other respects.

The current offspring of the CP, who have had the misfortune to be educated, miseducated, or uneducated in the school of Stalinism, have committed a series of blunders which could fill a handbook on how not to behave in defence work.

Thus, when the DuBois Club came under attack from HUAC and the Subversive Activities Board, instead of building a broad defence movement along general civil liberties lines, their leaders called upon indignant individuals to join the DuBois Club as a sign of their protest. This not so clever gimmick may have given them a few temporary paper members, like Staughton Lynd, but it proved fatal to the formation of an adequate, expanding and correctly based movement.

It is possible and desirable to recruit in the process of a defence campaign, as we and others have done many times. But this accrues as a byproduct, an accessory result, of a properly conducted and constituted case, not as a direct and explicit demand of the defence.

The Maoist-minded Progressive Labor contingent has shown itself to be as inept as the Khrushchevists they belabor. When the leaders of the student delegation to Cuba were indicted on alleged passport violations, they proved utterly incapable of organising a nationwide defence movement around a popular issue. Contrast that default with the accomplishment of the Committee to Aid the Bloomington Students. Fortunately, the defendants in the passport case had a first-rate lawyer in Leonard Boudin which enabled the case to be won in the courts.

Despite their political disagreements and organisational rivalries, these

Traditions & Guiding Ideas of the SWP in Defence Activities 179

undergraduates of the Stalinist school display certain common characteristics in this area of activity. They are incurably sectarian and ultra-factional, determined to impose their own shibboleths and objectives and fearing close and loyal collaboration with other tendencies. We take no great satisfaction from their failures to pursue a correct or consistent course since they not only injure their own efforts but weaken the whole civil liberties front.

IV

Our general defence policy for the present period was formulated in the resolution adopted by the February 1950 plenum of the SWP National Committee on "The Capitalist Witch-hunt and How to Fight It". This was published in the March-April 1950 issue of *Fourth International* magazine.

Although written eighteen years ago at the beginning of the Cold War reaction and repression, it is not at all outdated in essentials. It remains a valid guide to the problems confronted in this domain today.

That document pointed out that the trends toward thought control and the police state were not episodic and peripheral but permanent and growing features of an imperialistic and militaristic monopoly capitalism in decay and at bay. It further stated that "the objective of our party is the creation of a broad nationwide defence movement, composed of all forces menaced by repression and devoted to the defence of all victims of reaction. Such a movement would revive on a higher level the spirit of class solidarity characterising the pre-World War I Socialist and labor movement."

Such a movement has yet to be built, although circumstances for its emergence are riper than they were at that time. The need for united defence both in particular cases and permanent form remains and will become more urgent as the resurgent radicalism and antiwar sentiment mounts, the black liberation struggle intensifies and labor reawakens. As mass opposition grows, persecutions multiply.

These prospects make it incumbent upon younger comrades and friends to get better acquainted with our rich store of traditions, methods and ideas in this field. I hope this talk will help do this.

Appendix The Capitalist Witch-Hunt & How to Fight It

Since the close of the war for "the four freedoms" the American people have been subjected to unparalleled attacks upon their democratic rights. These attacks testify to the ever-sharpening conflict between the monopolist masters of the United States and the interests of the great majority. Determined at all costs to maintain their privileges, powers and profits against the unsatisfied demands of the masses for peace, security, equality and liberty, the representatives of Big Business are compelled to deprive the people of their hard-won rights, destroy democratic institutions and head toward transforming the nation into a police state.

These capitalist-inspired assaults upon civil rights directly threaten the very existence of democracy and the labor movement in the United States. They provide daily proof that the American people cannot preserve, enjoy or enhance their freedoms unless they replace the dictatorship of the plutocracy with their own Workers and Farmers government.

The witch-hunt was planned and initiated by the highest agencies of the capitalist regime. It was unleashed in connection with the cold war under the pretext of eliminating Stalinists as agents of a foreign power. This manoeuver was facilitated by the fact that the Communist Party is so widely discredited, distrusted and detested as an apologist and tool of the counterrevolutionary Kremlin oligarchy.

But subsequent developments have unmistakably shown that the hue-and-cry against the CP was a prelude and cover for an all-out offensive against the basic rights of the entire American people. By now the thought-control system issuing from Washington has invaded almost every important department of American activity

This resolution was adopted by the February 1950 plenum of the National Committee of the Socialist Workers Party. It was published in *Fourth International*, March-April 1950.
The Capitalist Witch-Hunt & How to Fight It

and affected the lives and liberties of the most diverse categories of citizens.

Public and private workers alike, teachers and students, scientists and writers, clergymen and lawyers, unemployed and foreign-born have already been caught in the widening net of the witch-hunt.

Totalitarian methods used

The witch-hunters resort to a wide variety of reactionary methods and totalitarian techniques. They have instituted purges for opinion, political blacklists and frame-up trials They have done away with traditional safeguards of legal procedure by introducing the practices of conviction without hearings or trial; acceptance of the doctrine of "guilt by association"; presumption of guilt in the absence of proved innocence; and punishment of attorneys for the defence. They have developed the FBI into a far-flung secret political police relying on stool-pigeons and paid informers.

They have pressed every branch of the government into their service. The administration conducts its purge by usurping unconstitutional powers by decree. Congress enacts antilabor legislation like the Taft-Hartley Law and subsidises odious investigating bodies like the House Committee on UnAmerican Activities. The courts levy fines and issue injunctions against labor organisations like the miners. Posing as champions of "law and order", the Attorney-General and FBI do not hesitate to flout the law by wiretapping, perjury, etc.

The two principal weapons of the witch-hunters have been Truman's loyalty program and the Smith "Gag" Act. The first proscribes organisations solely because of their views and penalises their members and supporters by arbitrary administrative action. Organisations are placed on the Attorney-General's blacklist without notification, hearings, or specification of charges. There is no precedent in American history for such an official political blacklist which is borrowed from the "thought-control" arsenal of totalitarian states.

The government purge with its subversive blacklist has provided the inspiration, model and sanction for the entire campaign against civil rights.

The Smith "Gag" Act, first invoked in 1941 to imprison the 18 Trotskyists, has now been employed to stage a political trial and convict 11 leaders of the Communist Party. The upholding of the Stalinist convictions by the higher courts would considerably promote the government's aim to outlaw and suppress all minority political parties to its left.

The aim — war & fascism

All these measures serve to pave the way for still harsher legal and extra-legal moves

against the rights and liberties of the American people. The monopolists and militarists are deliberately working with a twofold end in view.

First, they are perfecting plans to impose a totalitarian military dictatorship in the event of war. The drive of American imperialism toward world domination and its preparations for war against the Soviet Union require regimentation of American labor, militarisation of the country, and the suppression of tendencies and voices critical of imperialist policies and practices.

Second, the witch-hunters are provoking mass hysteria against "reds" and against labor to create a political and psychological climate in which the most vicious ultrareactionary ideas, forces and activities can operate with impunity. A series of incidents over the past year indicates how the atmosphere generated by the witch-hunt encourages and incites mob violence against blacklisted groups, Negroes, Jews, and union leaders. Most spectacular were the attacks on two Robeson concerts near Peekskill where the local press, police and officials collaborated with hoodlums and legionnaires to beat up hundreds of people peacefully exercising their right to assembly.

The North witnessed an attack upon a white union organiser in Chicago who had invited Negro fellow unionists to his home; the South saw a reign of terror in Groveland, Florida, where the entire Negro community was driven out in fear of their lives.

This atmosphere has contributed to the renewal of murderous attempts on labor leaders, including the shooting of Victor Reuther, the placing of dynamite in the UAW headquarters in Detroit, the assassination of ILGWU organiser William Lurye in New York, etc.

The ultimate aim of the capitalist forces behind the witch-hunt is to stamp out all organised opposition to their autocratic rule. This means, above all, to cripple and crush the mighty labor organisations. The anti-union provisions of the Taft-Hartley Act are interwoven with its anti-communist clauses. The destruction of the unions cannot be decisively effected without eventual resort to fascism. Taft-Hartleyism, redbaiting, political blacklisting, thought-control, the instigation and protection of mob violence, race-hate are typical prefascist phenomena. They serve warning that the present witch-hunt is ploughing the ground and sowing the seeds for the future sprouting of outright fascist movements in the United States.

Role of the union bureaucracy

Only in the light of these circumstances is it possible to gauge the real role of the top union leaders and the full measure of their betrayal of the cause of democratic rights. Organised labor leagued with the Negro people and other minority groups can summon more than enough power and pressure to halt the onslaught of reaction. But

the union officialdom has been unwilling and unable to mobilise these forces in a mighty protest movement.

The union bureaucrats cannot combat the enemies of civil rights because they support the main foreign and domestic policies which have produced the witch-hunt as well as the Truman administration which is its prime author and promoter. Moreover, they have themselves become indispensable cogs in the witch-hunting apparatus.

With rare exceptions, the union leaders either enthusiastically endorse the prosecution of the CP under the Smith Act or take a noncommittal attitude toward it. Although formally on record against the Truman purge of government employees, they do not offer any vigorous opposition to its operations. They do not even put up a principled fight against the penetration of the purge system into private industry through political blacklisting, restricting and firings of union members in the plants.

Because of their commitment to State Department policy and tolerance of Truman's purge they are compelled to make one concession after another to the witch-hunters. Their resistance is actually reduced to occasional ineffective, halfhearted complaints against the most flagrant abuses and worst excesses of the drive against civil rights.

Far from heading a mass movement against the witchhunters, the AFL and CIO officialdom is busy carrying out parallel purges of their opponents within the unions. Here the concern of the union bureaucracy for self-preservation meshes into the "cold-war" plans of US imperialism and its political executives. The union leaders seek to cover up for their lack of fighting spirit against labor's foes and the failure of their policies to improve the workers' condition by an orgy of red baiting, not simply against the Stalinists, but against Trotskyists and other militants. They hope to forestall and stamp out all criticism in the ranks by a wild hue-and-cry against the "Commies", by penalties, intimidation and expulsions of union members and their spokesmen.

The AFL leadership has long been notorious for red-baiting. The new factor is the involvement of the CIO and the unrestrained participation of its top officials in the anti-red crusade. This came to a climax in the 1949 National CIO Convention where the Murray machine voted itself unprecedented centralised authority over all CIO affiliates; established discriminatory political conditions for full membership rights by barring "communists" from CIO national offices; ousted the United Electrical Workers and moved to expel other Stalinist-controlled unions.

The purge begun against the Stalinists is being extended to other individuals and groups disagreeing with the Murray machine or the anti-democratic actions bound up with its "CIO National Policy". The crudest application of this purge is taking place in the National Maritime Union where Curran's machine has instituted loyalty pledges,

Socialism on Trial

resorted to large-scale expulsions, trampled on the elementary rights of the members and even called in the cops to suppress the majority opposition in New York. Similar purges and unconstitutional expulsions have occurred in the AFL maritime unions, the SUP on the West Coast and the SIU on the East Coast.

The bureaucrats are abusing their complete control of the union apparatus, the hiring hall and the closed-shop, not only to deprive critical union members of their democratic rights, but also of their jobs.

Thus the struggle to maintain democracy inside the trade unions against the bureaucracy is directly linked with the struggle against the witch-hunters on a national scale.

Treachery of the Stalinist leaders

Although the main target of the anti-red drive, the Stalinist leaders have followed a no less perfidious policy in the field of civil rights than have the AFL and CIO officialdom. In 1941 the CP applauded the prosecution of the 18 Trotskyists in Minneapolis under the Smith Act which provided the precedent for their own trial and conviction in 1949. This conduct in turn has given union officials a precedent and plausible pretext for turning their backs upon Stalinist victims of the witch-hunt. Where the Stalinists have sought support beyond their own circles they have found themselves confronted with their rotten record of civil rights, and especially their denial of support to the Trotskyists.

The apologists for the totalitarian rule and countless crimes of the Kremlin find it difficult to come forward as exponents of democracy either in foreign affairs or in the trade unions. The Stalinist controlled unions are notorious for their lack of democracy, bureaucratic practices, and suppression of free speech.

Even now while under severe repression, the Stalinist leaders continue their criminal behavior, although it harms their own defence and enormously discredits them before public opinion. They try to sabotage aid for James Kutcher and oppose a presidential pardon and restoration of civil rights to the 18 Trotskyists. They demonstrated at the national Bill of Rights Conference in New York in July 1949 that they preferred to blow up a promising united-front defence movement rather than support any demand for civil rights to their political opponents.

The American agents of the Kremlin have amply shown that they cherish as little regard for the elementary duty of class solidarity and united action against the witchhunt as the union leaders who follow the line of the State Department. Their symmetrical policies of denying support to political opponents reinforce each other, helps the forces of repression, and weakens the fight against them.

Growing resistance to the witch-hunt

The American people have a firm attachment to democratic principles and glorious traditions of fighting for them. Over the past year there have been multiplying signs of resentment against the witch-hunters and a growing resistance to their attacks on civil rights.

The disclosures in connection with the Coplon trial that J. Edgar Hoover's secret political police was operating a huge network of paid informers and stoolpigeons, invading the private lives of many citizens and breaking the law by widespread wiretapping have called forth protests from prominent public figures, metropolitan newspapers, and even US Senators.

Numerous leading educators, learned societies and professional groups have criticised the encroachments on academic freedom arising from loyalty tests, redhunts, and the drive for ideological conformity. Presidents and faculties of universities in California, Illinois, New York and elsewhere have vigorously spoken out for free thought and free expression in the face of attempts to saddle their institutions with loyalty tests. This opposition stopped the textbook-burning plans of the House Un-American Committee.

The National Conference of the NAACP took a strong stand against the entire witch-hunt as an instrument of racial as well as political discrimination. The National Civil Rights Mobilisation conference at Washington this January grew out of the distrust and impatience of the Negro people at the failure to enact civil rights legislation.

Among the most encouraging manifestations of the determination to combat the loyalty purge has been the broad range of backing behind James Kutcher's case. Outstanding representatives of almost every section of the American people menaced by the thought-controllers have come forward to support his campaign, including hundreds of national, state and local unions.

The volume of protest has become so loud and the alarm among many of his liberal supporters so acute that Truman has had to issue soothing hypocritical assurances that the "hysteria" his administration fosters will soon die out.

'Critical' supporters & opponents

Two different attitudes toward the witch-hunt can be observed among the liberals. On the right, the Social Democrats inspired by the New Leader philosophy and other Trumanites have eagerly participated in the anti-communist campaign, although now and then deprecating certain "excesses" of its overzealous executors. These elements prefer a purge limited for the present to the Stalinists.

But the direct agents of the monopolists and militarists pay no heed to such

Socialism on Trial

reservations but take advantage of the red-scare and cold war propaganda to proceed against all opponents of their policies. They are even using the Hiss verdict to smear highly placed figures in the witch-hunting administration itself as dupes or tools of the "reds".

Against these collaborators with the witch-hunters stands another group of more militant and consistent liberals, a number of them associated with the Wallace movement, who are genuinely concerned over the drive toward a police-state and have proved willing to defend the rights of all victims of the repression, regardless of their political ideas or affiliations. It was these non-Stalinist liberals and Wallaceites who opposed the Stalinists and joined with SWP representatives at the national Bill of Rights Conference and elsewhere to uphold the principled position of defending civil rights for all.

Moreover, numerous members, unionists and sympathisers of the CP have balked against accepting the shameful and suicidal Stalinist line.

All these forces rising to resist the imposition of thought control upon America provide the basis for building a powerful united front mass movement dedicated to the preservation and extension of civil liberties.

Capitalism, Stalinism & democracy

Pointing to Stalinism as the horrible example, the propagandists of Big Business assert that socialism means slavery and that maintenance of the so-called "free-enterprise" capitalist system is the sole guarantee for preserving liberty in America. They are guilty of a double lie. First of all, the capitalist rulers and their henchmen who are carrying on the witch-hunt are the chief enemies of civil liberties and labor's rights today in the United States.

In the second place, Stalinism is not only anti-democratic but anti-socialist to the core. Stalinist totalitarianism flows from the irreconcilable hostility of the Soviet bureaucracy and its agents to the program and advocates of socialism.

The real situation is quite different. From the standpoints of both democracy and socialism, there are many bonds of identity between imperialism and Stalinism. Despite their different social bases, the destruction of democracy, either through the witch-hunts of the capitalists or the police-state methods of the Stalinists, have a common source in the concern for the perpetuation of the powers and interests of privileged groupings and their fear of the masses. That is why the imperialists and Stalinists can so often and easily join hands and align themselves against the interests of the people.

On the other hand, a movement which defends the welfare of the people and has no interests separate or apart from them, has no reason either to fear the masses or

The Capitalist Witch-Hunt & How to Fight It

hesitate to submit everything to their judgment and decision. The struggle for emancipation from capitalist domination and all forms of servitude can be most easily and effectively conducted under conditions of the greatest freedom for the masses. That is why, while recognising the inherent limitations of freedom under capitalist rule and in class society, revolutionary socialists have always demanded the widest possible democracy and have everywhere been in the forefront of all struggles for the defence and extension of the liberties of the people.

Today the intensified reactionary offensive against civil rights and the free functioning of the trade unions makes the struggle against the capitalist witch-hunters the urgent task of every worker and every individual concerned with the advancement of American society.

Unconditional defence of all victims

The cardinal rule of this struggle must be the unconditional defence of all victims of reactionary repression and united opposition to every restriction upon democratic rights. "An injury to one is an injury to all". Toleration or support to the infringement of the rights of any group or individual emboldens the witch-hunters and opens the way for further assaults upon others.

The Stalinists have provided a memorable lesson of the dangers arising from violating working class democracy and the principle of class solidarity. They began by breaking up meetings of political opponents; then refused to defend their opponents against persecution; and finally called upon capitalist authorities, including the FBI, to act against their opponents. These disreputable deeds have not only boomeranged against them but inflicted great damage in the entire field of labor defence by nullifying unity of action and handing the union bureaucracy an excuse for a parallel line of conduct.

Despite our irreconcilable differences, despite the crimes committed against our movement and the interests of labor by the Stalinists, we Trotskyists have invariably supported Stalinist victims of repression and called upon the rest of the working class to do the same. We follow this policy, not out of agreement with the Stalinists or in remission of their crimes, but solely because of our unwavering adherence to the principle of class solidarity.

SWP champions solidarity policy

Our party has become the banner-bearer and outstanding practitioner of this policy in the United States. We have consistently come to the aid of all victims of reaction, not only here but abroad. We have defended conscientious objectors, Jehovah's Witnesses,

Socialism on Trial

Puerto Rican Nationalists, foreign-born workers, Anarchists, liberal clergymen, teachers, scientists, writers and magazines threatened by censorship, civil service employees and many others. We have initiated and participated in many significant struggles to protect persecuted minorities like the Negroes, Mexicans and Jews, as in the Fontana, California case, the Hickman defence in Chicago, the Freeport case in New York. In Minneapolis, Los Angeles and elsewhere we have taken the lead in mobilising labor and its allies to defend themselves against the threatened fascist violence of Gerald L. K. Smith.

In Detroit and other industrial centers our members and sympathisers helped set in motion imposing union protest demonstrations against the Taft-Hartley Law. Within the unions the Trotskyists have been steadfast fighters against any restrictions upon internal democracy and the rights of the membership, whether they emanated from the official bureaucracy or the Stalinists.

Notably around the Minneapolis Trial and the Kutcher case we have participated in and supported powerful national movements against the Smith Gag Act and Truman's loyalty purge.

This proud record has attracted many militants toward our party and won it a growing reputation as a sincere and principled defender of democratic rights.

Liberals, labor officials and the Stalinists often call upon the government and its agencies for action against ultra-reactionary elements. Jewish groups, for example, request the Post Office Department to ban anti-Semitic literature from the mails. Defaming the Trotskyists as agents of fascism, the Stalinists during the war demanded the suppression of *The Militant*, etc.

No dependence on capitalist state

The working class and the minorities must vigorously oppose every transgression upon their civil and constitutional rights, from whatever quarter they come, and utilise every safeguard provided by law. But they cannot entrust the protection of their liberties to the capitalist regime or expect the powers-that-be to stop or eradicate the menace of fascism.

First, the government itself today spearheads the assault upon the people's rights. The President orders the loyalty purge; Congress passes anti-labor legislation; the courts levy fines and issue injunctions against the unions. Second, the capitalist parties work hand in glove with white supremacists in the South and the Big Business enemies of labor in the North who are behind the witch-hunt.

Third, the authorities have time and again demonstrated by their action and inaction their lack of interest in punishing or removing the perpetrators of violence against the Negroes, the unions and the liberties of the people. Neither the Federal or State governments convict any lynchers in the South. Nor have the officials displayed much zeal in uncovering the murderous assailants of Carlo Tresca, William Lurye, the Reuthers, and other labor figures.

Government shields fascist elements

On the contrary, the capitalist state apparatus screens and shields fascist forces and collaborates closely with them. In Peekskill the local authorities and police connived in the attacks by the mobsters and hoodlums; Governor Dewey's investigators whitewashed their role; and the entire paid press tried to unload responsibility for the violence upon the "reds".

Even when, under pressure, government officials pretend to move against mobsters and Ku Kluxers, they only make theatrical gestures to appease outraged public opinion without actually punishing the real criminals. For every slight tap the capitalist agencies offer the right, they deliver a hundred harsh blows against the left. This has been illustrated by the Smith Act. While the 30 Fascists indicted under this Act in wartime were left off scot-free, the Trotskyists and Stalinists were convicted and given heavy jail sentences.

The same procedure has been followed in the loyalty purge. While the Attorney-General's blacklist includes a few fascist groups, in practice it is almost entirely applied against members of leftist organisations. The US Department of Defence has given away the whole game by omitting the Ku Klux Klan, Silver Shirts and similar fascist outfits from its own subversive list applied to draftees.

"Under conditions of a capitalist regime", Trotsky once wrote, "all curtailment of political rights and freedoms, no matter against whom they may be originally directed, in the end inevitably fall with all their weight on the working class — especially on its most advanced elements."

How to fight fascism

Class-conscious workers should not fall into the trap of demanding infringements of anyone's civil rights, including those of the fascists. At the same time they should recognise the real situation and make it plain to others. The civil rights of fascist elements are not being threatened; the authorities are in league with them. They are in no danger of persecution or need of defence. They are not the victims but the sponsors and beneficiaries of the current repressions.

The menace of fascism does not arise from their propaganda but from their gangsterism, their mob attacks upon advanced workers, Negroes, and labor

Socialism on Trial

organisations. With tacit acquiescence of the authorities, the fascists operate as extralegal agencies of repression against the institutions and freedoms of the working class and minorities. Consequently, the real situation is that the labor organisations and minorities are obliged to act in self-defence to protect themselves against reactionary violence.

The history of Italy and Germany conclusively proves the folly and futility of relying upon the capitalist government, its police, or its parties in the fight against the fascists. The masses can safeguard their rights, their lives and their organisations only by mobilising the full strength of their own forces in the most vigorous united and independent defensive actions against the race-bigots, anti-Semites, union-busters and mobsters who threaten them.

Organised labor has the ability as well as the duty to assume the leadership in this struggle. The trade unions are not only the chief bulwarks of democracy and the centers of proletarian power; they are likewise the main target of the capitalist authors of the witch-hunt whose ultimate objective is the destruction of the labor movement. The anti-labor campaign and anti-red hysteria are inseparable aspects of the monopolist drive toward the establishment of a police state in this country. Thus the defence of civil liberties is a life-and-death matter for American labor.

Without full democracy and freedom of expression inside the unions, they cannot effectively fulfil their tasks of defending the welfare of the workers and leading the struggle against reaction. Thus the fight for union democracy is directly interlinked with the general struggle for civil liberties.

Program & perspective

The objective of our party is the creation of a broad nationwide defence movement, composed of all forces menaced by repression and devoted to the defence of all victims of reaction. Such a movement would revive on a higher level the spirit of class solidarity characterising the pre-World War I Socialist and labor movements.

It is both possible and necessary to join together extensive forces on a national and local scale in common defence actions around specific issues and cases, as the experience in the Kutcher case and the demonstrations against Gerald Smith indicate. The militants should be on the alert to propose and initiate such united front actions, participate in them with all available resources, guide them along correct lines and imbue them with the maximum strength.

The Truman administration and its liberal spokesmen spread the illusion that the present wave of repression is the result of a temporary hysteria which will soon run its course and automatically exhaust itself. The workers should not permit themselves to

be duped by this deliberate lie.

The trends toward thought-control and the police state spring from the most profound and urgent needs of the monopolist and militarist rulers of US capitalism. Washington has organised and carried forward the loyalty purge and its associated prosecutions in the most planned and methodical manner. The witch-hunters do not intend to relax their persecutions but to intensify and extend them, if they can get away with it.

The repressive measures are not an episodic phase or transitory phenomenon but a permanent feature of decaying capitalism. The only way to stop the witch-hunters and their assaults is to create and set into motion a mighty mass opposition to them and to carry through the struggle against capitalist reaction to its logical conclusion in the establishment of a Workers' and Farmers' government, genuinely representing the people's interests.

- Abern, Martin (1898-1949) Founding member of Communist Party and member of central leadership almost continuously from 1920; secretary of the CP youth organisation 1922-24. Expelled with Cannon in 1928 for Trotskyism. Founding member of American Trotskyism. Split from SWP with Shachtman group in 1940.
- American Civil War (1861-1865) Fought to preserve the Union in the face of the secession of the southern Confederate states. In essence a struggle for supremacy between the northern industrial capitalists and the economically backward southern slavocracy. In order to prevail the Republican government of *Abraham Lincoln* (1809-1865) was forced to adopt more radical measures. The Emancipation Proclamation (1862) freeing all slaves in the Confederacy was the key element in making an active appeal to the Black population of the South to join the struggle. By the war's end about one-eighth of the Union forces were Black and proportionately more Blacks than whites fought. More than 600,000 were killed only slightly less than the total US deaths in the two World Wars, the Korean War and the Vietnam War combined.
- Billings, Warren K. (1893-1972) President of San Francisco shoe workers union. With *Tom Mooney* falsely accused of planting a bomb which killed 10 people in 1916 "Preparedness Day" parade. Convicted and sentenced to life imprisonment; released in 1939.
- Blanqui, August (1805-1881) Revolutionary socialist prominent in French radical and workers movement of 19th century, he was associated with the idea of the seizure of power by a small, conspiratorial armed group, irrespective of objective conditions or mass consciousness. Despite being in jail during the period of the Paris Commune, he was elected to its leadership. Despite spending almost half his life in prison, he remained devoted to the cause of ordinary people.
- **Cardenas, Lazaro** (1895-1970) Mexican army officer and politician, president 1934-1940. His was the only government in the world that would give Trotsky asylum in the last years of his life. In 1938 he nationalised the operations of the foreign oil companies in Mexico.

- **Carlson, Grace** (1906-?) Joined the Workers Party, the predecessor of the SWP, in 1936. She was elected to the SWP national committee in 1941, was indicted in the Minneapolis sedition trial and jailed, and stood for vice-president in the SWP's first presidential campaign in1948. Broken by the witch-hunt, in 1952 she left the party to return to the Catholic church. Cannon's *Notebook of an Agitator* (Pathfinder Press: New York, second edition, 1973) includes an article on her resignation.
- Chauvinism After Nicolas Chauvin, a zealously patriotic soldier under Napoleon Bonaparte. Marxists apply the term chauvinism to any explicit support for the idea of the superiority of one nation over others. During World War I, the pro-war "socialists" in each of the belligerent countries justified their "national defencist" position by adopting the chauvinist argument that conditions for developing socialism were more advanced in their nation than in others.
- **CIO and AFL** The Congress of Industrial Organisations was originally a committee of the craft-based American Federation of Labor (AFL). The conservative AFL leaders refused to respond to the demand to unionise the radicalising unskilled workers in basic industry, expelling the CIO unions in 1938. After the conservatisation of the CIO unions due to the prolonged post-World War II boom and the anti-communist witch-hunt of the late 1940s and early '50s, the AFL and CIO merged in 1955.
- **Communist League** The organisation founded in 1929 by Cannon and other supporters of Leon Trotsky expelled from the Stalinised Communist Party. It was the US section of the Left Opposition.
- **Curran, Joseph** (1906-?) President of National Martime Union, worked closely with CP in 1930s and during the war but afterwards broke with the Stalinists and moved sharply rightwards.
- **Dobbs, Farrell** (1907-?) Longtime leader of US SWP. He joined the Trotskyist movement in 1934 and was a leader of the Minneapolis truck drivers strikes of that year. Indicted in the Minneapolis "sedition" case and jailed. Served as SWP national secretary 1953-72; was four times party presidential candidate (1948-60). Author of four-volume history of the Trotskyists in the Minneapolis Teamsters struggles of the 1930s.
- Dos Passos, John (1896-1970) Well-known US writer.
- **Dunne, Vincent** (1890-1970) A member of the Western Federation of Miners, a founding member successively of the IWW (1905), the Communist Party (1919) and of American Trotskyism (1928). A key leader of the 1934 Minneapolis truck drivers strikes, one of the 18 SWP leaders jailed in the Minneapolis "sedition" case, he remained active in the SWP in Minnesota until his death.

- **FBI** Federal Bureau of Investigation, the US political police agency. Headed by fanatic anti-communist *J. Edgar Hoover* (1895-1972) from 1924 until his death. Over the years the FBI targeted the CP and the SWP and other radical and labor organisations and, especially in the sixties and seventies, the Black Panthers, civil rights organisations and activists such as Malcolm X and Martin Luther King.
- Hague, Frank P. (1876-1956) Democrat mayor of Jersey City from 1917-1947 and a one-time Democratic Party national vice-chairman. In the 1930s he used city cops in cooperation with company goons to prevent the CIO from organising in the area. Picketing was outlawed and union organisers run out of town. Trotsky saw him as an incipient American fascist.
- Haywood, William D. (1869-1928) A founder of IWW (1905), secretary treasurer of the Western Federation of Miners (1900-1908). Framed for 1905 murder of Idaho governor and spent 15 months in jail. A leader of Socialist Party left wing before World War I. General secretary IWW from 1914. Convicted of sedition during war, he fled to Moscow in 1921; died in Soviet Union.

Hoover, J. Edgar — See FBI.

- HUAC The House Committee on Un-American Activities became a permanent committee of the US Congress in 1938 with Texas Democrat Martin Dies as its first chairperson. In the 1950s it became associated with the Milwaukee Republican senator, Joseph McCarthy, serving as a vehicle for the cold war witch-hunt. It was dissolved in 1975.
- **Hungarian Revolution** With the break-up of the Austro-Hungarian Empire following World War I, Hungary became independent (November 1918). In the face of harsh peace terms imposed by the Allies and increasing radicalisation of the *Hungarian masses, the regime of Mihalyi Karolyi* (1875-1955) handed over office to the Social Democrats. They fused with the newly-formed Communists (main leader Bela Kun) and early in 1919 proclaimed a Soviet Hungary. The heterogenous party denied the new government a firm Communist core. It also made several major ultraleft errors. The large country estates were nationalised but kept in government hands rather than land being distributed to the peasants, and plans announced to collectivise medium and small holdings. Industrial production was crippled when the regime nationalised all private holdings including retail trade. These measures drove large sections of the masses into the arms of the counterrevolution. After 133 days, the Hungarian Soviet fell (August 1919) to a Romanian-led invasion. The ensuing White Terror massacred thousands of radical workers and peasants.
- Internationals First International (International Working Men's Association) was

founded in 1864 and formally wound up in 1876. Marx was the key figure in it. *Second International* was founded in 1889 as a loose association of Social-Democratic and labor parties. Marx and Engels played a crucial role in guiding it. Combining revolutionary and reformist elements, it virtually collapsed in World War I as parties supported various capitalist governments, but revived afterwards as completely reformist organisation. The *Third International* (Communist International or Comintern) was established in Moscow in 1919. After early revolutionary years it succumbed to Stalinism and became an instrument of the Moscow bureaucracy. Dissolved by Stalin in 1943 as sop to wartime imperialist allies. The Trotskyist *Fourth International* was founded in 1938 but has never gained mass influence.

- Karolyi, Mihalyi See Hungarian Revolution.
- Karsner, Rose (1889-1968) Emigrated from Romania as a child. Joined the Socialist Party in 1908 and was active in the left wing. A founding member of the Communist Party, she was later assistant secretary of the International Labor Defence. Companion of Cannon from 1924. Expelled from the CP in 1928, she was a founder of the Trotskyist movement and held numerous assignments. Remained active in the SWP until her death.
- Kutcher, James An SWP member drafted into the infantry in World War Two, he lost both legs in the fighting in Italy. During the cold war witch-hunt he was fired from his Veterans Administration job as a "subversive" and suffered other government harassment. An eight-year campaign (1948-56) drew wide public support and eventually won back his job and all his entitlements. In 1953 Kutcher wrote about his struggle in *The Case of the Legless Veteran*.
- La Gardia, Fiorello (1892-1947) A liberal republican, was mayor of New York 1934-45. Was backed at various times by Republicans, Democrats, American Labor Party, social democrats, Stalinists and fascists. Republican-Fusion was a coalition in the mid-thirties between "progressive" Republicans and "good government" reformers against the corrupt Democratic Tammany Hall city machine.
- Lincoln, Abraham See American Civil War.
- Lindbergh, Charles (1902-1974) Famous US pioneer aviator. In 1940 he became a member of the isolationist America First Committee. His popularity was seriously damaged in 1941 when he suggested the US negotiate a settlement with Hitler.
- Lloyd-George, David (1863-1945) British Liberal politician from Wales, famous for his flamboyance and demagogy. Prominent in wartime governments, prime minister 1916-1922. After the war he co-authored the Versailles Treaty.
- Ludlow Amendment In 1937 US House of Representatives member Louis Ludlow

introduced a proposed amendment to the US Constitution that would require a direct popular referendum for any declaration of war. On January 10, 1938 the House voted down the Ludlow amendment. Earlier in the same week, a Gallup opinion poll showed that 72 percent of the American people favoured the amendment. The Socialist Workers Party gave critical support to the amendment and, utilising the slogan "Let the people vote on war", carried on an agitation campaign in favor of such a popular referendum.

Lurye, William — see Reuther, Victor.

- MacDonald, Ramsay (1866-1937) Opposed British entry into World War I and consequently lost leadership of Labour Party. But in 1924 he became prime minister and foreign secretary of first Labour government and again in 1929-31. Leaving the Labour Party, he formed a "National" government with the Tories (1931-35), serving as its prime minister.
- McNamara Brothers John J. McNamara, iron workers union secretary, and his brother James B. McNamara were charged with killing 21 people in bombing of Los Angeles Times building in 1910. Induced to plead guilty to escape death penalty; sentenced to 15 years and life imprisonment, respectively.
- Mooney, Thomas J. (1882-1942) Socialist and union activist. Framed with Warren Billings on charges of having bombed 1916 San Francisco "Preparedness Day" parade. Convicted but death sentence commuted in 1918 due to international campaign. Pardoned in 1939.
- Murray, Philip (1886-1952) Vice-president of the United Mine Workers under John L. Lewis (1920-1942) and first president of the United Steel Workers of America (1942-52). Succeeded Lewis as CIO president (1940-52).
- Muste, A. J. (1885-1967) Protestant minister and pacifist. Became involved in labor movement and founded American Workers Party (1933); fused with Communist League (1934) to form Workers Party of the United States, a predecessor of SWP. Broke with Marxism in 1936 and returned to church. In 1960s played a leading role in movement against Vietnam war.
- NAACP National Association for the Advancement of Colored People. Founded in 1908, became the largest civil rights organisation in the United States. Its early efforts were focused against widespread lynchings of blacks in the South.
- New Deal Plan of the administration of US President Franklin Delano Roosevelt (1892-1945) for dealing with the economic problems posed by the Great Depression of 1929-33 and the political problems posed by a working-class radicalisation. Roosevelt's administration, which took office in 1932, proposed various relief projects and legislative reforms like the National Recovery Act (NRA).

- Pétain, Henri Philippe (1856-1951) French soldier and politician. World War I commander at Verdun and then commander-in-chief. Following the French collapse in 1940, he became head of the rump government at Vichy under the slogan "Work, Family and Country". Active collaboration with Germany led to Pétain's trial for treason in 1945; his death sentence was commuted by Charles de Gaulle to life imprisonment.
- Rakosi, Matyas (1892-1971) Joined Hungarian CP after World War I; commander of Red Guard in Soviet republic; fled to USSR and became secretary of Comintern. Jailed in Hungary 1925-40. Became Hungarian CP secretary in 1945 and leading figure in regime; played major role in Stalinist purges. Helped provoke 1956 uprising. Removed from office and expelled from party in 1962.
- Reed, Evelyn (1905-1979) Joined the SWP in 1940 and remained a leading member until her death. Involved in many struggles for trade union and democratic rights. An active participant in the women's liberation movement of the 1960s and 1970s, she wrote numerous works on the origins of women's oppression.
- Reuther, Victor Brother of Walter Reuther (1907-1970), longtime leader of the United Auto Workers. On April 20, 1948, Walter, then CIO president, survived an attempt on his life when a shotgun was fired through the kitchen window of his home; left with crippled arm. On May 9, 1949, *William Lurye*, an organiser with the International Ladies Garment Workers Union in New York, was stabbed to death by a gang of hired killers. On May 24, Victor Reuther, then UAW education director, was shot from ambush; survived but lost sight of one eye. On June 12 in Marion Ohio, a shotgun murder attempt was made against Thomas S. Mitchell, an official of the Ohio Federation of Telephone Workers.
- Robeson, Paul (1898-1976) Famous black US actor, singer and social activist. Visited Soviet Union in 1934; became close to Communist Party; victimised by cold war witch-hunt and denied passport in 1950s because of his political views.
- Sacco, Nicola (1891-1927) Anarchist worker framed with Bartolomeo Vanzetti for a 1920 murder and payroll robbery. Executed by state of Massachusetts despite worldwide mass defence campaign.
- Shachtman, Max (1903-1972) A leader of the US Communist Party in the twenties, in 1928 he was expelled with Cannon and Martin Abern for Trotskyism. He was a central leader of the Trotskyist movement until he split from the SWP in April 1940 with Abern and James Burnham to form the Workers Party. In 1958 he dissolved the WP into the Socialist Party. In the sixties he was a supporter of the Vietnam War.
- Sixty Families America's Sixty Families, by Ferdinand Lundberg (1937), documented

the existence of an economic oligarchy in the US, headed by 60 immensely wealthy families. The author brought the work up to date in 1968 under the title, *The Rich and the Super-Rich*.

- Smith Act Reactionary1940 law named after its sponsor, Representative Howard W. Smith of Virginia. Criminalised advocacy of revolutionary ideas.
- Smith, Gerald L. K. (1898-1976) Anti-semitic, anti-black, advocate of fascism; in the 1930s launched campaign against labor movement and communism; leading national right-wing figure during and after World War II; headed the Christian Nationalist Crusade.
- Socialist Party Founded in 1901 by Eugene V. Debs. After World War I the left wing split to form the Communist Party, taking most of members. Trotskyists joined SP as faction in 1936; expelled the next year, they formed the SWP (January 1938). In 1972 SP split into Social Democrats, USA and Democratic Socialist Organising Committee.
- **Spanish Civil War** Under the impact of severe economic crisis and widespread popular unrest, the Spanish monarchy fell in 1931 and a republic was proclaimed. The Spanish working class defended the republic in numerous clashes with monarchists and other rightist elements. The succession of republican governments however continued their anti-labor measures. In 1936 the army generals, led by Francisco Franco and backed by the bourgeoisie, launched a military-fascist uprising. The workers responded by launching a revolutionary movement, seizing factories, setting up workers' militias, etc. However, all of the organisations of the Spanish left participated in the Popular Front government which set out to contain the revolutionary workers' movement and to rebuild a bourgeois state machine, a course of action which led to its defeat by the fascists in the 1936-39 civil war.
- Sweezy, Paul (b. 1910) Co-founder in 1949 with Leo Huberman (1903-1968) of the socialist magazine *Monthly Review* and author of a number of books analysing the capitalist economy.
- **Taft-Hartley Act** Passed in 1947, this anti-labor law outlawed the closed shop, gave government wide powers to intervene in the internal affairs of trade unions and to halt strikes.
- Tobin, Daniel J. (1875-1955) President of International Brotherhood of Teamsters (1907-1952) and chairperson of Democratic National Labor Committee. Requested Roosevelt's help to smash Trotskyist activists in Minneapolis labor movement.
- Tresca, Carlo (1878-1943) Prominent Italian-American anarchist, labor leader and journalist. A leader of the IWW before World War I, and a close associate of Sacco and Vanzetti, the famous anarchist frame-up victims. Assassinated in New York

by unknown persons, most likely acting either for Mussolini or Stalin. A longtime friend of Cannon.

- Truman, Harry (1884-1972) Democratic vice-president under Roosevelt, became president in April 1945 on Roosevelt's death. Responsible for nuclear bombing of Hiroshima and Nagasaki. Launched cold war in 1947 with Truman Doctrine of "containing" communism and Marshall Plan to rebuild and rearm Western Europe.
- Vanzetti, Barlomeo (1888-1927) Italian immigrant, anarchist worker; framed with Nicola Sacco for a 1920 murder and payroll robbery. Executed by state of Massachusetts despite worldwide mass defence campaign.
- Versailles, Treaty of (1919) Imposed on Germany by the allied powers at postwar Paris conference. Assigned Germany and its allies responsibility for the war and imposed heavy reparations, occupation and demilitarisation of the Rhineland and limitation of German armed forces. German colonies were parcelled out among victors.
- Wallace, Henry (1888-1965) Vice-president during Roosevelt's third term. Opposed Truman's cold war anti-Soviet campaign, wanted a deal with Stalin. Stood in 1948 elections as presidential candidate of the Progressive Party. Strongly backed by the Communist Party and CP-controlled unions. Later Wallace deserted the Progressive Party and backed Truman's intervention in Korea.■

Notes

Socialism on Trial

- See Breitman (ed), *The Founding of the Socialist Workers Party* (Monad Press: New York, 1982)
- 2 Marx & Engels, *The Communist Manifesto & Its Relevance for Today* (Resistance Books: Chippendale, 1998), p. 55
- 3 *ibid.*, p. 73
- 4 Engels, "Preface to the English Edition", *Capital*, Vol. I (Penguin Books: Harmondsworth, 1976), p. 113
- 5 Trotsky, "The Draft Program of the Communist International A Criticism of Fundamentals", *The Third International After Lenin* (Pathfinder Press: New York, third edition, 1970)
- 6 Trotsky, "The Death Agony of Capitalism and the Tasks of the Fourth International", *The Transitional Program* (Resistance Books: Chippendale, 1999), p. 26
- 7 We have been unable to find an exact match for this quote by the prosecutor in Lenin's works. However, two passages are possible candidates:

In "Lessons of the Moscow Uprising [August 29, 1906]", *Collected Works*, Vol. 11 (Progress Publishers: Moscow, 1962), p. 176, Lenin writes: "We must proclaim from the housetops the need for a bold offensive and armed attack, the necessity at such times of exterminating the persons in command of the enemy, and of a most energetic fight for the wavering troops."

And in "Guerrilla Warfare [September 30, 1906]", *Collected Works*, Vol. 11, p. 216, Lenin says: "Armed struggle ... aims at assassinating individuals, chiefs and subordinates in the army and police ..."

- 8 "The Political Situation and the Tasks of the Party", *The Founding of the Socialist Workers Party*, p. 101
- 9 Trotsky, "Manifesto of the Fourth International on the Imperialist War and the Proletarian World Revolution", *Writings of Leon Trotsky (1939-40)* (Pathfinder Press: New York, second edition, 1973), p. 216
- 10 ibid., p. 222

Notes

Political Principles & Propaganda Methods

- Trotsky, "Letter on Defeatism", Writings of Leon Trotsky (1937-38) (Pathfinder Press: New York, second edition, 1976), pp. 123-124
- 2 Cannon, "Socialism on Trial", see this edition, p. 32
- 3 *ibid.*, p. 31
- 4 ibid., p. 31
- 5 *ibid.*, p. 32
- 6 *ibid.*, p. 33
- 7 Engels, "Principles of Communism" in Marx & Engels, Selected Works, Vol. 1 (Progress Publishers: Moscow, 1969), p. 89
- 8 Trotsky, "How to Defend Ourselves", *Writings of Leon Trotsky (1939-40)* (Pathfinder Press: New York, second edition, 1973), p. 343
- 9 See note 7 in previous section.
- Lenin, "Marxism and Insurrection", *Collected Works*, Vol. 26 (Progress Publishers: Moscow, 1964), p. 27
- Lenin, "On Compromises", *Collected Works*, Vol. 25 (Progress Publishers: Moscow, 1964), p. 310-311
- 12 Lenin, "The Tasks of the Revolution", Collected Works, Vol. 26, p. 60
- 13 Lenin, "A Shameless Lie of the Capitalists", *Collected Works*, Vol. 24 (Progress Publishers: Moscow, 1964), pp. 110-111
- 14 Lenin, "Resolution of the Central Committee of the RSDLP (Bolsheviks) Adopted April 21 (May 4), 1917", *Collected Works*, Vol. 24, p. 201
- 15 Lenin, "Resolution of the Central Committee of the RSDLP (Bolsheviks) Adopted in the Morning of April 22 (May 5), 1917", *Collected Works*, Vol. 24, pp. 210-211
- 16 ibid., p. 211
- 17 Lenin, "Lessons of the Crisis", Collected Works, Vol. 24, p. 216
- Lenin, "Report on the Current Situation April 24 (May 7)", Collected Works, Vol. 24, p. 237
- 19 Cannon, "Socialism on Trial", this edition, p. 103
- 20 Engels, "Preface to the English Edition", *Capital*, Vol. 1 (Penguin Books: Harmondsworth, 1976), p. 113
- 21 Trotsky, "Inroduction to the Second English Edition", *Terrorism and Communism* (University of Michigan Press: Ann Arbor, 1961), p. xli
- 22 Trotsky, Marxism in Our Time (Pathfinder Press: New York, 1970), p. 35
- 23 Lenin, "The Tasks of the Revolution", Collected Works, Vol. 26, p. 68
- 24 ibid., p. 67
- 25 Lenin, "The Russian Revolution and Civil War", Collected Works, Vol. 26, pp. 36-37

- 26 Trotsky, The History of the Russian Revolution (Monad Press; New York, 1980), Vol. II, pp. 312-313
- 27 Marx & Engels, *The Communist Manifesto & Its Relevance for Today* (Resistance Books: Chippendale, 1998), p. 55
- 28 Engels, Introduction to "The Class Struggles in France 1848 to 1850" in Marx & Engels, Selected Works, Vol. 1, pp. 199-200
- 29 Lenin, "The Tasks of the Proletariat in the Present Revolution", *Collected Works*, Vol 24, p. 23
- 30 Lenin, "The Dual Power", Collected Works, Vol. 24, p. 40
- 31 Lenin, "Letters on Tactics", Collected Works, Vol. 24, pp. 48-49
- 32 Lenin, "Marxism and Insurrection", Collected Works, Vol. 26, pp.22-23
- 33 Lenin, "Letter to Comrades", Collected Works, Vol. 26, pp. 196-198
- 34 ibid., p. 212
- 35 Lenin, "The Bolsheviks Must Assume Power", Collected Works, Vol. 26, p. 19
- 36 ibid., pp. 19-21
- 37 Lenin, "The Position and Tasks of the Socialist International", *Collected Works*, Vol. 21 (Progress Publishers: Moscow, 1964), p. 40
- 38 Trotsky, "War and the Fourth International", Writings of Leon Trotsky (1933-34) (Pathfinder Press: New York, 1972), p. 327
- 39 Lenin, "The Russian Brand of Südekum", Collected Works, Vol. 21, p. 122
- 40 Cannon, "Socialism on Trial", p. 39
- 41 ibid., p.40
- 42 *ibid.*, pp. 92-93
- 43 ibid., pp. 97-98
- 44 Trotsky, *The War and the International* (Young Socialist Publishers: Colombo, 1971), p. 52
- 45 The Case of Leon Trotsky (Merit Publishers: New York, 1968), pp. 289-290
- 46 Lenin, "The Tasks of the Proletariat in the Present Revolution", *Collected Works*, Vol. 24, pp. 21-22
- 47 Trotsky, "War and the Fourth International", Writings of Leon Trotsky (1933-34), p. 327
- 48 Lenin, Letter to A.G. Shlyapnikov, *Collected Works*, Vol. 35 (Progress Publishers: Moscow, 1966), pp. 162-163
- 49 Trotsky, "Learn to Think", Writings of Leon Trotsky (1937-38), pp. 333-334
- 50 Trotsky, The History of the Russian Revolution, Vol. III, pp. 278-279
- 51 ibid., pp. 207-208
- 52 ibid., p. 208
- 53 ibid., p. 208

Notes

ibid., p. 211
55 *ibid.*, p. 188
56 *ibid.*, pp. 211-212
57 *ibid.*, p. 294

ibid., p. 288

In 1941, 28 socialists and trade union militants, mostly members of the Socialist Workers Party, went on trial in Minneapolis in the United States charged with 'sedition' for their opposition to US involvement in the war. It was the most famous civil liberties case of the wartime years.

Together with the powerful courtroom testimony of SWP leader James P. Cannon explaining the ideas of socialism, other selections in this volume deal with how socialists defend themselves against capitalist state repression and how democratic rights can be won and defended.

